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This part of the Annual Report, together with the Directors’ 
remuneration report set out on pages 35 to 41, describes 	
how the Company has both applied the principles contained 	
in the revised Combined Code on Corporate Governance 
published in June 2006 (the Code) and complied with the 
provisions contained in section 1 of the Code.

Board composition
The Board comprises a Non-executive Chairman (Gordon 
Page), a Chief Executive (Allan Cook), two other Executive 
Directors and five other Non-executive Directors of whom 
Marcus Beresford is the Senior Independent Director. All Non-
executive Directors, with the exception of the Chairman, are 
considered to be independent. Subject to re-appointment 	
as a Director by shareholders, David Turner, who is currently 
Deputy Chairman, is expected to assume the chairmanship 	
of the Company at the close of the 2008 AGM.

Biographies of the Directors, giving details of their experience 
and other significant commitments, are set out on page 27 
and, in relation to those Directors offering themselves for re-
appointment at the AGM, in the accompanying shareholder 
circular. The wide ranging experience and backgrounds 	
of the Non-executive Directors enable them to debate and 
constructively challenge management in relation to both the 
development of strategy and the performance of the Group. The 
attendance of Directors at Board and principal Board committee 
meetings during the year is set out in the following table. 

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number held 11 3 5 6

Number attended

G F Page 11 – – 6

A E Cook 11 – – 6

A J Hannam3 10 – – –

W G Tucker 11 – – –

A J Stevens 10 – – –

J W Edington1 5 1 2 2

P Hooley 10 3 5 6

M Beresford 10 3 5 6

J Patterson 10 2 5 5

M H Ronald 10 – 4 6

D J Turner2 1 1 1 1
	

1. Jeff Edington retired in June.
2. David Turner joined the Board in December.
3. Alex Hannam retired in December.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for specified terms of 
three years which can be extended by agreement provided 
that the individual’s performance continues to be effective. 	
All Non-executives have confirmed they will have sufficient 
time to meet what is expected of them and copies of their 
appointment letters are available on request to the Company 
Secretary. Under the Company’s Articles of Association, 
Directors are subject to re-appointment by shareholders at the 
first AGM after their appointment by the Board; if they have 

held office for three years or more since their previous 
appointment by shareholders; and, in the case of Non-
executive Directors, if they have held office for nine years 	
or more since first being appointed by shareholders. 

The Chairman is, among other things, responsible for chairing 
Board meetings and leading the Board. The Chief Executive’s 
responsibilities include operational performance, Corporate 
Social Responsibility and the development and implementation 
of the Company’s strategy. He focuses also on long-term 
growth development of the Group, its people and customer 
relationships. The Board’s policy is that the roles of Chairman 
and Chief Executive should be performed by different people. 
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman’s role 
and that of the Chief Executive is documented and clearly 
understood and no conflicts arise, in the Directors’ view, from 
the fact that the Chairman held, until 2001, the position of 
Chief Executive. 

With effect from 1 January 2008, Andy Stevens, the Chief 
Operating Officer, assumed responsibility and accountability 	
for the operational management, performance and P&L of all 
Cobham divisions. Previously, and since 1 March 2007, he 	
had been responsible and accountable for the operational 
management and performance of the technology divisions.

The Senior Independent Director’s responsibilities include the 
provision of an additional channel of communication between 
the Chairman and the Non-executive Directors. He also 
provides another point of contact for shareholders if they have 
concerns which communication through the normal channels 
of Chairman, Chief Executive or Chief Financial Officer has 
failed to resolve, or where these contacts are inappropriate.

The Directors have the benefit of a Directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance policy and the Company has entered into 
qualifying third party indemnity arrangements with them, 	
as permitted by the Companies Act 1985. They can take 
independent legal advice at the Company’s expense within 
set limits in furtherance of their duties.

The Board and its proceedings
Board meetings scheduled in accordance with the annual 
timetable take place eight times a year and otherwise as 
required. There is contact between meetings to progress the 
Group’s business as required. Meetings were held at the head 
office in Wimborne, at the Company’s London office and at 
operational locations in the UK and USA. In addition, meetings 
take place between the Non-executives in the absence of the 
Chairman and/or the Executive Directors.

The Board’s role is to lead the Group with a view to the 
creation of a strong, sustainable financial performance and 
long-term shareholder value. In doing so, it reviews and 
agrees Group strategy, ensures that the necessary resources 
are in place, monitors management performance, and 
supervises the conduct of the Group’s activities within 	
a framework of prudent and effective internal controls. 	
During the year Board members participated in the now 
customary meeting held over two days devoted to the 
consideration and development of the Group’s strategy. 

Corporate governance
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The Board has adopted a schedule of matters reserved for its 
specific approval. The schedule provides the framework for 
those decisions which can be made by the Board and those 
which can be delegated either to committees or otherwise. 
Among the key matters on which the Board alone may make 
decisions are the Group’s business strategy, its five-year plan, 
its consolidated budget, Group policies, dividends, acquisitions 
and disposals, and all appointments to and removals from the 
Board. Authority is delegated to management on a structured 
basis in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate 
Framework ensuring that proper management oversight exists 
at the appropriate level. Matters delegated in this way include, 
within defined parameters, the approval of bids and contracts, 
capital expenditures and financing arrangements.

The Board has adopted procedures relating to the conduct of 
its business, including the timely provision of information, and 
the Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that these 
are observed and for advising the Board on corporate 
governance matters. The Company Secretary is appointed, 
and can only be removed, by the Board.

Board committees
The Board is supported in its work by a number of committees. 
Information relating to the nomination and audit committees 
appears below and the activities of the remuneration 
committee are described in the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 35 to 41. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to 
all Board committees. Committee chairmen provide oral reports 
on the work undertaken by their committees at the following 
Board meeting and minutes are made available to all Directors. 

Other Board committees include the executive committee, 
the general purposes committee and the price sensitive 
information (‘PSI’) committee. The Executive Directors are 
members of these committees. 

The terms of reference of the executive committee were 
reviewed during the year and its purpose is to assist the Chief 
Executive in the performance of his duties. These include 
developing the Group’s strategy for Board consideration and 
approval, making recommendations as to acquisitions and 
disposals, reviewing operational activities and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group. This committee met on 
ten occasions during the year and its membership comprises 
the Executive Directors under the chairmanship of the Chief 
Executive. Alex Hannam was a member of the committee 
until his retirement on 31 December 2007.

The duties of the general purposes committee are varied 	
and include the discharge of obligations arising under the 
Company’s share plans, the determination of the 
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors, and the 	
approval of banking facilities. 

The PSI committee’s main function is to establish and 
implement internal policies, systems and controls to ensure 
that potential inside information is communicated to it, 
considered, verified and released to the market where 
required. The general purposes and PSI committees meet 	
as and when required.

Nomination committee report
Gordon Page is the Chairman of this committee. The other 
members are Allan Cook, Peter Hooley, Marcus Beresford, 
John Patterson, Mark Ronald (appointed 8 January 2007) and 
David Turner (appointed 4 December 2007). Jeff Edington 
was a member of the committee until his retirement on 6 
June 2007. The majority of the members of the committee 
are independent. Details of their qualifications and experience 
are set out on page 27. During the year the committee met 
formally on six occasions.

The committee’s terms of reference, which have recently 
been reviewed, are available on the Company’s website or on 
application to the Company Secretary. The committee’s main 
duties are to review the structure, size and composition of the 
Board and to consider succession planning for Directors and 
other senior executives. The committee dealt with these matters 
during the year and, in addition, reviewed the Group’s talent 
management processes, made recommendations regarding 
the re-appointment of certain Directors at the 2007 AGM, and 
was engaged in searching, with the assistance of external 
recruitment consultants, for new Non-executive Directors.

Mark Ronald was appointed a Non-executive Director with 
effect from 8 January 2007. Mark was initially identified as a 
potential appointee to the Board by a committee member and 
was recommended for appointment following meetings with 
external recruitment consultants, who reported back to the 
committee on his suitability, members of the committee and, 
subsequently, other Board members. 

David Turner was appointed Deputy Chairman with effect 
from 1 December 2007. The selection process, which was 	
led by Marcus Beresford, involved the development of a 
specification with the assistance of executive search 
consultants, interviews and meetings with board members.

The Group Director of Human Resources customarily attends 
committee meetings by invitation and provides advice and 
support as required.

Directors’ professional development
On appointment, Directors undertake a structured induction 
programme in the course of which they receive information 
about the operations and activities of the Group, the role of 
the Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the 
Company’s corporate governance practices and procedures 
and their duties, responsibilities and obligations as Directors 
of a listed public limited company. This is supplemented by 
visits to key locations and meetings with, and presentations 
by, senior executives.

Training for Directors is available as required and is provided 
mainly by means of external courses or in-house presentations. 
During the year a presentation was given to the Board as a 
whole on Directors’ duties and the Companies Act 2006 and 
individual Directors received training in a number of areas 
including dealing with concerns raised under the Group’s 
whistleblowing policy. In addition, Directors’ knowledge of 	
the legal and regulatory environment is updated through the 
provision of information by the Group’s advisers and by means 
of regular briefings from the Company Secretary.

Corporate governance continued
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Performance evaluation
During the year, the Board undertook an evaluation of its own 
performance and that of individual Directors and of the audit, 
remuneration and nomination committees. 

The evaluation process involved the dissemination to and 
completion by Board members of structured questionnaires 
dealing with the performance of the Board as a whole, of the 
audit, nomination and remuneration committees and of their 	
own performance as Directors. All responses were considered 	
by the Chairman and then discussed at a full meeting of the 
Board. Generally, the Board was pleased with progress which 
had been made in relation to its performance and that of the 
committees and with the contribution of individual Directors. 
However, as always, areas for improvement were identified 
and any shortcomings will be addressed. 

The principal Board committees have considered their own 
performance. The performance of individual Directors was 
considered by the Chairman and the Chief Executive and the 
Senior Independent Director discussed the Chairman’s own 
performance with him.

Financial reporting
In the Directors’ view, the Annual Report and Accounts for 
2007, together with the Interim and other reports made during 
the year, present a balanced and understandable assessment 
of the Company’s position and prospects. 

The Directors have adopted the going concern basis in 
preparing the Annual Report and Accounts as stated in the 
Financial review on pages 18 to 22.

Internal control and risk management
The Group operates under a system of internal controls which 
has been developed and refined over time to meet its needs 
and the risks and opportunities to which it is exposed. They 
include a strategic planning process involving the preparation 
of a five-year plan, a comprehensive budgeting system with 
an annual budget which is approved by the Board, the regular 
revision of forecasts for the year, the monitoring of financial 
performance and the appropriate delegation of authorities to 
operational management. Delegations and other operational 
controls are contained in the Corporate Framework and the 
Group Finance Manual.

Risk management is an integral part of the system of internal 
control. Divisional Managing Directors and Presidents are 
required to ensure that appropriate processes, including 	
the maintenance of divisional risk registers, exist to identify 
and manage risks and to regularly carry out formal risk 
assessments. The executive committee undertakes a 	
top-level review of significant risks and reports regularly 	
to the Board on their mitigation. 

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal 
control, the aim of which is to manage risks that are significant 
to the fulfilment of the Group’s business objectives and to 
contribute to the safeguarding of shareholders’ investment 
and the Company’s assets. It is also responsible for reviewing 

the effectiveness of the system. However, such a system 	
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 	
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the Group. This process, which has been in place 	
for the year under review and up to the date of approval of 	
the Annual Report and financial statements, is reviewed in 
accordance with the guidance for Directors on internal control 
issued by the Turnbull Committee. The audit committee 
monitors the adequacy of internal financial controls and 
compliance with Group standards through a self-assessment 
process involving all subsidiaries supplemented by regular 
financial assurance reviews and visits.

The Board receives reports on a regular basis from the executive 
and audit committees in relation to the effectiveness of the 
Group’s system of internal control and has, accordingly, 
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 
control in respect of 2007.

Audit committee report
The Chairman of the committee is Peter Hooley. He is an 
independent Director and the Board is satisfied, since he was 
a Finance Director of a FTSE 100 company until mid-2006 and 
is a chartered accountant, that he has ‘relevant and recent 
financial experience’ as required by the Code.

The other members of the committee, all of whom 	
are independent Directors, are Marcus Beresford, John 
Patterson and David Turner (appointed 4 December 2007). 
Jeff Edington was a member of the committee until his 
retirement on 6 June 2007. Details of their qualifications 	
and experience are set out on page 27. During the year 	
the committee met on three occasions. 

The committee’s terms of reference, which were reviewed 
during the year, are available on the Company’s website or on 
application to the Company Secretary. The committee’s main 
duties are to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and any formal announcements relating to its 
financial performance, to consider the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal financial control systems, to monitor and 
review the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit 	
activities, to make recommendations as to the appointment, 
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors 
and to monitor and review the external auditors’ independence 
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process.

Meetings of the committee are normally attended by the 
Company Chairman, the Chief Financial Officer, senior 
employees with responsibilities in relation to finance and 
internal control, and the external auditors. In addition, the 
committee holds sessions with the external auditors and 	
the Head of Financial Assurance in the absence of executive 
management. Attendance of non-members is at the 
discretion, and by invitation, of the committee.
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At the majority of its meetings the committee considered 
reports from the external auditors, the financial assurance 
function and on risk management and controls. Reports 	
were also considered on a number of matters including the 
pension scheme deficit and funding plans, taxation, revenue 
recognition, provisions, disaster recovery planning and 
corporate governance issues. The Group has formal anti-fraud 
and whistleblowing policies and the committee regularly 
receives and considers reports on these matters. 

The committee believes that the current arrangements 
comprising a rotational programme of internal financial 	
control review visits to subsidiaries by the financial assurance 
function, business reviews carried out by the Chief Executive, 
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer and a 
process of self-assessment of internal financial controls by	
all subsidiaries provides appropriate internal audit coverage 	
of the Group’s activities. The financial assurance function 
regularly reports to the audit committee. Where weaknesses 
have been identified, plans for remedying them are developed 
and progress monitored.

The committee and the external auditors have safeguards 	
to avoid the possible compromise of the auditors’ objectivity 
and independence. These include the adoption by the 
committee of a policy regarding the supply of audit and non-
audit services and of a policy on the employment of external 
audit staff. Non-audit services involving the review of interim 
financial information, tax services and accounting advice, 	
and acquisition-related due diligence can be supplied subject 
to pre-approval by the committee where the cost of any 
individual engagement exceeds a pre-defined limit. The 
committee has also received reports from the external 
auditors confirming their independence and objectivity.

Fees paid to the external auditors during the year ended 	
31 December 2007 are set out in note 2 of the Notes to the 
Group financial statements.

Shareholder relations
During the year the Chief Executive and Chief Financial 	
Officer held regular meetings with fund managers and other 
investors to discuss information made public by the Group. 

In March and October 2007 respectively a briefing and site 
visit tour also took place at Chelton Limited in Marlow, UK 	
and at REMEC Defense & Space Inc. in San Diego, USA, 	
two of the Group’s businesses.

Presentations were given on the announcement of the 
preliminary and interim results. Copies of the presentation 
materials can be accessed via the Company’s website at 
www.cobham.com.

The Chairman also wrote to a number of major shareholders 
reminding them of his availability, and that of Marcus 
Beresford, the Senior Independent Director, should there 	
be issues which they might wish to raise. In the absence 	
of any request from shareholders no meetings involving 	
the Chairman and the Senior Independent Director have in 	
fact taken place. Shareholders have also been offered the 
opportunity to meet David Turner, the recently-appointed 
Deputy Chairman.

The Board is kept informed of investors’ views through the 
distribution of analysts’ circulars, the receipt of regular reports 
from the Company’s brokers and updates from the Chief 
Executive and Chief Financial Officer. Correspondence with 
shareholders is also made available.

Communication with shareholders takes place via RNS 
announcements, the Company’s website, the annual and 
interim reports and the AGM. The AGM is attended by all 
Directors and shareholders have the opportunity to hear a 
statement as to progress made during the year, to question the 
Board on its stewardship of the Company and to meet Directors 
informally. The results of the votes on the resolutions proposed 
at the AGM are published on the Company’s website.

Responsibility statements
Statements relating to the responsibilities of the Directors 	
are on page 42 and those relating to the auditors are on 	
pages 43 and 91.

Compliance statement
The Board confirms that it complied throughout 2007 with 	
all relevant provisions contained in section 1 of the Code.

Corporate governance continued
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This report provides the information required by the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (the ‘Regulations’). 	
It also describes how the Company applies the principles of 
the Code in relation to remuneration. The report has been 
approved by the Board and shareholder approval will be 
sought at the forthcoming AGM.

The remuneration committee
The committee’s main duties are to make recommendations 
to the Board on the Group’s policies on Executive Directors’ 
remuneration and to determine, on the Board’s behalf, the 
specific remuneration packages of the Chairman, Executive 
Directors and certain key senior executives, including the 
Divisional Executive and members of the Extended Executive 
Group. The committee’s terms of reference are available 	
on the Company’s website or on application to the 	
Company Secretary. 

The committee consists exclusively of independent Non-
executive Directors and its members are John Patterson 
(Chairman), Peter Hooley, Marcus Beresford, Mark Ronald 
(from 8 January 2007) and David Turner (from 4 December 
2007). Jeff Edington was a member of the committee until	
6 June 2007 when he retired from the Board. The committee 
met on five occasions during 2007. The Chief Executive, 
Chairman of the Company and Group Director of Human 
Resources are invited to attend meetings of the committee, 
other than when their own remuneration is being discussed.

The committee received advice during the year from Kepler 
Associates (appointed by the committee in April 2006) on 
remuneration strategy, incentive design and market data. 
Additional advice was received from the Group Director of 
Human Resources and Company Secretary. Inbucon provided 
total shareholder return monitoring advice to the committee 
during 2007. Kepler Associates and Inbucon provide no other 
services to the Group nor have any connection with the Group.

Remuneration policy
The Board’s policy is to recruit, motivate and retain Executive 
Directors of high calibre by rewarding them for good 
performance with competitive remuneration packages. 	
In particular, the executive pay policy for the current and 
subsequent financial years is designed to retain those executives 
with the skills and experience necessary to enable the Group to 
achieve its objectives and satisfy shareholder expectations. 

The current remuneration strategy is to position base salaries 
around the median of the market to ensure the continued 
retention of key executives and to provide an opportunity 	
to enhance this through both short-term and long-term 
incentives. The main elements of the remuneration package 
focus on supporting different objectives, as illustrated in the 
following table:

Element Purpose Based on:

Salary Provide competitive	
base pay

Employment marketplace 
and individual 
responsibilities 

Annual 
bonus

Motivate achievement of 
key annual objectives

Earnings per share (‘EPS’) 
growth, cash flow, personal 
objectives

Long-term 
incentives

Incentivise profitable 
growth and sector 
outperformance

Relative total shareholder 
return (‘TSR’), EPS growth, 
economic profit

Reward relative share price 
and dividend growth

Provide alignment with 
shareholders’ interests

Support retention

Promote executive share 
ownership

Pension Provide competitive post-
retirement compensation 
and benefits

Employment market place

In defining Cobham’s remuneration policy, the committee 
takes into account best practice guidelines set by institutional 
investor bodies such as the Association of British Insurers. 
The Company’s short and long-term incentives are awarded 
only if stretching performance targets are achieved and the 
committee is satisfied that the executive has acted in a 
responsible and diligent manner. The Chairman of the 
Company ensures that the Company, through the committee 
and its Chairman, maintains contact with principal shareholders 
about remuneration matters.

Around half of each Executive Director’s remuneration is 
variable and is linked to performance. The following chart 
illustrates the proportions of the remuneration package 
comprising fixed (i.e. salary and pension) and variable 
elements of pay, assuming target annual bonus and expected 
values of long-term incentives are achieved.

Executive Director pay mix, 2007

1  Base salary
2  Annual bonus
3  Performance Share Plan (PSP)
4  Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS)
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Dilution
The Company’s share schemes are funded through a 
combination of shares purchased in the market and new-issue 
shares, as appropriate. Funding of awards through new-issue 
shares is subject to an overall dilution limit of 10% of issued 
share capital in any ten-year period. Of this, 5% may be 	
used in connection with the Company’s discretionary share 
schemes (e.g. the Performance Share Plan and Executive 
Share Option Scheme). As of 31 December 2007, 68m 	
(6.0%) and 39.3m (3.5%) shares have been, or may be, 	
issued pursuant to awards made in the previous ten years 	
in connection with all share schemes and discretionary 
schemes respectively. Awards that are made but then 	
lapse or are forfeited are excluded from the calculations.

Base salary
Executive Directors’ salaries are reviewed annually with changes 
implemented from 1 January. Salaries are benchmarked by 
the committee’s advisers against comparable roles in (i) global 
UK-listed aerospace and defence companies and (ii) UK-based 
companies with a similar market capitalisation as the Company. 
When reviewing salaries the committee also assesses 
individual responsibilities, experience, performance and 
achievement of personal objectives.

Annual bonus
The Company operates an annual cash bonus scheme 	
for its Executive Directors. Bonuses were awarded by 	
the committee in respect of 2007 having regard to the 
performance of the Group and personal performance 
objectives for the year. The maximum annual bonus 
opportunity for Executive Directors is 100% of base salary, 	
of which 85% is determined by financial performance. 	
The on-target bonus for Executive Directors is 50% of salary. 

For Executive Directors, financial performance is measured 
through EPS growth and cash generation. Personal objectives 
for the Chief Executive are set and assessed by the Chairman, 
and by the Chief Executive for the other Executive Directors. 
The committee reviews and approves annual bonus awards 
for the Executive Directors and the key senior executives. 	
The 2007 bonus awards for the Executive Directors were in 
the range of 98% to 115% of base salary. The EPS growth 
and cash generation measures at constant currency both 
exceeded the maximum on the preset stretch targets for 	
the year.

Long-term incentives
Executive Directors, senior managers and certain other staff 
are eligible to participate in the Company’s long-term incentive 
arrangements. In 2007, these included the Performance 	
Share Plan (‘PSP’) and the Executive Share Option Scheme 
(‘ESOS’). From 2008, senior executives will also have the 
opportunity to participate in the Bonus Coinvestment Plan 
(‘BCP’). The performance measures against which PSP, ESOS 
and BCP awards vest include relative TSR, real EPS growth 
and absolute Economic Profit growth, which together help 
ensure the interests of Directors are aligned with those of 
shareholders (through TSR) whilst also reinforcing capital 
efficiency (Economic Profit) and bottom-line growth for 
shareholders (EPS). 

Performance Share Plan
Under the PSP, approved by shareholders in 2007, conditional 
share awards of up to 150% of base salary may be granted 
annually. During 2007, awards were made to 24 senior 
executives, including the Executive Directors who were granted 
awards of 100% of salary. Vesting of PSP awards is based 50% 
on the Company’s three-year TSR relative to a comparator 
group of aerospace and defence sector peers and 50% on the 
Company’s three-year real EPS growth. Companies in the TSR 
comparator group for awards granted in 2007 were:

BAE Systems IMI Qinetiq

Boeing ITT Industries Raytheon

EADS L-3 Communications Rockwell Collins

EDO Lockheed Martin Rolls-Royce

Flir Systems Meggitt Smiths Group

Goodrich Northrop Grumman VT Group

TSR-based awards vest only if Cobham’s TSR over the three-
year performance period is at least median, at which point 
16.7% of the shares subject to this part of the award vest; 
66.7% vests if the Company’s TSR outperforms the median 
by 10% per annum and the TSR-based award vests in full if 
the Company’s TSR outperforms the median by 15% per 
annum. Awards vest on a straight-line sliding scale for 
performance between these levels; no awards vest if TSR 
performance is below median. 

For awards granted in 2007, 16.7% of the EPS-based awards 
vest at EPS growth of RPI + 3% per annum; 66.7% vests at 
EPS growth of RPI + 10% per annum and EPS-based awards 
vest in full at EPS growth of RPI + 15% per annum, all 
averaged over the three-year performance period. Awards 
vest on a straight-line sliding scale for performance between 
these levels; no awards vest if EPS growth is less than RPI + 
3% per annum.

To the extent that the performance targets are not met over 
the three-year performance period, awards will lapse, i.e. 
there is no re-testing of the performance conditions. In the 
event of a change of control, vesting of PSP awards is not 
automatic and would depend on the extent to which the 
performance conditions had been met at the time and the 
period elapsed since the date of grant. 

Executive Share Option Scheme
The ESOS was approved by shareholders at the 2004 AGM 
and amended at the 2007 AGM. It includes an ‘Approved’ 
plan, which has been approved by the Inland Revenue, and an 
‘Unapproved’ plan which is not designed for Inland Revenue 
approval. Options to acquire Cobham plc Ordinary Shares 	
may be offered to participants up to a maximum annual value 
of 200% of base salary (300% for US-based participants). 	
In 2007, Executive Directors, with the exception of Alex 
Hannam, were granted option awards over approximately 
100% of salary. It is the committee’s intention that option 
awards to the Executive Directors in 2008 will be over the 
same number of shares as granted in 2007. Options are 
granted at a price not less than the market value of the 
Company’s Ordinary Shares on, or shortly before, the date 	

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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an option is granted and can be exercised up to ten years 	
after grant, subject to certain conditions as described below. 
During 2007, options were granted to 218 Directors and 	
senior executives.

The vesting of options granted in 2007 to Executive Directors 
and Executive Committee members is conditional upon the 
Company’s underlying EPS growth exceeding inflation by at 
least 3% per annum over a three-year period. Options vest in 
full at EPS growth of RPI + 10% per annum. 25% vest at EPS 
growth of RPI + 3% per annum. Options vest on a straight-
line sliding scale for performance between these levels; no 
options vest if EPS growth is less than RPI + 3% per annum. 
The vesting of options granted to US-based participants (other 
than US-based Executive Committee members) is conditional 
only on continued employment and vest in 25% increments 
on each anniversary of grant over four years. 

In the event of a change of control, vesting of ESOS awards is 
not automatic and would depend on the extent to which the 
committee determines the performance conditions had been 
met at the time. Any vested awards not exercised within one 
month of the change of control would lapse.

Bonus Co-investment Plan
Commencing with bonuses earned for the 2007 financial year 
(paid in Spring 2008), senior executives can defer up to 50% 
of their net earned annual bonus into Cobham shares in return 
for an opportunity to earn a matching award of shares against 
the gross bonus invested, on an up to 2:1 ratio. Matching 
awards vest after three years subject to stretching three-year 
Economic Profit growth targets. There is no phased vesting. 	
In the event of a change of control, vesting of BCP matching 
awards is not automatic and would depend on the extent to 
which the performance conditions had been met at the time 
and the period elapsed since the date of grant. 

Other share schemes 
The Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme is an 
Inland Revenue approved scheme open to UK employees. 	
The maximum that can be saved each month is £250 and 
savings plus interest may be used to acquire shares by 
exercising the related option. Options have been granted at 	
a 20% discount to market value. The Executive Directors are 
permitted to participate in the scheme.

The Company also operates another Inland Revenue approved 
all-employee share scheme, the Cobham Share Incentive 
Plan. This scheme operates within specific tax legislation and 
enables participants to buy Cobham Ordinary Shares out of 
pre-tax income. The Executive Directors are permitted to 
participate in the scheme and details of their participation 	
are included in Table 1 on page 39.

Performance graph
The following graph illustrates the TSR performance (share 
price growth plus dividends) of the Company against the 
FTSE 350 Index over the past five years. The FTSE 350 Index 
was chosen as it is a recognised broad equity market index of 
which the Company is a member. 

Directors’ pensions 
Executive Directors participate in the Cobham Executives 
Pension Plan (the ‘Plan’). The Plan provides benefits on final 
pay principles against a normal pension age of 60 subject to 
actuarial reduction for earlier retirement. Pension accrues at 
1/30th of pensionable earnings, i.e. base salary, for each year 
of service and participants contribute at a rate of 7%-15% of 
pensionable earnings.

All pensions in payment relating to post-April 1997 rights are 
increased in line with the retail prices index, subject to a minimum 
of 3% per annum and a maximum of 5% per annum, with the 
balance of pension being increased at 3% per annum. On death in 
service, a lump sum of four times pensionable earnings is payable 
together with a spouse’s pension of two-thirds of the member’s 
prospective pension. On death after retirement, a spouse’s 
pension is paid at the rate of two-thirds of the member’s pre-
commutation pension. Similar spouse’s pensions are payable 
on the death of a deferred pensioner prior to retirement.

The pension benefits of Directors who are members of the 
Plan were restricted by the Inland Revenue’s earning cap until 
5 April 2006 and thereafter by a scheme specific salary cap. 
Contributions in respect of such members were paid into 
funded unapproved retirement benefit schemes (FURBS) until 
5 April 2006 and details of the amounts paid are set out in 
Table 2(b) on page 40. No further contributions have been or 
will be made to FURBS after 6 April 2006. Cash payments in 
lieu of contributions to a FURBS made to Directors are 
mentioned in notes to Table 1 on page 39. 

In the case of Alex Hannam, a sum was paid to a personal 
pension as set out in the notes to Table 2(b) on page 40. 	
The policy in respect of newly-appointed Directors is that 
payments by the Company to a defined contribution top-up 
arrangement or in the form of non-pensionable cash allowances 
should normally be 2% of annual basic salary per month.

Details of Directors’ pension benefits as required by the 
Regulations are set out in Table 2(a) on page 39.
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Service contracts
The Board’s policy on notice periods for new Directors is that these should not normally exceed one year. It recognises, 
however, that it may be necessary in the case of new executive appointments to offer a longer initial notice period which would 
subsequently reduce to one year. Allan Cook’s service contract (dated 13 June 2001) is terminable on one year’s notice by 
either party. Alex Hannam’s service contract (dated 13 February 2003 and subsequently amended) expired on 31 December 
2007. Warren Tucker’s and Andy Stevens’ service contracts (both of which are dated 1 January 2004) are terminable on one 
year’s notice by, and six months’ notice to, the Company. 

The Company may elect to terminate Directors’ service contracts by making payments in lieu of notice. Such payments are 
calculated by reference to the base salary otherwise payable during the notice period. Payments in respect of annual bonus for 
the relevant periods may also be payable. In the case of Warren Tucker, any payment in lieu of notice shall include a sum equal 
to the value of his annual benefits. The Company recognises and endorses the obligation of departing Directors to mitigate their 
own losses.

Personal shareholding
Executive Directors and other senior executives are required to acquire and hold, over time, Cobham plc Ordinary Shares to the 
value of at least one year’s salary. Executives subject to the ownership guidelines are required to retain a minimum of 50% of 
net vested PSP and BCP matching shares, and 50% of net shares resulting from the exercise of ESOS options until the relevant 
ownership level is met.

Non-executive Directors
The Board aims to recruit Non-executive Directors of a high calibre with broad commercial, international or other relevant 
experience. The Non-executive Directors do not have service contracts. Details of the terms of the appointment of the current 
Non-executive Directors are as follows:

Director	 	 	 	 Commencement date 	 Expiry date
Gordon Page	 	 	 	 1 December 2003	 17 November 2008
Peter Hooley	 	 	 	 12 June 2002	 30 June 2008
Marcus Beresford	 	 	 	 1 March 2004	 28 February 2010
John Patterson	 	 	 	 1 November 2005	 31 October 2008
Mark Ronald	 	 	 	 8 January 2007	 7 January 2010
David Turner	 	 	 	 1 December 2007	 30 November 2010

Except in Gordon Page’s case, no compensation is payable in the event of an appointment being terminated early. Under 
Gordon Page’s letter of appointment, six months’ notice of termination is required to be given by either party. As a result, 
compensation might be payable for earlier termination. Each Non-executive Director has given an undertaking that he has 
sufficient time to meet what is expected of him as a Director.

The general purposes committee, the membership of which comprises Executive Directors only, is responsible for determining 
the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors with the exception of the Chairman, whose remuneration is determined by the 
remuneration committee. The fees payable are as follows:
	 	 	 	 	 	 Fees payable from	
	 	 	 	 	 	 1 January 2007
Chairman	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 £160,000
Deputy Chairman	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	£260,000
Non-executive Director (basic)	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 £39,000
Chairman of audit committee	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 £10,000
Chairman of remuneration committee	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 £10,000
Senior Independent Director	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 £10,000
Membership of audit and remuneration committees	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 £2,500

Non-executive Directors do not participate in any of the Company’s share schemes, pension schemes or bonus arrangements 
with the exception of Gordon Page who receives a pension under the Plan.

Mark Ronald receives an allowance of £5,000 in respect of the additional travelling time required to ensure his attendance at	
Board meetings.

No additional fees are payable to the Deputy Chairman in respect of his membership of any of the board committees.

Auditable part
The auditable part of this Directors’ remuneration report is set out on pages 39 to 41.

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Table 1: Directors’ emoluments 
The remuneration of the Directors, including the Chairman and the highest paid Director, was as follows:

	 	 Executive Directors’	 Fees and	 	 Benefits	 Total	
	 	 base salaries	 other payments	 Bonus	 excluding pension	 excluding pension
£k	 	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006
G F Page1	 –	 –	 185	 171	 –	 –	 28	 29	 213	 200
A E Cook2	 535	 500	 185	 132	 524	 292	 25	 34	 1,269	 958
G C Cooper3	 –	 –	 –	 148	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 148
A J Hannam4	 268	 262	 13	 13	 322	 258	 1	 1	 604	 534
W G Tucker5	 366	 345	 88	 77	 358	 212	 23	 21	 835	 655
A J Stevens6	 394	 366	 94	 97	 386	 210	 24	 24	 898	 697
J W Edington	 –	 –	 19	 44	 –	 –	 –	 –	 19	 44
P Hooley	 –	 –	 51	 51	 –	 –	 –	 –	 51	 51
M Beresford	 –	 –	 54	 54	 –	 –	 –	 –	 54	 54
J S Patterson	 –	 –	 51	 51	 –	 –	 –	 –	 51	 51
M H Ronald	 –	 –	 47	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 47	 –
D J Turner	 –	 –	 22	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 22	 –
Total remuneration	 1,563	 1,473	 809 	 838	 1,590	 972	 101	 109	 4,063	 3,392 

Subject as follows, benefits relate to the provision of Company cars and fuel, medical insurance, telephones and subscriptions 
(2006 only). Allan Cook’s benefits include the provision of professional advice and life assurance (2006 only). Alex Hannam’s 
benefits relate to medical insurance. Warren Tucker’s benefits include the provision of professional advice but do not include 
subscriptions. Andy Stevens’s benefits do not include telephones.	

1 �Emoluments for 2006 include – under fees and other payments (‘Payments’) – the sum of £9,000 paid as a gratuity in view of Gordon Page’s inability until 6 April 2006 to draw pension 
benefits whilst continuing to act as a Director.

2 Emoluments for 2006/7 include – under Payments – the sum of £185,000 (2006: £132,000) in lieu of payments into an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement.
3 A further compensation payment amounting to £148,000 was paid during 2006 in relation to Geoff Cooper’s resignation on 17 June 2005. 
4 �Emoluments for 2006/7 include – under Payments – a cash allowance of £13,000 (2006: £13,000) in respect of the provision of a car and fuel. This payment is not taken into account in 

calculating bonus and share scheme entitlements.
5 �Emoluments for 2006 include – under Payments – a cash payment of £19,000 in lieu of payments into a funded unapproved retirement benefits scheme and the sum of £58,000 in lieu of 

payments to an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement. Emoluments for 2007 include – under Payments – the sum of £88,000 in lieu of payments to an approved defined 
contribution top-up arrangement. These payments are not taken into account in calculating bonus and share scheme entitlements.

6 �Emoluments for 2006 include – under Payments – the sum of £67,000 in lieu of payments to an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement and £30,000 in connection with the 
acceptance of office. Emoluments for 2007 include – under Payments – the sum of £94,000 in lieu of payments into an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement. These payments 
are not taken into account in calculating bonus and share scheme entitlements.

Table 2(a): Directors’ pensions
	 	 Increase	 	 Transfer value	 	 	 	
	 	 in accrued	 	 of pension	 	 	 Additional	
	 	 pension from	 Additional	 accrued	 	 	 transfer value	
	 	 previous	 pension	 in excess	 Transfer	 	 accrued in	
	 	 year end	 earned	 of inflation	 value of	 Transfer	 excess of	
	 Accrued	 (with no	 in excess	 and members’	 accrued	 value of	 members’	
	 pension at	 adjustment	 of inflation	 contributions	 pension at	 accrued	 contributions	
	 31.12.07	 for inflation)	 during 2007	 during 2007	 31.12.06	 pension	 during 2007	
	 £ p.a.	 £ p.a.	 £ p.a.	 £	 £	 £	 £
A E Cook	 27,667	 5,479	 4,680	 80,211	 452,744	 569,975	 99,513
A J Hannam	 18,008	 4,230	 3,734	 76,734	 314,879	 393,592	 72,413
A J Stevens	 16,333	 4,750	 4,333	 57,347	 179,767	 252,705	 55,219
W G Tucker	 18,667	 4,917	 4,422	 46,357	 169,480	 227,040	 49,292

Gordon Page commenced his pension in 2006, and accrued no further benefits in 2007. He is therefore not included in the 	
above figures.

The accrued pension for Alex Hannam is based on his pension accrued up to his normal retirement date, 28 March 2006, 
adjusted to reflect the deferment of his retirement, together with additional pension accrued from 28 March 2007 to 	
31 December 2007.

Members’ contributions taken into account in the above figures are:
	 	 	 	 	 	 Total	 	
	 	 	 	 	 Rate	 contributions	
	 	 	 	 	 	 £
A E Cook	 	 	 	 15%	 17,719
A J Hannam	 	 	 	 7%	 6,300 	 9 months only
A J Stevens	 	 	 	 15%	 17,719
W G Tucker	 	 	 	 7%	 8,269
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Table 2(b)
The pension benefits of Directors who are members of the Plan were restricted by the Inland Revenue’s earning cap until 	
5 April 2006 and thereafter by a scheme specific salary cap. Contributions in respect of such members were paid into funded 
unapproved retirement benefit schemes (FURBS) until 5 April 2006. No further contributions have been or will be made to 
FURBS after 6 April 2006.
	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 20061	
	 	 	 	 	 	 £000	 £000
A E Cook	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 38
A J Hannam2	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 14
A J Stevens	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 20

1 �The contributions made in 2006 relate to the period ending on 5 April (or the member’s 60th birthday if earlier). Subsequently, cash payments in lieu of payments to an approved defined 
contributions top-up arrangement were made to Directors, other than Alex Hannam, and these are referred to in the notes to Table 1.

2 �A payment of £49,243 (2006: £97,000) was made to Alex Hannam’s self invested pension plan in connection with the extension of his service contract in lieu of continued pension accrual under 
the Company’s pension arrangements.

Table 3(a): Directors’ share interests 
The interests of the Directors and their families in Cobham plc’s Ordinary Shares were:

	 	 	 	 	 	 At 1.1.07	 At 31.12.07
G F Page	 	 	 	 	 	 1,812,171	 1,812,438
A E Cook	 	 	 	 	 	 47,669	 53,657
A J Hannam	 	 	 	 	 	 42,049	 42,753
W G Tucker	 	 	 	 	 	 30,058 	 44,019
A J Stevens	 	 	 	 	 	 17,099	 17,810
J W Edington	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
P Hooley	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
M Beresford	 	 	 	 	 	 15,000	 15,000
J S Patterson	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 5,000
M H Ronald	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
D J Turner	 	 	 	 	 	 – 	 – 

The above interests are all beneficial. Interests in share options and shares provisionally allocated under the Cobham 	
Long-Term Incentive Plan and Cobham Performance Share Plan are not included in Table 3(a) but are disclosed in 	
Tables 3(b) and 4 respectively. 

Interests at 14 March 2008 being a date no more than one month prior to the date of the notice convening the AGM, 	
were the same as at 31 December 2007 save that beneficial share interests disclosed in Table 3(a) of D J Turner, A E Cook, 	
A J Stevens and W G Tucker had increased by 20,000; 78,157; 28,761 and 48,723 ordinary 2.5p shares respectively, as a 	
result of share purchases.

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Table 3(b): Directors’ share options 
Details of Directors’ interests in options over Cobham plc’s Ordinary Shares granted under the Cobham Savings Related Share 
Option Scheme and the Cobham Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 were:
	 	 	 	 	 	 Market	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 Exercise	 price at date 	 Date from	 	
	 	 At	 Number of options during the year 	 At	 price	 of exercise	 which	 Expiry
	 	 1.1.07	 Granted	 Exercised	 Lapsed	 31.12.07	 – pence	 – pence	 exercisable	 date
A E Cook	 16,600	 	 –	 –	 16,600	 84.0	 –	 01.02.09	 01.08.09
	 	 3,780	 	 –	 –	 3,780	 93.9	 –	 01.02.11	 01.08.11
	 	 228,230*	 	 –	 –	 228,230	 134.7	 –	 20.09.07	 20.09.14
	 	 246,820*	 	 –	 –	 246,820	 133.7	 –	 11.05.08	 11.05.15
	 	 269,789*	 	 –	 –	 269,789	 185.3	 –	 20.04.09	 20.04.16
	 	 4,620	 	 –	 –	 4,620	 153.0	 –	 01.02.10	 01.08.10
	 	 	 261,614*	 –	 –	 261,614	 204.5	 –	 26.03.10	 26.03.17
	 	 769,839	 	 	 	 1,031,453	 	 	 	

A J Hannam	 7,420	 	 –	 –	 7,420	 93.9	 –	 01.02.09	 01.08.09
	 	 4,930	 	 –	 –	 4,930	 107.6	 –	 01.02.08	 01.08.08
	 	 128,030*	 	 –	 –	 128,030	 134.7	 –	 20.09.07	 20.09.14
	 	 138,000*	 	 –	 –	 138,000	 133.7	 –	 11.05.08	 11.05.15
	 	 278,380	 	 	 	 278,380	 	 	 	

W G Tucker	 16,610	 	 –	 –	 16,610	 107.6	 –	 01.02.12	 01.08.12
	 	 155,860*	 	 –	 –	 155,860	 134.7		 –	 20.09.07	 20.09.14
	 	 180,070*	 	 –	 –	 180,070	 133.7		 –	 11.05.08	 11.05.15
	 	 186,154*	 	 –	 –	 186,154	 185.3		 –	 20.04.09	 20.04.16
	 	 	 178,826*	 –	 –	 178,826 	 204.5	 –	 26.03.10 	 26.03.17
	 	 538,694	 	 	 	 717,520	 	 	 	

A J Stevens	 15,350	 	 –	 –	 15,350	 107.6	 –	 01.02.10	 01.08.10
	 	 167,000*	 	 –	 –	 167,000	 134.7	 –	 20.09.07	 20.09.14
	 	 180,070*	 	 –	 –	 180,070	 133.7	 –	 11.05.08	 11.05.15
	 	 202,341*	 	 –	 –	 202,341	 185.3	 –	 20.04.09	 20.04.16
	 	 	 192,543*	 –	 –	 192,543	 204.5	 –	 26.03.10 	 26.03.17
	 	 564,761	 	 	 	  757,304	 	 	 	
	

* Granted under the Cobham Executive Share Option Scheme 2004. All other options were granted under the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme.

The market price of Cobham plc Ordinary Shares as at 31 December 2007 was 209p per share and the closing price range 	
during the year was 181.5p to 222.5p.

No gains were made by Directors on the exercise of share options during the year. 

Table 4: Allocations under the Cobham Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Cobham Performance Share Plan
	 	 Conditionally	 	 	 	 Monetary	
	 	 awarded	 Lapsed	 Vested	 Allocations 	 value	 	
	 Allocation 	 during 	 during	 during 	 at	 of vested	
	 at 1.1.07	 the year1	 the year2	 year	 31.12.07	 awards	 Expiry date3

A E Cook	 634,401	 –	 253,380	 –	 381,021	 –	 20.04.09
	 	 – 	 251,174*	 –	 –	 251,174	 –	 12.06.10
A J Hannam	 277,630	 –	 142,140	 –	 135,490	 –	 20.04.09
W G Tucker	 445,530	 –	 173,040	 –	 272,490	 –	 20.04.09
	 	 –	 171,690*	 –	 –	 171,690	 –	 12.06.10
A J Stevens	 570,221	 –	 185,400	 –	 384,821	 –	 20.04.09
	 	 –	 184,859*	 –	 –	 184,859	 –	 12.06.10
	

* Awarded under the Cobham Performance Share Plan. All other awards were granted under the Cobham Long-Term Incentive Plan.
1 The market price of a Cobham plc Ordinary Share on 12 June 2007, being the date of the awards made during the year, was 213.25p. 
2 Lapsed shares comprise those shares conditionally awarded in 2004.
3 �The expiry date is the last date by which qualifying conditions in respect of any outstanding interests under the relevant plan have to be fulfilled. This date may either be the expiry of any 	

relevant holding period or (where applicable) of any restricted period.

Interests at 14 March 2008, being a date not more than one month prior to the date of the notice convening the AGM, were the 
same as at 31 December 2007.

By order of the Board
J S Patterson 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
14 March 2008
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, 
the Directors’ remuneration report and the Group and the 
parent company financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and the parent 
company financial statements and the Directors’ remuneration 
report in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). The Group and parent company financial 
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the 
profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are 
required to:

 �Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;
 �Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;
 �State that the Group financial statements comply 	
with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and with 
regard to the parent company financial statements that 
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and
 �Prepare the Group and parent company financial statements 
on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group will continue in business. 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 	
the financial position of the Company and the Group and to 
enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the 	
IAS Regulation and the parent company financial statements 
and the Directors’ remuneration report comply with the 
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
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We have audited the Group financial statements of Cobham 
plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise 	
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated balance 
sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated 
statement of recognised income and expense, the related 
notes and the accounting policies. These Group financial 
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies 
set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of Cobham plc for the year ended 31 December 
2007 and on the information in the Directors’ remuneration 
report that is described as having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report 
and the Group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements 	
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 	
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and 
only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group 
financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion 
the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent 
with the Group financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require for 	
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Director’s 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate governance statement 
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions 	
of the Combined Code (2006) specified for our review by 	
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we 
report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether 
the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and 
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and 
control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report 	
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group 
financial statements. The other information comprises only 
the Highlights 2007, Cobham at a glance, the Chairman’s 

Independent auditors’ report	
to the members of Cobham plc

statement, the Chief Executive’s review, the statement on 
strategy, the Business review, the Financial review, the 
statement on corporate responsibility, the Directors’ report, 
the Corporate governance statement and the unaudited part 
of the Directors’ remuneration report. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
Group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend 
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
Group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of 
the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors 
in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the Group financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
Group financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

 �The Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, 
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;
 �The Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 	
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and
 �The information given in the Directors’ report is consistent 
with the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Southampton
14 March 2008

Notes:
 �The maintenance and integrity of the Cobham plc website is 
the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, 
accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements 
since they were initially presented on the website.
 �Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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General information
These financial statements are the consolidated financial 
statements of Cobham plc, a public company limited by 
shares, registered and domiciled in the United Kingdom and 
its subsidiaries (‘the Group’). The address of the registered 
office is Brook Road, Wimborne, Dorset, England BH21 2BJ.

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU, International Financial Reporting 
Interpretation Council (IFRIC) interpretations and those parts 
of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of certain borrowings and 
derivative contracts which are held at fair value. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires the use 	
of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 	
of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately 	
may differ from those estimates.

The following new standard and amendment to an existing 
standard have been adopted from 1 January 2007:

 �IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and a 
complementary amendment to IAS 1, Presentation	
of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures 
 Revised IAS 23, Borrowing Costs 

The implementation of IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, and a complementary amendment to IAS 1, 
Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures has 
resulted in increased disclosure regarding the Group’s financial 
instruments and policies for managing capital (see notes 27 
and 28). The revision to IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, has been 
adopted early with effect from 1 January 2007, and no 
adjustments to Group accounting policies were required on 
adoption of this amendment. 

The following interpretations to existing standards which 
would be effective for the current year are not considered 
relevant to the Group’s operations:

 �IFRIC 7, Applying the restatement approach under	
IAS 29 financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies 
 �IFRIC 8, The Scope of IFRS 2
 �IFRIC 9, Reassessment of embedded derivatives
 �IFRIC 10, Interim financial reporting and impairment

The principal accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied, are as set out below. 
 

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements include the financial 
statements of the parent company and of all its subsidiaries 
made up to the end of the financial period. Joint ventures 	
and associates are accounted for using the equity method 	
and include the Group’s share of the total recognised gains 
and losses of joint ventures and associates from the date 	
that joint control or significant influence commences until 	
the date this ceases. 

Businesses acquired are accounted for as acquisitions, with 
effect from the date control passes. Purchases of minority 
interests are accounted for using the economic entity method. 
Businesses disposed of are accounted for up until control 
passes at the point of their disposal. The results of businesses 
disposed of, and of those classified as held for sale at the year 
end are disclosed as arising from discontinued operations 
where they meet the criteria to be treated as such.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated on consolidation. 

Underlying measures
To assist with the understanding of earnings trends, the Group 
has included within its published statements trading profits 
and underlying earnings results. 

Trading profit and underlying earnings have been defined to 
exclude the impact of the amortisation of intangible assets 
recognised on acquisition, fair value adjustments to inventory 
on acquisition, the marking to market of currency instruments 
not realised in the period and impairments of goodwill. There 
has been no impairment to goodwill in the current or 
comparative periods. 

Trading profit and underlying earnings exclude portfolio 
restructuring costs, which comprise exceptional profits or 
losses arising on disposals actually completed during the 
period, as well as exceptional costs or profits associated 	
with the restructuring of the Group’s business and property 
portfolio. Trading profit and underlying earnings also exclude 
direct costs associated with exceptional terminated 
acquisitions.

All underlying measures include the revenue and operational 
results of both continuing and discontinued businesses until 
the point of sale.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the right to 
consideration and is recognised when legal title and the risks 	
and rewards of ownership have been passed to the customer. 
Revenue for services is recognised as the services are rendered. 
It excludes inter-company sales, value added tax and other sales 
taxes. In the case of contracts with a long duration, revenue is 
recognised based upon the fair value of work performed to date 
assessed with reference to contract milestones.

Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined 
contribution schemes. 

Accounting policies
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For defined benefit schemes the amounts charged to 
operating profit are the current service costs. Gains and 
losses on settlements and curtailments arising on a business 
disposal are included in profit on disposal. Past service costs 
are recognised immediately in the income statement if the 
benefits have vested. If the benefits have not vested, the 
costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs. 	
The expected return on assets and interest cost are shown 
within finance income and expense. Actuarial gains and losses 
are recognised immediately in the statement of recognised 
income and expense.
 
Defined benefit schemes are funded, with the assets of the 
scheme held separately from those of the Group, in separate 
trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are 
measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted 
at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high 
quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to	
the scheme liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at 
least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. 
The resulting defined benefit asset or liability is presented 
separately on the face of the balance sheet.

For defined contribution schemes the amounts charged to the 
income statement in respect of pension costs and other post-
retirement benefits are the contributions payable in the year. 
Differences between contributions payable in the year and 
contributions actually paid are recorded as either accruals or 
prepayments in the balance sheet.

Taxation including deferred taxation
The tax expense relates to the sum of current tax and deferred tax. 

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year, which differs 
from profit before taxation as reported in the income statement. 
Taxable profit excludes items of income and expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and also excludes items that 
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current 
tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability 
method in respect of temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

Temporary differences arise primarily from the recognition of 
the deficit on the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes, 
accelerated tax depreciation and acquisition accounting. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to 	
be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 	
to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 	
is settled. Tax is charged or credited to the income statement 

except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to 
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 
Tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the 
same fiscal authority.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which 
they are fully authorised. 

Share-based payments
For grants made under the Group’s equity settled share-based 
payment schemes, amounts which reflect the fair value of 
options awarded as at the time of grant are charged to the 
income statement over the relevant vesting periods.

The costs of awards made under cash settled share-	
based payment schemes are measured initially at the grant 
date and expensed over the vesting period. The liability is 
remeasured at each balance sheet date up to and including 
the settlement date with changes in fair value recognised 
through the income statement.

The valuation methodology for all schemes is based on the 
Black-Scholes model, modified where required to allow for 	
the impact of market related performance criteria.
 
The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions 
of IFRS 2, Share-based payment, in respect of equity settled 
awards and has applied IFRS 2 only to equity settled awards 
granted after 7 November 2002. 

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of a business, subsidiary or joint venture at the 
date of acquisition. 

Goodwill arising on overseas acquisitions since the date	
of transition to IFRS is treated as a foreign currency asset 	
and revalued at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange 
differences arising are taken to the translation reserve 	
and recycled to the income statement when the related 
subsidiary is sold. 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions of businesses, subsidiaries 
and joint ventures is capitalised and reviewed for impairment 
at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in 
the income statement and cannot be subsequently reversed.

Goodwill arising on the purchase of minority interests is taken 
to reserves under the economic entity method.

On disposal of a subsidiary or joint venture, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal. 

Research and development
Research expenditure not chargeable to customers is 	
written off as incurred. Development costs not chargeable 	
to customers are written off as incurred until it can be 
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demonstrated that the conditions for capitalisation as 
described in IAS 38, Intangible assets, are met, at which 	
point further costs are capitalised as intangible assets until 	
the intangible asset is readily available for sale and is then 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated 
useful life. 

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill which are acquired by the 
Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. These include customer lists, technology 
and software, trademarks, licences and patents. The only 
internally generated intangible assets are development costs 
which are capitalised as described above, and internally 
developed software where asset recognition criteria are met. 

All other intangible assets are amortised over the asset’s 
estimated useful life on a straight-line basis as follows:

	 Customer lists	 2 to 15 years 
	 Technology and software	 2 to 10 years
	 Development costs	 2 to 10 years
	 Other intangible assets	 6 months to 10 years

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land is not depreciated, but is reviewed for 
impairment at least annually. 

Freehold and leasehold buildings, plant and equipment are 
held at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
recognised impairment losses. Carrying values are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount.

All property, plant and equipment other than land is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis to the estimated residual values over the 
estimated useful lives. These lives are as follows:

	 �Freehold buildings (including 	
investment properties)	 50 years

	 �Leasehold properties	 The period of the lease
	 �Plant and equipment and 	

other fixed assets	 3 to 15 years

Estimated residual values and the estimated useful lives are 
reviewed annually and adjusted where necessary. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, 
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the income statement. 

Investment properties
Investment properties, which are properties held to earn 
rentals and/or for capital appreciation, are stated at cost at the 
balance sheet date. They are depreciated on a straight-line 

basis to their estimated residual value over their estimated 
useful lives. 

Aircraft overhaul expenditure
Major overhaul expenditure on owned aircraft is capitalised 
when incurred and the resultant fixed asset depreciated 	
over its useful economic life. Major overhaul costs that are 
contractually required on aircraft held under operating leases 
are provided for over the period between the scheduled 
maintenance events. 

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, 
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be 
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Payments 
received and receivable on account of work in progress are 
deducted from the cost of work carried out at the balance 
sheet date to the extent of the valuation of the work done. 

Pre-contract and bid costs
All costs directly attributable to securing contracts incurred 
after the point that they become virtually certain, but before 
commencement of the contract, are recognised as an asset. 
Such costs are amortised to the income statement over the 
period for which this activity will continue to provide value. 

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets 
are recognised at trade date. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are categorised on initial recognition as 	
assets held at fair value through profit or loss, or loans and 
receivables dependant upon the purpose for which the assets 
were acquired and as follows: 

 �Assets held at fair value through profit or loss are those 	
held for trading in the short-term and are classified as 
current assets.
 �Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
which are not quoted in an active market. These are 
classified as current or non-current assets dependant upon 
maturity and included within trade and other receivables.

None of the Group’s financial assets fall into the held to 
maturity or available for sale categories which are defined 	
as follows: 

 �Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed maturity dates which the Group intends 	
to hold to maturity.
 �Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative 
financial assets designated by management as available for	
sale and not falling into any of the above categories. 

Financial liabilities are categorised on initial recognition as 
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, or other 
liabilities held at cost. Liabilities held at fair value through 	
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profit or loss are those held for trading in the short-term and 
are classified as current or non-current liabilities dependant 
upon the maturity date of the instruments. Derivatives are 
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated 	
as hedges. 

When a financial asset or liability is recognised initially, it is 
measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are 
carried at cost, or amortised cost where applicable, using the 
effective interest method. Financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss are stated at cost. 

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at 
their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts. Allowances for irrecoverable 
amounts are made when there is evidence that the Group may 
not be able to collect the amount due. All trade receivables 
which are more than six months overdue are provided for based 
on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to 
past default experience. Amounts which are less than six 
months overdue are provided where recovery of the balance 
due is considered to be doubtful. The impairment recorded is 
the difference between the carrying value of the receivables 
and the estimated future cashflows. Any impairment required is 
recorded in the income statement in administrative expenses. 
The balance may be written off in full generally where 
receivables are in excess of 12 months old. At that time, any 
amounts previously provided for impairment are released. 

Trade payables
Trade payables do not carry any interest and are stated at their 
nominal value.

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at 	
the amount of proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
Borrowing costs, net of amounts capitalised, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct 
issue costs, are charged to the income statement and are 
added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 
that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to relevant 
property, plant and equipment are capitalised as part of the 
cost of that asset.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management are included 	
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose 
of the consolidated cash flow statement. 

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 	
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. Leases include hire purchase contracts 

which have characteristics similar to operating or finance leases. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets 	
of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present 	
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at 
the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease 
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the income 
statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of 	
the relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into 
an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 	
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 	
re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognising 	
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative 	
is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature 	
of the item being hedged.

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks 
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates. The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts, 
interest rate swap contracts and net investment hedges to 
reduce these exposures. The Group does not use derivative 
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction 	
the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also 
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on 	
an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items.

Currency translation derivatives entered into to mitigate foreign 
exchange impacts of trading in non-functional currencies are not 
accounted for using hedge accounting and movements in fair 
values are shown separately in the income statement as part of 
operating profit. Currency translation derivatives entered into to 
mitigate foreign exchange impacts arising on the acquisition of 
fixed assets are accounted for as cash flow hedges. 

Fair value hedges
Changes in fair values of derivatives that are designated 	
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income 
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. 
The gains or losses relating to interest rate swaps hedging 
fixed rate borrowings are recognised in finance income and 
expense in the income statement. 
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Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in fair values of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are 
recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. 
Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to finance income 
and expense in the income statement in the periods when the 
hedged item affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a 
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains 
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the income statement. If a hedged 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative 
gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately transferred to 
the income statement for the period.

Net investment hedges
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are 
accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of 
the hedge is recognised in equity; the gain or loss relating to 
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Gains or losses accumulated in equity are included in the 
income statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a current 
asset or liability except when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is more than 12 months. 

Foreign currencies
The functional currency and presentation currency of the parent 
company is sterling. Most Group companies use their local 
currency as their functional currency. Local transactions in 
currencies other than the functional currency are translated at 
the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denoted in non-functional 
currencies are retranslated at the exchange rate ruling at the 
balance sheet date and any exchange differences arising are 
taken to the income statement except when deferred in equity 
as net investment hedges. 

In order to manage its exposure to certain foreign exchange 
risks the Group enters into forward contracts which are 
accounted for as derivative financial instruments.

For consolidation purposes the assets and liabilities of 
overseas subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are 
translated at the closing exchange rates. Income statements 
of such undertakings are consolidated at the average rates of 
exchange as an approximation for actual rates during the year. 
Exchange differences arising on these translations are 
accounted for in the translation reserve.

Provisions
A provision is required when the Group has a present legal 	
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that settlement will be required of an amount that 
can be reliably estimated.

Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of 
sale of the relevant products, at the Directors’ best estimate 	
of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s liability. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised when the 
expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract 
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 
under the contract. 

Provisions for contingent consideration are recognised when 	
it is considered probable that the conditions attaching to 
potential payment will be met. 

Provisions for major repair and maintenance costs on aircraft 
held under operating leases are provided over the period 	
to the next inspection so as to match the costs with 	
benefits received. 

Long-term liabilities and provisions are discounted at an 
appropriate risk-free rate when the impact is material.

Impairment losses
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at 
least annually to determine whether there is any indication 	
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted.

An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount 
of an asset is less than its recoverable amount. An intangible 
asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised in 	
the income statement. 

An impairment loss (other than arising on goodwill) is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised. Any reversal is recognised in the income 
statement.

Share capital
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. Financial 
liabilities and equity instruments are classified according 	
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting	
all of its liabilities. 

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is 
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the preference 
shareholders or if dividend payments are not discretionary. 
Dividends on preference share capital classified as liabilities 	
are recognised in the income statement as finance expense.

Accounting policies continued
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Segment accounting policies
For reporting purposes the results of the Group are allocated 
between operating divisions and other activities. The divisions 
operate in specific market areas and are as described in 	
note 1. The Group accounting policies as described above are 
applied consistently across all divisions and activities. Trading 
between Group companies is contracted and priced at arm’s 
length commercial terms. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Management judgement and estimation uncertainty
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
management has made a number of judgements, none of 
which are considered to have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future are also 
made by the Group. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The key 
assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are 
as follows:

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least 
on an annual basis. This requires estimation of the value in use 
of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an 
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash 
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate	
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2007 was 
£381.8m (2006: £381.8m), further details are given in note 14.

Taxation
The Group is subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. 
Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide 
provision for tax. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the current tax provision, 
deferred tax provisions and income statement in the period in 
which such determination is made.

Retirement benefits
The Group financial statements include costs and liabilities 	
in relation to retirement benefit obligations. A number of 
assumptions are made in assessing the costs and present 
value of the pension assets and liabilities which include the 
long-term rate of increase of salary costs, discount rate, 
inflation, the expected return on plan assets and mortality 

rates. The Group uses published indices and independent 
actuarial advice to select the values of critical assumptions, 
which are disclosed in note 10. 

Accounting standards not yet effective
Certain new standards, amendments to and interpretations 	
of existing standards have been published that are mandatory 
for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 	
1 January 2008 or later periods but which the Group has 	
not adopted early, are as follows:

 �IFRS 8, Operating Segments, is applicable from 1 January 
2009 and is not expected to have a significant impact on 	
the Group’s reporting of segmental information.
 �Revisions to IFRS 3, Business Combinations and IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements issued in 
January 2008 are applicable from 1 January 2010. 
Management are currently assessing the impact of these 
revisions on the reporting of the Group’s future operations. 
 �The January 2008 amendment to IFRS 2, Share-based 
Payment is applicable from 1 January 2009. The 
amendment is likely to impact the timing of charges to the 
income statement in respect of awards made to employees 
under the Group’s ShareSave scheme. 
 �Amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation 
and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements issued in 
January 2008 are applicable from 1 January 2009. 
Management are currently assessing the impact of these 
revisions on the reporting of the Group’s operations. 
 �IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 Share-based payment – Group and Treasury 
Share Transactions is applicable from 1 January 2008 and 
does not have an impact on the reporting of the Group’s 
operations.
 �IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements, is applicable 
from 1 January 2008. There is no impact of IFRIC 12 on the 
reporting of the Group’s operations.
 �IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes is not applicable 
to the Cobham Group. 
 �IFRIC 14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 
Funding Requirements and their Interaction is applicable 
from 1 January 2008. Management are currently assessing 
the impact of these revisions on the reporting of the 
Group’s operations.
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£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Continuing operations	 	 	 	
Revenue	 	 	 	 	 1,2	 1,061.1	 1,012.1
Cost of sales	 	 	 	 	 	 (717.3)	 (679.2)
Gross profit	 	 	 	 	 	 343.8	 332.9
Selling and distribution costs	 	 	 	 	 	 (61.3)	 (57.1)
Administrative expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 (116.8)	 (102.6)
Share of post-tax results of joint ventures	 	 	 	 	 	 5.8	 4.7
Unrealised (loss)/gain on revaluation of currency instruments	 	 	 26	 (5.7)	 10.8
Operating profit	 	 	 	 	 1,2	 165.8	 188.7
Finance income	 	 	 	 	 3	 49.0	 47.2
Finance expense	 	 	 	 	 3	 (41.3)	 (50.7)
Profit on continuing operations before taxation	 	 	 	 	 173.5	 185.2
Tax on continuing operations	 	 	 	 	 4	 (47.3)	 (50.7)
Profit on continuing operations after taxation 	 	 	 	 	 126.2	 134.5
Discontinued operations
Profit after taxation from discontinued operations	 	 	 	 33	 5.8	 13.8
Profit after taxation for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 132.0	 148.3

Profit attributable to equity shareholders	 	 	 	 	 	 131.7	 148.1
Profit attributable to minority interests	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3	 0.2
Profit after taxation for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 132.0	 148.3

Earnings per ordinary share	 	 	 	 	 6
	 – Basic	 	 	 	 	 	 11.61p	 13.13p
	 – Diluted	 	 	 	 	 	 11.55p	 13.00p

Earnings per ordinary share from continuing operations	 	 	 6	 	
	 – Basic	 	 	 	 	 	 11.10p	 11.90p
	 – Diluted	 	 	 	 	 	 11.04p	 11.79p

Trading profit is calculated as follows:
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Operating profit from continuing operations	 	 	 	 	 1	 165.8	 188.7
Adjusted to exclude:	 	 	 	
Loss/(gain) on portfolio restructuring	 	 	 	 	 8	 9.5	 (1.5)
Unrealised loss/(gain) on revaluation of currency instruments	 	 	 26	 5.7	 (10.8)
Costs of terminated acquisition	 	 	 	 	 7	 3.9	 –
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition including fair value adjustment	 	 7	 13.9	 9.1
Trading profit from continuing operations	 	 	 	 	 	 198.8	 185.5
Trading profit from discontinued operations	 	 	 	 	 33	 –	 0.8
Trading profit	 	 	 	 	 7	 198.8	 186.3

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 13	 476.1	 482.6
Property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 15	 203.8	 187.6
Investment properties	 	 	 	 	 16	 7.2	 6.4
Investments in joint ventures 	 	 	 	 	 17	 18.8	 15.7
Trade and other receivables	 	 	 	 	 19	 10.7	 9.2
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 	 26	 7.0	 8.6
Deferred taxation assets 	 	 	 	 	 23	 8.3	 6.9
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 731.9	 717.0
Current assets
Inventories	 	 	 	 	 18	 170.1	 160.2
Trade and other receivables	 	 	 	 	 19	 236.6	 182.6
Corporation tax	 	 	 	 	 	 2.8	 3.2
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 	 26	 4.9	 7.0
Cash and cash equivalents	 	 	 	 	 20	 444.5	 364.3
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 858.9	 717.3
Liabilities
Current liabilities	 	 	 	
Borrowings	 	 	 	 	 24	 (243.1)	 (231.2)
Trade and other payables	 	 	 	 	 21	 (220.6)	 (182.6)
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 	 26	 (2.2)	 (1.8)
Corporation tax	 	 	 	 	 	 (65.3)	 (45.1)
Provisions	 	 	 	 	 22	 (29.5)	 (38.0)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (560.7)	 (498.7)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 	 	 	 	 	 24	 (123.5)	 (132.2)
Trade and other payables	 	 	 	 	 21	 (10.6)	 (7.8)
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 	 26	 (1.9)	 (2.5)
Deferred taxation liabilities	 	 	 	 	 23	 (22.5)	 (25.6)
Provisions 	 	 	 	 	 22	 (30.3)	 (22.9)
Retirement benefit obligations	 	 	 	 	 10	 (37.2)	 (29.6)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (226.0)	 (220.6)

Net assets	 	 	 	 	 	 804.1	 715.0

Capital and reserves	 	 	 	
Called up share capital	 	 	 	 	 29	 28.4	 28.3
Share premium account	 	 	 	 	 30	 98.8	 94.2
Translation reserve	 	 	 	 	 30	 1.4	 (8.9)
Other reserves	 	 	 	 	 30	 17.9	 16.0
Retained earnings	 	 	 	 	 30	 657.2	 585.3
Total shareholders’ equity	 	 	 	 	 	 803.7	 714.9
Minority interest in equity	 	 	 	 	 	 0.4	 0.1
Total equity	 	 	 	 	 	 804.1	 715.0

Net cash	 	 	 	 	 12	 77.9	 0.9

Approved by a duly appointed and authorised committee of the Board on 14 March 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

Gordon Page
Warren Tucker
Directors

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2007
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£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations	 	 	 	 	 12	 199.2	 192.4
Corporation taxes paid	 	 	 	 	 	 (23.3)	 (46.2)
Interest paid	 	 	 	 	 	 (16.5)	 (27.6)
Interest received	 	 	 	 	 	 17.6	 20.3
Net cash from operating activities	 	 	 	 	 	 177.0	 138.9

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received from joint ventures	 	 	 	 	 37	 3.2	 4.3
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 25.5	 15.2
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 	 (67.4)	 (52.9)
Purchase of intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 13	 (0.5)	 (1.4)
Capitalised expenditure on intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 13	 (0.2)	 (0.3)
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired	 	 	 	 32	 (11.2)	 (12.2)
Acquisition of minority interests	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (4.2)
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration	 	 	 	 	 (3.1)	 (7.3)
Disposal of undertakings	 	 	 	 	 33	 (0.3)	 83.5
Net contingent consideration received	 	 	 	 	 33	 5.4	 2.9
Restructuring costs	 	 	 	 	 	 (3.7)	 –
Special pension contributions relating to disposals in prior years	 	 	 10	 (5.3)	 (11.5)
Costs of terminated acquisition	 	 	 	 	 	 (3.2)	 –
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities	 	 	 	 	 (60.8)	 16.1

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of share capital	 	 	 	 	 	 4.7	 6.9
Dividends paid	 	 	 	 	 5	 (43.8)	 (39.7)
New borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 89.3	 78.6
Repayment of borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 (96.7)	 (81.9)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)	 (0.2)
Net cash used in financing activities	 	 	 	 	 	 (46.8)	 (36.3)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	 	 	 	 	 	 69.4	 118.7

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year	 	 	 	 	 	 360.4	 246.6
Exchange movements	 	 	 	 	 	 2.2	 (4.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	 	 	 	 	 20	 432.0	 360.4

A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the balance sheet is detailed in note 20. 

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Profit after taxation for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 132.0	 148.3

Net translation differences on investments in overseas subsidiaries	 	 	 	 10.3	 (10.8)
Actuarial (loss)/gain on pensions 	 	 	 	 	 10	 (23.7)	 32.8
Actuarial loss on other retirement obligations	 	 	 	 	 10	 –	 (0.5)
Movement on cash flow hedges	 	 	 	 	 26	 (2.1)	 0.4
Deferred tax relating to items charged directly to retained earnings	 	 	 	 7.1	 (9.7)
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments	 	 	 	 30	 0.2	 1.3
Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity	 	 	 	 	 (8.2)	 13.5

Total recognised income for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 123.8	 161.8

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent	 	 	 	 	 	 123.5	 161.6
Minority interest	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3	 0.2
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 123.8	 161.8

Consolidated statement of recognised 
income and expense 
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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1. Business and geographical segments
Business segments
During the year, the Group reviewed the organisation of its businesses and having considered the respective risks and 	
rewards, determined that in order to present more reliable and relevant information regarding the segmentation of its results, 	
a consolidation based on four operating divisions was more appropriate than that based on the six divisions previously presented. 
The new divisions are the basis on which primary segmental information is reported. 

The principal activities of the Group’s operating divisions are:

Cobham Avionics & Surveillance Providing a suite of end-to-end avionics products, law enforcement and national security 
solutions, and satellite communication equipment for land, sea and air applications.

Cobham Defence Electronic Systems Critical technology for network centric operations, moving information around the 
digital battlefield, with customised and off-the-shelf solutions for people and systems 
to communicate on land, sea and air.

Cobham Mission Systems Providing safety and survival systems for extreme environments, nose-to-tail 
refuelling systems and wing-tip to wing-tip mission systems for fast jets, transport 
aircraft and rotor craft.

Cobham Aviation Services Delivering outsourced aviation services for military and civil customers worldwide 
through military training, special mission flight operations, outsourced commercial 
aviation and aircraft engineering.

‘Other Activities’ include head office (net of recoveries), the central project costs relating to the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft 
project and the pre-disposal results of the composites and countermeasures operations disposed of during 2006. 

Details for these primary segments are shown below. As required by IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors, comparatives have been restated following the divisional reorganisation. 

	 	 	 Defence	 	 	 	 	
	 	 Avionics &	 Electronic	 Mission	 Aviation	 Other	 	
£m	 	 Surveillance	 Systems	 Systems	 Services	 Activities	 Total
Revenue
Year to 31 December 2007
Revenue	 	 326.9	 299.9	 262.8	 192.5	 (1.1)	
Inter-segmental revenue	 	 (12.7)	 (7.8)	 (1.3)	 –	 1.9	
Total third party revenue	 	 314.2	 292.1	 261.5	 192.5	 0.8	 1,061.1

Year to 31 December 2006
Revenue	 	 281.0	 300.7	 253.1	 188.4	 7.1	
Inter-segmental revenue	 	 (12.7)	 (6.5)	 (1.4)	 (0.1)	 2.5	
Third party revenue – continuing operations	 	 268.3	 294.2	 251.7	 188.3	 9.6	 1,012.1
Third party revenue – discontinued operations		 –	 –	 –	 –	 3.6	 3.6
Total third party revenue	 	 268.3	 294.2	 251.7	 188.3	 13.2	 1,015.7

Result
Year to 31 December 2007
Result before joint ventures 	 	 47.0	 67.2	 53.3	 15.6	 (23.1)	 160.0
Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 	 	 –	 –	 –	 5.8	 –	 5.8
Operating profit from continuing operations	 47.0	 67.2	 53.3	 21.4	 (23.1)	 165.8
Portfolio restructuring	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 9.5	 9.5
Costs of terminated acquisition	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 3.9	 3.9
Unrealised loss on revaluation of currency instruments	 –	 –	 –	 –	 5.7	 5.7
Amortisation of intangible assets on acquisition	 4.9	 7.6	 0.8	 0.5	 0.1	 13.9
Total trading profit	 	 51.9	 74.8	 54.1	 21.9	 (3.9)	 198.8

Year to 31 December 2006
Result before joint ventures 	 	 42.1	 67.4	 44.0	 15.3	 15.2	 184.0
Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 	 	 –	 –	 –	 4.7	 –	 4.7
Operating profit from continuing operations	 42.1	 67.4	 44.0	 20.0	 15.2	 188.7
Portfolio restructuring	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (1.5)	 (1.5)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of currency instruments	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (10.8)	 (10.8)
Amortisation of intangible assets on acquisition	 3.8	 4.3	 0.9	 0.1	 –	 9.1
Trading profit from continuing operations	 	 45.9	 71.7	 44.9	 20.1	 2.9	 185.5
Trading profit from discontinued operations	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 0.8	 0.8
Total trading profit	 	 45.9	 71.7	 44.9	 20.1	 3.7	 186.3

Notes to the Group financial statements
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1. Business and geographical segments (continued)
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that are employed by a division in its operating activities. Segment 
assets include intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, investment properties, inventories and trade and other 
receivables. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and provisions. Unallocated assets include tax receivables, 	
cash and bank balances and derivative financial assets. Unallocated liabilities include borrowings, tax liabilities, derivative 	
financial liabilities and retirement benefit obligations.

	 	 	 Defence	 	 	 	 	
	 	 Avionics &	 Electronic	 Mission	 Aviation	 Other	 	
£m	 	 Surveillance	 Systems	 Systems	 Services	 Activities	 Total
As at 31 December 2007
Assets
Segment assets	 	 333.5	 305.6	 249.4	 170.5	 45.5	 1,104.5
Interests in joint ventures	 	 –	 –	 –	 18.8	 –	 18.8
	 	 	 333.5	 305.6	 249.4	 189.3	 45.5	 1,123.3
Unallocated assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 467.5
Consolidated total assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,590.8

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 	 	 79.1	 49.5	 78.7	 45.6	 38.1	 291.0
Unallocated liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 495.7
Consolidated total liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 786.7

As at 31 December 2006
Assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Segment assets	 	 292.1	 303.3	 220.2	 152.3	 60.7	 1,028.6
Interests in joint ventures	 	 –	 –	 –	 15.7	 –	 15.7
	 	 	 292.1	 303.3	 220.2	 168.0	 60.7	 1,044.3
Unallocated assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 390.0
Consolidated total assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,434.3

Liabilities
Segment liabilities	 	 64.0	 41.3	 66.4	 48.3	 31.3	 251.3
Unallocated liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 468.0
Consolidated total liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 719.3

Other information
Capital additions	
Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets both purchased and internally generated are analysed by 
division as follows:

Year to 31 December 2007	 	 6.2	 8.7	 5.0	 48.2	 0.3	 68.4
Year to 31 December 2006	 	 7.5	 9.7	 4.4	 32.1	 0.9	 54.6

Depreciation and amortisation
Year to 31 December 2007	 	 9.6	 14.8	 5.4	 19.9	 0.3	 50.0
Year to 31 December 2006	 	 8.5	 11.6	 5.4	 19.6	 0.5	 45.6

Average number of employees
As at 31 December 2007	 	  2,929 	  2,536 	  1,730 	  1,735 	  60 	  8,990 
As at 31 December 2006	 	  2,727 	  2,769 	  1,914 	  1,718 	  381 	  9,509 
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1. Business and geographical segments (continued)
Geographical segments
Secondary segmental information is presented by geographical area. The main locations of the Group’s operating divisions	
are as follows:
	 	 	 Other EU	 	 	 Rest of	
	 	 UK	 countries	 USA	 Australia	 the world
Avionics & Surveillance	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Defence Electronic Systems	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Mission Systems	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Aviation Services	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 Other EU	 	 	 Rest of	
£m	 	 UK	 countries	 USA	 Australia	 the world	 Total
Revenue
Revenue is analysed by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods and services. 
Year to 31 December 2007
Continuing operations	 	 138.8	 175.4	 498.8	 123.4	 124.7	 1,061.1

Year to 31 December 2006
Continuing operations	 	 153.0	 166.4	 464.9	 119.7	 108.1	 1,012.1
Discontinued operations	 	 3.3	 –	 –	 –	 0.3	 3.6
	 	 	 156.3	 166.4	 464.9	 119.7	 108.4	 1,015.7

Segment assets
Segment assets include assets of joint ventures but exclude unallocated segment assets.

As at 31 December 2007	 	 413.5	 127.6	 436.6	 90.2	 55.4	 1,123.3
As at 31 December 2006	 	 379.9	 118.3	 437.8	 72.2	 36.1	 1,044.3

Capital additions
Capital additions include additions to property, plant and equipment and both purchased and internally generated intangible 
assets.

Year to 31 December 2007	 	 15.9	 2.8	 7.9	 40.9	 0.9	 68.4
Year to 31 December 2006	 	 18.1	 2.0	 8.4	 24.4	 1.7	 54.6

Average number of employees by geographical area

As at 31 December 2007	 	 2,426	 1,112	 3,682	 1,024	 746	 8,990
As at 31 December 2006	 	 2,922	 1,221	 3,605	 988	 773	 9,509

2. Revenue and profit for the year
Revenue	
Revenue, both from continuing and discontinued operations, comprises income from the sale of goods and services during 	
the year.

Sales of services arise primarily in the Cobham Aviation Services division. The Group’s revenue from continuing operations 	
can be analysed as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Revenue from sale of goods	 	 	 	 	 	 850.5	 802.4
Revenue from services	 	 	 	 	 	 210.6	 209.7
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,061.1	 1,012.1

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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2. Revenue and profit for the year (continued)
Profit for the year
The profit for the year from continuing operations is after charging/(crediting):
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Staff costs	 	 	 	 	 9	 326.2	 323.4
Materials costs of goods sold	 	 	 	 	 	 344.2	 318.0
Research and development costs	 	 	 	 	 	 55.0	 49.1
Property rental income	 	 	 	 	 	 (2.1)	 (1.9)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		 	 	 	 15	 	
	 – owned assets	 	 	 	 	 	 35.0	 36.0
	 – under finance leases	 	 	 	 	 	 0.1	 –
Depreciation of investment properties	 	 	 	 	 16	 0.2	 0.2
Amortisation of intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 13	 	
	 – intangible assets recognised on business combinations		 	 	 	 13.8	 9.1
	 – other intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 	 0.9	 0.5
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 (1.5)	 (2.6)
Operating lease rentals
	 – Aircraft	 	 	 	 	 	 2.7	 7.3
	 – Other including plant & machinery and property	 	 	 	 	 8.7	 8.9
Costs of terminated acquisition	 	 	 	 	 	 3.9	 –
Portfolio restructuring	 	 	 	 	 8	 9.5	 (1.5)
Net realised foreign exchange gains	 	 	 	 	 	 (7.8)	 (2.7)

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in administrative expenses. Research and development costs for discontinued 
operations were £nil (2006: £0.2m).

During the year the Group (including overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors at costs 	
as detailed below:
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts		 	 0.7	 0.7
	 	 	 	
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:
– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation	 	 	 	 0.8	 0.8
– Other services relating to taxation	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3	 0.6
– Services relating to corporate finance transactions (terminated acquisition)	 	 	 0.5	 –
– All other services	 	 	 	 	 	 0.1	 0.1

Amounts paid to other auditors 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.1

In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £26,713 (2006: £26,078) for audit of the Group’s pension schemes. 

A description of the work of the audit committee is set out in the Corporate Governance statement on pages 31 to 34 and includes an 
explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditors.

3. Finance income and expense
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Finance income:
Bank interest 	 	 	 	 	 	 20.3	 21.2
Expected return on pension scheme assets	 	 	 	 	 10	 28.1	 25.3
Other interest	 	 	 	 	 	 0.6	 0.8
Total finance income	 	 	 	 	 	 49.0	 47.3

Finance expense:
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans	 	 	 	 	 	 (17.7)	 (27.5)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities	 	 	 	 	 10	 (22.7)	 (22.5)
Other interest	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.9)	 (0.7)
Total finance expense	 	 	 	 	 	 (41.3)	 (50.7)

Net finance income/(expense)	 	 	 	 	 	 7.7	 (3.4)

Included in bank interest received in 2006 is £0.1m relating to discontinued operations.

Net finance income excluding interest on pension schemes amounts to £2.3m (2006: expense £6.2m). Borrowing costs of £2.1m 
(2006: £1.6m) have been capitalised on qualifying assets in connection with the Sentinel contract at the Group’s external borrowing rate.
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4. Income tax expense
	 	 	 	 	
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Current tax	 	 	 	 	 	 44.0	 44.2
Deferred tax	 	 	 	 	 23	 3.3	 6.6
Total tax charge for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 47.3	 50.8

In 2006, the tax charge included a £0.3m charge to current tax and a £0.2m credit to deferred tax in respect of 	
discontinued operations. 

The total income tax expense is analysed between UK and overseas tax as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
United Kingdom	 	 	 	 	 	 20.4	 33.7
Overseas	 	 	 	 	 	 26.9	 17.1
Total tax charge for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 47.3	 50.8

Tax charge included in share of post-tax results of joint ventures	 	 	 	 1.7	 1.4

Income tax for the UK is calculated at the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 30% (2006: 30%) of the estimated assessable 
profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Profit before tax:
– continuing operations	 	 	 	 	 	 173.5	 185.2
– discontinued operations	 	 	 	 	 	 5.8	 13.9
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 179.3	 199.1

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 30.0% (2006: 30.0%)	 	 	 	 53.8	 59.7
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.7)	 (1.4)
Profit on disposals and other income not subject to tax	 	 	 	 	 (1.8)	 (5.8)
Effect of differences in overseas taxation rates	 	 	 	 	 3.7	 3.5
Expenditure qualifying for additional R&D tax deduction	 	 	 	 	 (3.1)	 (2.3)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years	 	 	 	 	 (3.0)	 (3.1)
Impact of change in UK tax rate and other items	 	 	 	 	 (0.6)	 0.2
Total tax charge for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 47.3	 50.8

In addition to the income tax expense charged to the income statement, a deferred tax credit of £7.3m (2006: £8.4m charge) 	
has been recognised in equity in the year as shown in the statement of recognised income and expense (see also note 23). 

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK has changed from 30% to 28%, effective from 1 April 2008. This has reduced 
deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2007 by £0.7m and will further reduce future UK tax charges. 

5. Dividends
The following dividends were authorised and paid during the year:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Dividends on Ordinary Shares
Final dividend of 2.64p per share for 2006 (2005: 2.40p) 	 	 	 	 	  30.0 	 27.1
Interim dividend of 1.22p per share for 2007 (2006: 1.11p) 	 	 	 	 	 13.8	 12.6
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 43.8	 39.7

In addition to the above, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007 	
of 3.28 pence per share which will absorb an estimated £37.2m of shareholders’ funds. This dividend is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. If authorised, 	
it will be paid on 1 July 2008 to shareholders who are on the register of members as at 30 May 2008. The total dividend in 
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007 will therefore be 4.50 pence per share (2006: 3.75 pence). The total 
amount paid in respect of 2007 will be £51.0m (2006: £42.6m).

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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6. Earnings per ordinary share
From continuing and discontinued operations
	 	 	 	 2007	 	 	 2006
	 	 	 Weighted	 	 	 Weighted	
	 	 	 average	 	 	 average	 	
	 	 	 number	 Per-share	 	 number	 Per-share	
	 	 Earnings	 of shares	 amount	 Earnings	 of shares	 amount	
	 	 £m	 million	 pence	 £m	 million	 pence
Basic earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders	 	 131.7	 1,134.0	 11.61	 148.1	 1,128.3	 13.13
Effect of dilutive securities:
Options	 	 	 6.4	 	 	 10.9	
Diluted EPS	 	 131.7	 1,140.4	 11.55	 148.1	 1,139.2	 13.00

From continuing operations
	 	 	 	 2007	 	 	 2006
	 	 	 Weighted	 	 	 Weighted	
	 	 	 average	 	 	 average	 	
	 	 	 number	 Per-share	 	 number	 Per-share	
	 	 Earnings	 of shares	 amount	 Earnings	 of shares	 amount	
	 	 £m	 million	 pence	 £m	 million	 pence
Basic earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders	 	 131.7	 	 	 148.1	 	
Earnings from discontinued operations	 	 (5.8)	 	 	 (13.8)	 	
Earnings from continuing operations	 	 125.9	 1,134.0	 11.10	 134.3	 1,128.3	 11.90
Effect of dilutive securities:
Options	 	 	 6.4	 	 	 10.9	
Diluted EPS	 	 125.9	 1,140.4	 11.04	 134.3	 1,139.2	 11.79

7. Underlying profit and earnings per share
In addition to the information required by IAS 33, Earnings per share, the Directors believe that it is helpful to calculate 	
an underlying earnings per share figure. 

Underlying earnings exclude the impacts of the amortisation of intangible assets recognised on acquisition, fair value 
adjustments to inventory on acquisition, the marking to market of currency instruments not realised in the period and 
impairments of goodwill. There has been no impairment to goodwill in the current or comparative periods.

Underlying earnings also exclude portfolio restructuring costs, which comprise exceptional profits or losses arising on disposals 
actually completed during the period, as well as exceptional costs or profits associated with the restructuring of the Group’s 
business and property portfolio, and direct costs associated with exceptional terminated acquisitions.
 

	 	 	 	 2007	 	 	 2006
	 	 	 	 	 Continuing 	 Discontinued 	 	
£m	 	 	 Note	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total
Revenue	 	 	 	 1,061.1	 1,012.1	 3.6	 1,015.7

Operating profit	 	 	 	 165.8	 188.7	 0.8	 189.5
Loss/(gain) on portfolio restructuring	 	 	 8 	 9.5	 (1.5)	 –	 (1.5)
Unrealised loss/(gain) on revaluation of currency instruments	 26 	 5.7	 (10.8)	 –	 (10.8)
Costs of terminated acquisition	 	 	 	 3.9	 –	 –	 –
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on 	
acquisition including fair value adjustment	 	 	 	 13.9	 9.1	 –	 9.1
Trading profit	 	 	 	 198.8	 185.5	 0.8	 186.3
Net finance income/(expense)	 	 	 3	 7.7	 (3.5)	 0.1	 (3.4)
Underlying profit before taxation	 	 	 	 206.5	 182.0	 0.9	 182.9
Taxation charge on underlying profit	 	 	 	 (57.8)	 (51.0)	 (0.1)	 (51.1)
Minority interest	 	 	 	 (0.3)	 (0.2)	 –	 (0.2)
Underlying profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders	 	 148.4	 130.8	 0.8	 131.6

Underlying basic EPS	 	 	 	 13.09p	 	 	 11.66p
Underlying diluted EPS 	 	 	 	 13.01p	 	 	 11.55p

Underlying administrative expenses amounted to £89.5m (2006: £95.0m). This excludes portfolio restructuring costs, 	
direct costs of the exceptional terminated acquisition and amortisation of intangible assets recognised on acquisition.
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8. Portfolio restructuring
During 2007 the Group undertook a number of restructuring projects. Consolidation of the diving products business based in 
Mississauga, Canada, into existing facilities in Iowa, USA and the integration of the antennas business based in Southampton, 
UK, into the new purpose designed facility in Marlow, UK were both completed. A project to redevelop the Wimborne, UK, 	
site of Cobham Mission Systems has commenced and will continue in 2008. 

In October 2007, £5.8m of contingent consideration was received relating to the sale of the Group’s Countermeasures business 
in 2006. Consistent with the treatment adopted for this business in 2006, the profit on sale that this represents has been treated 
as part of discontinued businesses and excluded from the underlying results of the Group.

During 2006, portfolio restructuring activity was focused on the sale and closure of a number of businesses.

Profits from all of these activities have been excluded from trading profit and underlying earnings for the Group. 	
Restructuring costs and the profit on disposal of continuing activities are included within administrative expenses. 

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Restructuring costs	 	 	 	 	 	 (9.5)	 –
Profit on disposal of continuing activities	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 1.5
Profit on disposal of discontinued activities	 	 	 	 	 33	 5.8	 13.0
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (3.7)	 14.5
Tax effect of portfolio restructuring	 	 	 	 	 	 2.9	 0.7
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.8)	 15.2

9. Employment costs

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Wages and salaries	 	 	 	 	 	 275.2	 273.6
Social security costs	 	 	 	 	 	 31.3	 31.0
Pension costs – defined benefit	 	 	 	 	 10	 6.0	 7.2
	 – defined contribution	 	 	 	 	 10	 9.1	 9.3
Share-based payments	 	 	 	 	 11	 4.6	 3.0
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 326.2	 324.1

Employment costs – continuing operations	 	 	 	 	 	 326.2	 323.4
Employment costs – discontinued operations	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.7
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 326.2	 324.1

10. Retirement benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes
The Group manages a number of defined contribution pension arrangements.

The total expense recognised in the income statement of £9.1m (2006: £9.3m) represents contributions payable to these 
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

There were no significant contributions outstanding at the end of 2007 or 2006 for either the defined benefit or defined 
contribution schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes, the most significant being the Cobham Pension Plan (CPP), which is a 
funded defined benefit scheme. The assets of all of these schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the 
control of trustees. From 1 January 2003, new employees in the UK have only been able to join the defined contribution scheme. In 
the USA, the Carleton Technologies defined benefit scheme has been closed to new members from 13 December 2003.

Special contributions of £5.3m were paid in 2007 (2006: £5.3m) to the CPP as agreed in connection with the disposal of the 
Fluid and Air group which completed in 2005.

In 2006, further special contributions totalling £6.2m were made to the CPP as part of the settlement of the disposals of Wallop 
Defence Systems Limited and Slingsby Aviation Limited which were completed in 2006. In addition, a settlement gain of £1.7m 
was recognised in 2006 as part of the profit on the disposal of Dräger Aerospace GmbH, and a curtailment gain of £1.0m was 
recognised as part of the profit on the disposal of Wallop Defence Systems Limited and Slingsby Aviation Limited.	

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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10. Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
Actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations for the CPP are carried out on a 
triennial basis by qualified independent actuaries, the most recent valuation was as at 1 April 2006. The actuarial valuations were 
updated by qualified independent actuaries for accounting purposes to 31 December 2007. Actuarial valuations of other schemes 
have been carried out at regular intervals as required by the applicable country regulations.

For the purposes of IAS 19, the principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 2007	 	 2006
	 	 	 	 UK	 USA	 UK	 USA	
	 	 	 	 Schemes	 Scheme	 Schemes	 Scheme
Rate of increase in salary costs	 	 	 	 3.80%	 3.80%	 3.50%	 3.50%
Discount rate 	 	 	 	 5.82%	 5.82%	 5.10%	 5.60%
Inflation assumption	 	 	 	 3.30%	 3.30%	 3.00%	 3.00%
Expected return on scheme assets 	 	 	 	 6.60%	 7.06%	 6.95%	 7.10%
Pensions increase unless overridden by specific scheme rules	 	 3.30%	 n/a	 3.00%	 n/a

The mortality assumptions used for the CPP are based upon actual recent mortality experiences of members within the scheme 
and also allow for future mortality improvements. The mortality assumption used in 2007 is denoted by actuaries as “PA92 year 
of birth projections medium cohort”. In practical terms this is demonstrated in the table below:
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Further life	
Gender	 	 	 	 	 Year of birth	 Year age 65	 expectancy
Male	 	 	 	 	 1942	 2007	 21.9 years
Male	 	 	 	 	 1980	 2045	 23.7 years

The mortality assumption used for the CPP at 31 December 2006 was “PA92 projected by individual year” demonstrated 	
as follows: 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Further life	
Gender	 	 	 	 	 Year of birth	 Year age 65	  expectancy
Male	 	 	 	 	 1940	 2005	 19.5 years
Male	 	 	 	 	 1980	 2045	 21.7 years

At 31 December 2007 it has been assumed that members will commute on average 20% (2006: 20%) of their pension for cash 
at retirement. This implies a full take-up of the permitted 25% (2006: 25%) commutation by approximately 80% (2006: 80%) of 
eligible members on retirement.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes are as follows:

£m		 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006

Present value of funded obligations	 	 	 	 	 	 (457.7)	 (447.8)
Fair value of scheme assets	 	 	 	 	 	 420.5	 418.2
Net liability 	 	 	 	 	 	 (37.2)	 (29.6)

The scheme assets do not include any of the Group’s own financial instruments, nor any property occupied by, or other assets 
used by, the Group.

Amounts recognised in operating profit in respect of the defined benefit schemes are as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Current service cost included in administrative expenses	 	 	 	 	 6.0	 6.9
Past service cost included in administrative expenses	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.3
Gain on curtailment included in profit on disposal	 	 	 	 	 –	 (1.0)
Gain on settlement included in profit on disposal	 	 	 	 	 –	 (1.7)

Amounts credited/(charged) to other finance income/expense

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Expected return on pension scheme assets	 	 	 	 	 3	 28.1	 25.3
Interest on pension scheme liabilities	 	 	 	 	 3	 (22.7)	 (22.5)
Net return	 	 	 	 	 	 5.4	 2.8
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10. Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
Amount recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE):

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets	 	 	 	 (31.2)	 13.2
Experience (losses)/gains arising on scheme liabilities	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)	 0.8
Exchange differences	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.2
Changes in assumptions underlying present value of scheme liabilities	 	 	 	 7.8	 18.6
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in SORIE	 	 	 	 	 	 (23.7)	 32.8

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense since 
transition to IFRS is £42.1m loss (2006: £18.4m loss).

The actual return on scheme assets was £3.1m loss (2006: gain £38.5m).

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Opening defined benefit obligations	 	 	 	 	 	 447.8	 451.3
Current service cost	 	 	 	 	 	 6.0	 6.9
Past service cost	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.3
Interest cost	 	 	 	 	 	 22.7	 22.5
Actuarial gains	 	 	 	 	 	 (7.5)	 (19.4)
Contributions by members	 	 	 	 	 	 2.4	 2.8
NI rebates	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0	 1.0
Gains on curtailments	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (1.0)
Gains on settlements	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (1.7)
Exchange differences	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.2)	 (1.3)
Benefits paid	 	 	 	 	 	 (14.5)	 (13.6)
Closing defined benefit obligations	 	 	 	 	 	 457.7	 447.8

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Opening fair value of scheme assets	 	 	 	 	 	 418.2	 370.3
Expected return	 	 	 	 	 	 28.1	 25.3
Actuarial (losses)/gains	 	 	 	 	 	 (31.2)	 13.2
Contributions by members	 	 	 	 	 	 2.4	 2.8
NI rebates	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0	 1.0
Contributions by employers	 	 	 	 	 	 11.4	 8.8
Special contributions	 	 	 	 	 	 5.3	 11.5
Exchange differences	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.2)	 (1.1)
Benefits paid	 	 	 	 	 	 (14.5)	 (13.6)
Closing fair value of scheme assets	 	 	 	 	 	 420.5	 418.2

The Group expects to contribute £16.8m to its defined benefit pension schemes in 2008. 

The fair value of major categories of scheme assets, and as a percentage of total scheme assets are as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 2007	 	 2006

	 	 	 	 	 £m	 %	 £m	 %

Equity instruments	 	 	 	 229.4	 54.6%	 243.2	 58.1%
Debt instruments	 	 	 	 157.4	 37.4%	 118.6	 28.4%
Property	 	 	 	 27.7	 6.6%	 27.9	 6.7%
Other assets	 	 	 	 6.0	 1.4%	 28.5	 6.8%
	 	 	 	 	 420.5	 100.0%	 418.2	 100.0%

The expected rates of return on individual categories of scheme assets are determined by reference to relevant indices published 
by, for example, the London Stock Exchange. The overall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in 
accordance with the anticipated balance in the scheme’s investment portfolio.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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10. Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
The history of the scheme for the current and previous four periods is as follows:

£m	 	 	 2007	 2006	 2005	 2004	 2003
Present value of defined benefit obligations	 	 	 (457.7)	 (447.8)	 (451.3)	 (363.2)	 (326.1)
Fair value of scheme assets	 	 	 420.5	 418.2	 370.3	 294.2	 254.9
Deficit	 	 	 (37.2)	 (29.6)	 (81.0)	 (69.0)	 (71.2)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities	 	 	 (0.3)	 0.8	 (9.9)	 (5.4)	 2.1
Experience adjustments on scheme assets	 	 	 (31.2)	 13.2	 33.1	 8.8	 20.3
	
Note that historical data for 2003 is as stated under UK GAAP, FRS 17, Retirement benefits.

Other retirement benefit schemes
A number of the Group’s subsidiaries based in France contribute to a retirement indemnity scheme. The liabilities of the scheme 
were valued by an independent actuary as at 31 December 2006 at €2.9m and are recorded in these financial statements at 
£2.1m (2006: £2.0m). These liabilities are included in other liabilities in note 21. The actuarial loss for the year to 31 December 2007 
as recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense was £nil (2006: £0.5m). 

11. Share-based payments
The total expense for share-based payments is as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Equity settled share-based payment schemes		 	 	 	 	 4.4	 2.8
Cash settled share-based payment schemes	 	 	 	 	 	 0.2	 0.2
Total share-based payments	 	 	 	 	 	 4.6	 3.0

In addition, in 2006, a further £0.3m was credited to reserves in connection with discontinued operations. 

Details of the schemes which give rise to these charges are as follows:

Equity settled share-based payment schemes
The Group operates a number of incentive schemes for certain senior executives as follows: 

 The Cobham Performance Share Plan (PSP); 
 The Cobham Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP); and 
 The Cobham Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS).

The PSP scheme allows for annual grants of conditional shares at nil cost which vest 50% based on the Group’s three-year Total 
Shareholder Return relative to that of a sector comparator group and 50% based on the growth of the Group’s EPS over the 
same period. The PSP was approved at the AGM held on 6 June 2007 and replaces the LTIP scheme.

Under the LTIP scheme awards were made at nil cost, vesting over a three-year performance period based on the Group’s Total 
Shareholder Return relative to that of a comparator group and also conditional upon the Group’s EPS growth over the same period.

Under the ESOS, options are granted at a price not less than the market value of the Group’s ordinary shares on, or shortly 
before, the date the options are granted. Exercise is conditional upon the Group’s EPS growth over a three-year period. A new 
section has been added to the ESOS scheme during 2007 under which options are granted with 25% vesting on each annual 
anniversary conditional only on continued employment within the Group. 

Further details of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 35 to 41. 

In addition, entry to the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme (ShareSave) is available to all employees of participating 
subsidiaries. Employees may purchase the Group’s shares at 80% of the closing market price on the date of grant during a two-
week period each year, up to a maximum contribution value of £3,000 in any one year. The shares so purchased are generally 
placed in the employee’s share savings plan and will only be released to employees who remain in the Group’s employment for 	
a period of three years from the date of grant. 
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11. Share-based payments (continued)
Details of the share options are as follows:

Number of share options	 	 	 	 PSP	 LTIP	 ESOS	 ShareSave
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 –	 3,867,536 	 16,081,427 	 16,168,325 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 – 	 1,183,165 	 2,927,328 	 1,752,463 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 – 	 (60,095)	 (516,218)	 (396,621)
Exercised 	 	 	 	 –	 – 	 (2,982,728)	 (4,921,408)
Expired 	 	 	 	 – 	 (963,590)	 (92,360)	 (2,061,971)
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 –	 4,027,016 	 15,417,449 	 10,540,788 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 1,514,138 	 –	 5,928,893 	 1,735,717 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 (35,697)	 (135,997)	 (562,418)	 (347,295)
Exercised 	 	 	 	 –	 – 	 (2,513,342)	 (2,139,762)
Expired 	 	 	 	 – 	 (1,357,076)	 (19,730)	 (138,162)
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 1,478,441 	 2,533,943 	 18,250,852 	 9,651,286 

Exercisable at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 –	 – 	 5,690,170 	 193,760 
Exercisable at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 – 	 –	 4,950,112 	 –

The weighted average remaining contractual life in years of awards is as follows:
Outstanding at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 2.32	 0.78	 7.59	 2.22
Outstanding at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 – 	 1.34	 7.48	 2.00

Under the ESOS and ShareSave schemes, exercises were made at various times throughout the year. The average share price in 
that period was £2.036 (2006: £1.777). 

All awards under the PSP and LTIP schemes have a nil exercise price. The weighted average exercise prices of awards under the 
ESOS and ShareSave schemes are as follows:

£	 	 	 	 	 	 ESOS	 ShareSave
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 1.224 	 0.939 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 	 	 1.855 	 1.530 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 	 	 1.433 	 1.001 
Exercised 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.032 	 0.819 
Expired 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.194 	 0.997 
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 1.375 	 1.092 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 	 	 2.045 	 1.630 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 	 	 1.537 	 1.205 
Exercised 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.096 	 0.887 
Expired 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.186 	 1.193 
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 1.629 	 1.229 

Exercisable at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 1.213 	 1.093 
Exercisable at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 1.060 	 – 

The range of exercise prices for ESOS and ShareSave awards are as follows:
Outstanding at 31 December 2007
Lowest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 0.619	 0.769
Highest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 2.045	 1.630

Outstanding at 31 December 2006
Lowest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 0.619	 0.691
Highest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 1.898	 1.530

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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11. Share-based payments (continued)
Awards granted or commencing during the current and comparative year are as follows: 

£	 	 	 	 	 PSP	 LTIP	 ESOS	 ShareSave
During 2007:
Effective date of grant or commencement date	 	 	 6 June	 –	 6 June	 1 February
Fair value at date of grant or scheme commencement
– Three-year awards	 	 	 	 1.530	 –	 0.473	 0.560
– Five-year awards	 	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 0.640
– Seven-year awards	 	 	 	 –	 –	 – 	 0.730
Effective date of grant	 	 	 	 12 June	 –	 –	 –
Fair value at date of grant	 	 	 	 1.498	 – 	 – 	 – 

During 2006:
Effective date of grant or commencement date	 	 	 – 	 12 May	 12 May	 1 February
Fair value at date of grant or scheme commencement
– Three-year awards	 	 	 	 – 	 0.903	 0.450	 0.690
– Five-year awards	 	 	 	 – 	 –	 – 	 0.760
– Seven-year awards	 	 	 	 – 	 –	 –	 0.810
Effective date of grant	 	 	 	 – 	14 November	 14 November	 – 
Fair value at date of grant	 	 	 	 – 	 0.909	 0.470	 –

The fair values in the table above were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (modified by a Monte Carlo 
simulation for PSP and LTIP awards) to determine the likely impact of market related performance conditions. The inputs into the 
model were as follows:	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 PSP	 LTIP	 ESOS	 ShareSave
2007
Weighted average share price	 	 	 	 £2.149	 – 	 £2.088	 £1.920
Weighted average exercise price	 	 	 	 nil	 – 	 £2.045	 £1.530
Expected volatility	 	 	 	 24%	 – 	 23%	 24%-27%
Expected life	 	 	 	 3 Years	 – 	 5 Years	 3 – 7 Years
Risk-free rate	 	 	 	 5.6%	 – 	 4.3%	 4.9%
Expected dividend yield	 	 	 	 n/a	 – 	 1.8%	 1.8%

2006
Weighted average share price	 	 	 	 – 	 £1.832	 £1.833	 £1.850
Weighted average exercise price	 	 	 	 – 	 nil	 £1.855	 £1.240
Expected volatility	 	 	 	 – 	 22%	 25%	 22%-27%
Expected life	 	 	 	 – 	 3 Years	 5 Years	 3 – 7 Years
Risk-free rate	 	 	 	 – 	 4.5%	 4.5%	 4.3%
Expected dividend yield	 	 	 	 – 	 1.9%	 1.9%	 1.8%

Expected volatility was determined through the assessment of the historical volatility over a period consistent with the expected 
life of the award. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects 
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.	

Participants of the PSP scheme receive the benefit of dividend payments and therefore dividend yields are not taken into 
consideration in the valuation model.

Cash settled share-based payment schemes
During 2006, the Group issued share appreciation rights (SARs) and awards under a phantom LTIP scheme to certain senior 
executives that require the Group to pay the intrinsic value of the award to the employee at the date of exercise. During 2007, 
4,703 SARs were granted. The expense for the year for these rights is based on the fair value of the outstanding liability at the 
balance sheet date of £0.4m at 31 December 2007 (2006: £0.2m).	

SARs are granted at a price not less than the market value of the Group’s Ordinary Shares on, or shortly before, the date the 
rights are granted. As with the ESOS awards, exercise is conditional upon the Group’s EPS growth over a three-year period and 
is possible between three and 10 years after grant. 

Phantom LTIP awards are made at nil cost, vesting over a three-year performance period based on the Group’s Total Shareholder 
Return relative to that of a comparator group and also conditional upon the Group’s EPS growth over the same period. The 
comparator group and conditions are the same as those which apply for LTIPs, further details of which can be found in the 
Directors’ remuneration report on pages 35 to 41. 
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11. Share-based payments (continued)
Details of the awards are as follows:
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Phantom	
	 	 	 	 	 	 SARs	 LTIPs
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
Granted during the year	 	 	 	 	 912,698 	 101,606 
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 912,698 	 101,606 
Granted during the year	 	 	 	 	 4,703 	 – 
Forfeited during the year	 	 	 	 	 (33,492)	 –
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 883,909 	 101,606 

Exercisable at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 –	 – 
Exercisable at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 – 	 – 

Date of grant	 	 	 	 	 7 February 2007	 – 
Exercise price	 	 	 	 	 £1.898	 –

Date of grant	 	 	 	 	14 November 2006	 14 November 2006
Exercise price	 	 	 	 	 £1.898	 – 

Fair value of awards at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 £0.506	 £0.840
Fair value of awards at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 £0.520	 £0.888

The SAR award made on 7 February 2007 was a late grant of shares under the 14 November 2006 issue. Both awards have 
identical terms and fair values.

These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (modified by a Monte Carlo simulation for 	
the Phantom LTIPs) to determine the likely impact of market related performance conditions. The inputs into the model were 	
as follows:	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Phantom	
	 	 	 	 	 	 SARs	 LTIPs
At 31 December 2007
Share price at date of valuation	 	 	 	 	 	 £2.090	 £2.090
Exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 £1.898	 nil
Expected volatility	 	 	 	 	 	 23%	 24%
Expected life	 	 	 	 	 	 5 Years	 3 Years
Risk-free rate	 	 	 	 	 	 4.7%	 4.7%
Expected dividend yield	 	 	 	 	 	 1.8%	 1.8%

At 31 December 2006
Share price at date of valuation	 	 	 	 	 	 £1.938	 £1.938
Exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 £1.898	 nil
Expected volatility	 	 	 	 	 	 25%	 25%
Expected life	 	 	 	 	 	 5 Years	 3 Years
Risk-free rate	 	 	 	 	 	 5.0%	 5.0%
Expected dividend yield	 	 	 	 	 	 1.8%	 1.8%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued



67	 Cobham plc	 Annual Report and Accounts 2007

12. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement			 
Cash flows from operating activities

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Profit after taxation for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 132.0	 148.3

Adjustments for:
Tax	 	 	 	 	 4	 47.3	 50.8
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures	 	 	 	 	 	 (5.8)	 (4.7)
Finance income	 	 	 	 	 3	 (49.0)	 (47.3)
Finance expense	 	 	 	 	 3	 41.3	 50.7
Depreciation	 	 	 	 	 15,16	 35.3	 36.0
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition including fair value adjustment	 	 13	 14.8	 9.6
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 (1.5)	 (2.6)
Portfolio restructuring	 	 	 	 	 8	 9.5	 (14.5)
Contingent consideration received	 	 	 	 	 33	 (5.8)	 –
Costs of terminated acquisition	 	 	 	 	 	 3.9	 –
Unrealised loss/(gain) on revaluation of currency instruments	 	 	 26	 5.7	 (10.8)
Pension contributions in excess of pension expenditure	 	 	 	 	 (5.5)	 (1.9)
Share-based payments 	 	 	 	 	 11	 4.6	 3.0
Decrease in provisions	 	 	 	 	 	 (2.2)	 (16.8)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 		 	 	 	 224.6	 199.8
Increase in inventories	 	 	 	 	 	 (9.4)	 (20.6)
Increase in trade and other receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 (45.7)	 (16.5)
Increase in trade and other payables	 	 	 	 	 	 29.7	 29.7
Movements in working capital	 	 	 	 	 	 (25.4)	 (7.4)
Cash generated from operations	 	 	 	 	 	 199.2	 192.4

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net cash

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year	 	 	 	 	 69.4	 118.7
Net repayment of borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 7.7	 3.3
Borrowings of undertakings sold	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 9.9
Exchange movements	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.1)	 37.3
Movement in net cash in the year	 	 	 	 	 	 77.0	 169.2
Net cash/(debt) at beginning of year	 	 	 	 	 	 0.9	 (168.3)
Net cash at end of year	 	 	 	 	 	 77.9	 0.9
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13. Intangible assets

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Goodwill	 	 	 	 	 14	 381.8	 381.8
Other intangible assets (as below) 	 	 	 	 	 	 94.3	 100.8
Total intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 	 476.1	 482.6

Movements in other intangible assets are as follows: 
	 	 	 Customer	 Technology	 Development	 	 	
£m	 	 	 lists	 and software	 costs	 Other	 Total
Cost	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 72.8	 25.7	 0.8	 27.5	 126.8
Additions – purchased	 	 	 –	 0.2	 –	 1.2	 1.4
Additions – internally generated	 	 	 –	 0.1	 0.2	 –	 0.3
Recognised on business combinations	 	 	 1.3	 7.0	 –	 0.3	 8.6
Disposed on sale of undertakings	 	 	 (0.9)	 (0.1)	 –	 (1.1)	 (2.1)
Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 	 (7.4)	 (4.3)	 –	 (3.1)	 (14.8)
Disposals	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 (0.1)	 (0.1)
Reclassifications	 	 	 7.5	 1.7	 –	 0.7	 9.9
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 73.3	 30.3	 1.0	 25.4	 130.0
Additions – purchased	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 0.5	 0.5
Additions – internally generated	 	 	 –	 –	 0.2	 –	 0.2
Recognised on business combinations	 	 	 4.8	 2.6	 –	 0.9	 8.3
Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 	 (1.3)	 (0.3)	 –	 0.2	 (1.4)
Disposals	 	 	 –	 –	 (0.2)	 (0.3)	 (0.5)
Reclassifications	 	 	 –	 (0.6)	 –	 1.5	 0.9
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 76.8	 32.0	 1.0	 28.2	 138.0

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 3.2	 12.0	 0.4	 7.1	 22.7
Charge for the year	 	 	 9.1	 (4.9)	 –	 5.4	 9.6
Eliminated on disposal of undertakings	 	 	 (0.2)	 –	 –	 (0.2)	 (0.4)
Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 	 (0.7)	 (1.1)	 –	 (1.0)	 (2.8)
Disposals	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 (0.1)	 (0.1)
Reclassifications	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 0.2	 0.2
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 11.4	 6.0	 0.4	 11.4	 29.2
Charge for the year	 	 	 7.1	 3.7	 0.1	 3.8	 14.7
Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 	 (0.2)	 –	 –	 0.2	 –
Disposals	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 (0.3)	 (0.3)
Reclassifications	 	 	 –	 (0.2)	 –	 0.3	 0.1
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 18.3	 9.5	 0.5	 15.4	 43.7

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 58.5	 22.5	 0.5	 12.8	 94.3
At 31 December 2006	 	 	 61.9	 24.3	 0.6	 14.0	 100.8

Reclassifications include balances transferred from goodwill following a re-assessment of the fair values of acquired intangible assets.

Values ascribed to customer lists represent the fair value of acquired customer lists, contracts and other related customer 
relationships, both contractual and non-contractual, held by the acquired company at time of entry into the Group.

Values ascribed to technology and software represent the fair value of acquired trade secrets and processes, patented and 
unpatented technology and know how held by the acquired company at time of entry into the Group. This category also includes 
the purchase of technology and software rights and licences, where it is appropriate to recognise such items as assets.

Values ascribed to development costs represent the directly attributable costs of internally generated development knowledge 
from the point at which an individual project meets the requirements for capitalisation until it is available for utilisation in the 
business. Values ascribed to other intangible assets represent purchased and acquired patents, licences and trademarks and 
order backlog. All of these assets are recognised at fair value and are amortised over their estimated useful lives.	

Fair values of acquired intangible assets have been assessed by reference to the future estimated cash flows arising from the 
application of assets, discounted at a post-tax rate of 7.6% (2006: 7.5%) to present value.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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14. Goodwill

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total 
Cost
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 424.0
Arising on business combinations	 	 	 	 	 	 	 13.5
Resulting from movements in contingent consideration	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.2)
Eliminated on disposal of undertakings	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (28.7)
Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (17.4)
Reclassification	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (9.4)
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 381.8
Arising on business combinations	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.6
Resulting from movements in contingent consideration	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.0)
Eliminated on closure of operation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)
Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.5
Reclassification to intangible assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.8)
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 381.8

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2006 and 2007, and 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 –

Carrying amount	 	 	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 381.8
At 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 381.8

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to 
benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill arising on acquisitions during 2007 has been allocated 
as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total 
Patriot Antenna Systems – Cobham Avionics & Surveillance division	 	 	 	 	 0.5
ADDE – Cobham Mission Systems division	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.6

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during 
the period for which management have detailed plans. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU being measured. The growth rates 	
are based on GDP of the primary market for the CGU, adjusted to recognise an estimate of the historic and projected premium 
associated with the high technological content associated with the business. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based 
on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the 
most recent financial budgets approved by management for the coming year and extrapolates cash flows after that period based 
on growth rates as described above. Where these projections are not appropriate to the prospects of particular businesses, 
longer-term financial plans have been prepared.

The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 10.6% (2006: 10.5%). 

Following detailed review, no impairment losses have been recognised in the period and no prior impairment losses reversed.

The goodwill allocated to two CGUs is considered to be individually significant. REMEC Defense and Space Inc, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Group, has £42.2m of goodwill allocated to it and no other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Conax 
Florida Corporation has £43.4m of goodwill and no other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. The recoverable amount 
associated with this goodwill has been determined on a value in use basis. Key assumptions are as follows:

 �The authorised plans for the companies which have been extrapolated in perpetuity using a growth rate of 4.8% and 
discounted to a present value using the Group assumption of 10.6%. Growth rate is based on US GDP adjusted to reflect 	
a premium for the nature of the CGU’s business.
 �Sensitivity analysis has determined that the discount rate of 10.6% is the most influential assumption on the outcome of the 
recoverable amount calculation. The recoverable amount of Remec and Conax exceed the total carrying value of assets for 	
the CGU by £325.6m and £115.0m respectively; the discount rate would need to increase to 19.1% for Remec and 21.6% 	
for Conax in order for the carrying value to be impaired.

The remainder of the goodwill is allocated to various CGUs across the Group, no individual amounts other than those disclosed 
above are considered individually significant.
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15. Property, plant and equipment
	 	 	 	 Plant and	 	 Payments	 	
	 	 	 Land and Buildings	 machinery	 Fixtures	 on account	 	
	 	 	 	 (including	 fittings	 and assets	
	 	 Long	 Short	 aircraft &	 tools and	 under 	 	
£m	 Freehold	 leases	 leases	 vehicles)	 equipment	 construction	 Total
Cost	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2006	 73.3	 19.2	 4.5	 348.4	 56.7	 1.5	 503.6
Additions	 3.0	 3.0	 0.3	 40.2	 4.1	 2.3	 52.9
Acquired with business combinations	 –	 –	 –	 1.0	 0.1	 –	 1.1
Disposal of undertakings	 (2.4)	 –	 (0.1)	 (15.0)	 (2.7)	 (0.4)	 (20.6)
Disposals	 (11.9)	 –	 –	 (10.0)	 (5.8)	 –	 (27.7)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 (2.9)	 (0.5)	 (0.5)	 (12.2)	 (2.9)	 (0.2)	 (19.2)
Reclassifications	 (3.1)	 (0.2)	 –	 (2.2)	 1.3	 (1.0)	 (5.2)
At 1 January 2007	 56.0	 21.5	 4.2	 350.2	 50.8	 2.2	 484.9
Additions	 1.4	 0.7	 0.2	 57.4	 7.1	 0.9	 67.7
Acquired with business combinations	 0.9	 –	 –	 1.3	 0.3	 0.1	 2.6
Disposals	 (0.5)	 (0.1)	 (0.2)	 (34.2)	 (5.0)	 –	 (40.0)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 0.9	 (0.1)	 (0.1)	 12.6	 1.3	 –	 14.6
Reclassifications	 (1.1)	 1.5	 –	 0.6	 (0.3)	 (1.7)	 (1.0)
At 31 December 2007	 57.6	 23.5	 4.1	 387.9	 54.2	 1.5	 528.8

Accumulated depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2006	 16.3	 4.1	 1.8	 235.0	 43.6	 –	 300.8
Depreciation charge for the year	 1.8	 0.6	 0.4	 28.5	 4.7	 –	 36.0
Eliminated on disposal of undertakings	 (0.7)	 –	 –	 (9.1)	 (2.5)	 –	 (12.3)
Eliminated on disposals	 (0.3)	 –	 –	 (9.2)	 (5.6)	 –	 (15.1)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 (0.7)	 (0.2)	 (0.2)	 (6.6)	 (2.2)	 –	 (9.9)
Reclassifications	 (1.5)	 0.4	 (0.1)	 (2.3)	 1.3	 –	 (2.2)
At 1 January 2007	 14.9	 4.9	 1.9	 236.3	 39.3	 –	 297.3
Depreciation charge for the year	 1.8	 0.7	 0.4	 27.5	 4.7	 –	 35.1
Eliminated on disposals	 (0.2)	 –	 (0.2)	 (10.6)	 (4.7)	 –	 (15.7)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 0.2	 –	 –	 7.2	 0.9	 –	 8.3
At 31 December 2007	 16.7	 5.6	 2.1	 260.4	 40.2	 –	 325.0

Carrying amount	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2007	 40.9	 17.9	 2.0	 127.5	 14.0	 1.5	 203.8
At 31 December 2006	 41.1	 16.6	 2.3	 113.9	 11.5	 2.2	 187.6

Reclassifications in 2007 and 2006 include transfers to investment properties.

The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and machinery includes an amount of £0.9m (2006: £0.8m) in respect of assets held 
under finance leases. These assets are held as security against the finance lease liabilities. 

16. Investment properties	
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total
Cost	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2006 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 4.1
Reclassifications	 	 	 	 	 	 	 3.5
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 7.6
Reclassifications	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 8.6

Accumulated depreciation	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.1
Reclassifications	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.9
Depreciation charge for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.2
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.2
Depreciation charge for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.2
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.4

Carrying amount	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 7.2
At 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 6.4

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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16. Investment properties (continued)
Following reorganisation and consolidation of property utilisation at the Group’s research and development facilities in 
Leatherhead, UK, a portion of the site has been reclassified as investment property.

All of the Group’s investment properties are held under freehold interests and are valued under the cost model.

Property rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties amounted to £1.3m (2006: £1.0m), which is net of all 
direct costs associated with the leasing of the property, save for depreciation. The buildings are leased to commercial users on 
operating leases with terms of between 3 and 25 years, commencing in 1998, 2004 and 2006.	

The fair value of the investment properties has been assessed to be £13.8m (2006: £12.1m). For 2007 this is based on estimated 
market prices provided by external valuers, Vail Williams LLP, as at 31 December 2007. For 2006 the fair value was based on 
estimated market prices provided by the agents who managed the properties on the Group’s behalf. 

17. Investments in joint ventures

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Group’s share of net assets of joint ventures (as below)	 	 	 	 	 18.8	 15.7

The Group has the following interests in joint ventures within the Aviation Services division:
a) 45% of the voting share capital in Aviation Défense Service SA, a company incorporated in France.
b) 50% of the voting share capital in FB Heliservices Limited, a company incorporated in England.
c) 50% of the voting share capital in FBS Limited, a company incorporated in England.
d) 50% of the voting share capital in FB Leasing Limited, a company incorporated in England.

Notwithstanding the fact that the holding is 45%, governance structures for Aviation Défense Service SA are such that the 
Group has joint control with its partner and therefore the investment is treated as a joint venture.

The share of the balance sheets and income statements of the joint ventures which has been included in the consolidated 
financial statements is as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Current assets	 	 	 	 	 	 25.7	 20.3
Non-current assets	 	 	 	 	 	 39.0	 42.7
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 64.7	 63.0

Current liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 (13.7)	 (12.8)
Non-current liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 (32.2)	 (34.5)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (45.9)	 (47.3)

Net assets	 	 	 	 	 	 18.8	 15.7

Income	 	 	 	 	 	 35.7	 35.2
Expenses	 	 	 	 	 	 (28.0)	 (28.4)

18. Inventories

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Raw materials and consumables	 	 	 	 	 	 80.1	 80.7
Work in progress	 	 	 	 	 	 111.2	 96.1
Finished goods and goods for resale	 	 	 	 	 	 18.4	 19.0
Allowance for obsolescence	 	 	 	 	 	 (32.5)	 (29.7)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 177.2	 166.1
Payments on account	 	 	 	 	 	 (7.1)	 (5.9)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 170.1	 160.2

Included in inventories above is £0.6m (2006: £nil) held at fair value less costs to sell.

During the year £6.3m (2006: £7.1m) was provided, £4.3m (2006: £6.6m) was utilised and £0.7m (2006: £1.2m) of the allowance 
for obsolescence was reversed. This allowance is reviewed by the Directors on a regular basis and further amounts are provided 
or released as considered necessary. The amounts are generally determined based on factors which include ageing and known 
demand. Subsequent events may give rise to these estimates being revised and, consequently, to reversal of amounts previously 
provided. £8.0m (2006: £0.8m) of inventory was also written off directly to the income statement.

Inventory will be realised within the normal operating cycle of the businesses, which in some cases may be more than 12 months. 
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19. Trade and other receivables
19a. Current

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Trade receivables (net of provision for impairment)	 	 	 	 	 189.5	 148.3
Amounts recoverable on contracts	 	 	 	 	 	 5.8	 4.0
Other receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 11.7	 8.1
Prepayments and accrued income	 	 	 	 	 	 29.6	 22.2
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 236.6	 182.6

19b. Non-current

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Trade receivables (net of provision for impairment)	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.1
Amounts recoverable on contracts	 	 	 	 	 	 0.1	 0.1
Other receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 10.6	 9.0
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10.7	 9.2

Other receivables includes £9.4m (2006: £8.0m) which will be received in 2012.

19c. Impairment of trade receivables

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Trade receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 190.7	 150.1
Provision for impairment of trade receivables 	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.2)	 (1.8)
Net trade receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 189.5	 148.3
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Included in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are specific trade receivables and amounts owed by specific 
customers where recovery of the balance due is considered by the management to be less than certain. All trade receivables 
which are more than 12 months overdue are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and 
services, determined by reference to past default experience. Amounts which are less than 12 months overdue are provided 
where recovery of the balance due is considered to be in doubt.

Movements in the provision for impaired trade receivables during the year are as follows: 

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
At 1 January	 	 	 	 	 	 1.8	 2.1
Additional provision	 	 	 	 	 	 0.5	 0.5
Utilised	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.5)	 (0.5)
Unused amounts reversed	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.6)	 (0.1)
Disposed	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (0.1)
Foreign exchange movements	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (0.1)
At 31 December	 	 	 	 	 	 1.2	 1.8

The creation and reversal of the provision for impaired trade receivables have been included in administrative expenses in the 
income statement.

The total amounts and ageing of impaired trade receivables, against which £1.2m (2006: £1.8m) has been provided, 	
are as follows: 

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Due at 31 December	 	 	 	 	 	 0.6	 0.5
1 month overdue	 	 	 	 	 	 0.5	 0.2
2 months overdue	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3	 0.2
3 or more months overdue	 	 	 	 	 	 1.3	 1.3
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2.7	 2.2

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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19. Trade and other receivables (continued)
19c. Impairment of trade receivables (continued)
The following trade receivables are past due but not considered to be impaired as there is no recent history of default by 	
these customers: 
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Due at 31 December	 	 	 	 	 	 22.8	 19.7
1 month overdue	 	 	 	 	 	 7.8	 6.0
2 months overdue	 	 	 	 	 	 2.9	 3.3
3 or more months overdue	 	 	 	 	 	 4.1	 5.4
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 37.6	 34.4

Based on previous experience, the Group believes that no additional impairment provision is necessary in respect of trade 
receivables which are not overdue. The credit quality of the Group’s trade receivables is considered by management to be very 
good as a high proportion of customers are government agencies or large global companies with whom the Group trades on a 
long-term basis. This is further evidenced by the low rates of impairments provided and amounts written off. Information 
concerning credit risk is shown in note 28. 

Other classes of financial assets within trade and other receivables do not include any impaired assets. 	

19d. Currency analysis
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Sterling	 	 	 	 	 	 80.1	 54.9
US dollars	 	 	 	 	 	 106.7	 87.1
Australian dollars	 	 	 	 	 	 13.5	 10.1
Euros 	 	 	 	 	 	 40.9	 33.6
Other currencies	 	 	 	 	 	 6.1	 6.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 247.3	 191.8

20. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months 
or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement:
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet	 	 	 	 	 	 444.5	 364.3
Bank overdrafts	 	 	 	 	 	 (12.5)	 (3.9)
Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement	 	 	 	 	 432.0	 360.4

Cash and cash equivalents include term deposits in Australia of AUS$10.0m (£4.4m, 2006: £4.1m) and US$1.0m (£0.5m, 2006: 
£0.5m). These term deposits currently satisfy a requirement to provide security over the residual value of leased assets under 	
an agreement which expires in 2020.

21. Trade and other payables
21a. Current liabilities
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Payments received on account	 	 	 	 	 	 26.9	 25.1
Trade payables	 	 	 	 	 	 86.5	 77.2
Bills of exchange payable	 	 	 	 	 	 2.5	 2.8
Payroll and other taxes including social security	 	 	 	 	 11.0	 10.9
Accruals and deferred income	 	 	 	 	 	 75.5	 50.7
Other liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 18.2	 15.9
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 220.6	 182.6

21b. Non-current liabilities
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Payments received on account	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3	 –
Accruals and deferred income	 	 	 	 	 	 3.2	 3.1
Other liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 7.1	 4.7
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10.6	 7.8
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22. Provisions

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Current liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 29.5	 38.0
Non-current liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 30.3	 22.9
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 59.8	 60.9

Movements in provisions during the year are as follows:
	 	 	 	 Contract	 Aircraft	
	 	 Contingent	 Warranty	 loss	 maintenance	 	 	
£m	 	 consideration	 claims	 provisions	 provisions	 Other	 Total
At 1 January 2007	 	 14.8	 3.8	 5.4	 7.5	 29.4	 60.9
Reclassification from accruals	 	 –	 0.3	 (0.3)	 –	 1.6	 1.6
Additional provisions in the year	 	 3.1	 2.7	 2.7	 2.5	 4.0	 15.0
Created on closure of operation	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 0.1	 0.1
Utilisation of provisions	 	 (4.3)	 (1.6)	 (3.0)	 (1.2)	 (3.9)	 (14.0)
Unused amounts reversed in the year	 	 –	 (0.8)	 (0.4)	 (1.6)	 (2.4)	 (5.2)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 	 –	 0.1	 0.2	 0.7	 0.4	 1.4
At 31 December 2007	 	 13.6	 4.5	 4.6	 7.9	 29.2	 59.8

Closing balances are analysed as:
Current liabilities	 	 1.5	 4.0	 3.6	 2.3	 18.1	 29.5
Non-current liabilities	 	 12.1	 0.5	 1.0	 5.6	 11.1	 30.3
	 	 	 13.6	 4.5	 4.6	 7.9	 29.2	 59.8

Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration has been provided for where it is considered probable that the conditions applicable to the payment 	
of contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions made by the Group in current and previous years will be met. The amount 
provided is therefore the amount considered likely to be payable in the event of these conditions being met. Arrangements of 
this nature vary, but may typically extend for up to five years and are discounted where payable after two years. The provision at 
31 December 2007 is stated after a discount of £0.5m (2006: £0.9m) and the unwinding of the discount in the year resulted in 	
a finance charge of £0.4m (2006: £0.2m).

Warranty claims
The warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability under warranties granted on products 
sold, based on past experience and industry averages for defective products. It is anticipated that most of these costs will be 
incurred in the next two financial years.

Contract loss provisions
Contract loss provisions represent management’s best estimate of the amount by which the expected benefits from certain 
specific contracts are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under those contracts. The time frame within 
which such provisions will unwind varies by contract, but is generally within one year. 

Aircraft maintenance provisions
Aircraft maintenance provisions are established in respect of significant periodic maintenance costs, where maintenance activity 
is required on leased operational aircraft or engines on a cycle greater than 12 months. Costs are charged to the income 
statement on the basis of utilisation of the aircraft and are credited to the provision. The provision is then utilised by absorbing 
the actual costs incurred in carrying out the maintenance activity. Maintenance carried out on a cycle of 12 months or less is 
charged to the income statement as incurred. 

When aircraft are leased, it is customary for the contract to contain specific conditions regarding the state of the aircraft on its 
return to the lessor at the end of the lease. These conditions may relate to the number of operational hours to be available before a 
major maintenance check, the physical configuration of the aircraft or direct costs to be incurred by the lessee in the physical return 
of the aircraft to the lessor. The estimated cost associated with fulfilling these requirements is charged to the income statement on 
an aircraft utilisation basis. The provision is utilised on actual return of the aircraft or on incurring the expenditure required to return 
the aircraft to the state of maintenance required by the lease before return of the aircraft to the lessor. 

Other provisions
Other provisions include provisions recognised on warranties and indemnities given on the disposals of the Countermeasures 
operations and the Fluid and Air group in 2005. All amounts have been determined based on the Directors’ current estimates of 
likely outcomes. Provisions relating to the Countermeasures and Fluid and Air disposals are likely to unwind over a period of more 
than one year but, due to the uncertainty over the timing and amounts, have not been discounted. All other items are likely to be 
resolved within two years. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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23. Deferred tax
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Deferred tax assets	 	 	 	 	 	 (8.3)	 (6.9)
Deferred tax liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 22.5	 25.6
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 14.2	 18.7

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group, and the movements thereon:
	 	 	 	 Accelerated	 Retirement	 	 	
	 	 	 	 tax	 benefit	 	 	
£m	 	 	 	 depreciation	 obligations	 Other	 Total
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 8.6	 (24.3)	 17.7	 2.0
Credit to income statement	 	 	 	 0.1	 5.5	 1.2	 6.8
Credit/(charge) to reserves for the year	 	 	 	 –	 9.8	 (1.4)	 8.4
Acquired with business combinations	 	 	 	 –	 –	 2.3	 2.3
Disposed on sale of undertakings	 	 	 	 (0.1)	 –	 (0.7)	 (0.8)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 	 	 	 –	 0.1	 (0.1)	 –
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 8.6	 (8.9)	 19.0	 18.7
Credit/(charge) to income statement	 	 	 	 (1.6)	 5.0	 (0.1)	 3.3
Charge to reserves for the year	 	 	 	 –	 (6.5)	 (0.8)	 (7.3)
Foreign exchange adjustments	 	  	 	 –	 –	 (0.5)	 (0.5)
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 7.0	 (10.4)	 17.6	 14.2

Other deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above include balances arising from temporary differences in relation to 
provisions, share-based payments, intangible assets, goodwill and derivative financial instruments. 

The other charge to reserves relates to deferred tax provided in respect of the change in the fair values of cash flow hedging 
derivatives and share-based payments.

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Deferred tax 
balances (after offset) for balance sheet purposes are analysed as follows:
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Deferred tax liabilities fall due as follows:	 	 	 	 	 	
Within one year	 	 	 	 	 	 2.7	 3.1
After one year	 	 	 	 	 	 19.8	 22.5
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 22.5	 25.6
Deferred tax assets are recoverable as follows:	
Within one year	 	 	 	 	 	 (4.0)	 (2.1)
After one year	 	 	 	 	 	 (4.3)	 (4.8)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (8.3)	 (6.9)

Without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances, deferred tax balances are as follows:
	 	 	 	 Accelerated	 Retirement	 	 	
	 	 	 	 tax	 benefit	
£m	 	 	 	 depreciation	 obligations	 Other	 Total
Deferred tax assets	 	 	 	 (0.4)	 (10.4)	 (25.6)	 (36.4)
Deferred tax liabilities	 	 	 	 7.4	 –	 43.2	 50.6
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 7.0	 (10.4)	 17.6	 14.2

Deferred tax assets	 	 	 	 (1.2)	 (8.9)	 (14.8)	 (24.9)
Deferred tax liabilities	 	 	 	 9.8	 –	 33.8	 43.6
At 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 8.6	 (8.9)	 19.0	 18.7

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused capital losses of £72.0m (2006: £72.0m) potentially available for offset against 
future profits in certain circumstances.  No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of this amount because of the 
unpredictability of future qualifying profit streams. These losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 
and joint ventures for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is £305.4m (2006: £204.8m). No liability has been 
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Group’s share of the tax on temporary differences arising in connection with interests in joint ventures was £4.8m (2006: £5.5m).
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24. Borrowings
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Current
Bank loans and overdrafts	 	 	 	 	 	 239.0	 227.8
Loan notes	 	 	 	 	 	 1.3	 1.2
Senior notes	 	 	 	 	 	 2.5	 1.9
Other borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 0.1	 0.1
Finance leases	 	 	 	 	 25	 0.2	 0.2
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 243.1	 231.2

Non-current
Bank loans	 	 	 	 	 	 0.4	 8.8
Loan notes	 	 	 	 	 	 8.0	 7.4
Senior notes	 	 	 	 	 	 114.3	 115.2
Preference shares	 	 	 	 	 29	 –	 –
Finance leases	 	 	 	 	 25	 0.8	 0.8
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 123.5	 132.2

Total borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 366.6	 363.4

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Sterling	 	 	 	 	 	 9.1	 8.9
US dollars	 	 	 	 	 	 259.1	 280.5
Australian dollars	 	 	 	 	 	 50.4	 28.7
Euros	 	 	 	 	 	 47.8	 44.7
Other currencies	 	 	 	 	 	 0.2	 0.6
Total	 	 	 	 	 	 366.6	 363.4

The average effective interest rates paid, after taking into account the impacts of hedging, were as follows:
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Bank overdrafts	 	 	 	 	 	 5.04%	 4.99%
Bank loans	 	 	 	 	 	 4.90%	 4.62%
Loan notes	 	 	 	 	 	 4.49%	 4.49%
Senior notes	 	 	 	 	 	 6.11%	 6.11%
Other borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 4.85%	 7.61%

Borrowings are held under both fixed and floating rates as follows:	
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Fixed rates
Bank loans	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 14.5
Senior notes	 	 	 	 	 	 116.8	 117.1
Floating rates
Bank loans and overdrafts	 	 	 	 	 	 239.4	 222.1
Loan notes	 	 	 	 	 	 9.3	 8.6
Other borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 1.1	 1.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 366.6	 363.4

The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risks; further details are given in note 28. 

All bank overdrafts are repayable on demand. 

The Group’s principal borrowings are as follows:

In July 2005, a five-year £300m revolving multi-currency credit facility was entered into for general corporate purposes, with 
extensions of up to two years at the option of the lenders. During 2006 and 2007 the facility was extended by one year and now 
expires in 2012. Interest is payable at the applicable LIBOR rate of the drawn currencies, plus margin. As at 31 December 2007, 
£226.4m (2006: £217.3m) had been drawn on this facility.

In addition, two tranches of senior notes were issued in 2002, being US$55m maturing in 2009 with a 5.14% coupon and 
US$170m maturing in 2012 with a 5.58% coupon. The respective agreements contain no provisions for charges over Group 
assets and include both financial and non-financial covenants.

There have been no breaches of the terms of loan agreements or defaults during the current or comparative periods. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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25. Obligations under finance leases
	 	 	 	 	 Minimum lease	 Present value of	
	 	 	 	 	 payments	 minimum lease payments
£m	 	 	 	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006
Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year	 	 	 	 0.3	 0.2	 0.2	 0.2
In the second to fifth years inclusive	 	 	 	 0.6	 0.6	 0.4	 0.4
After five years	 	 	 	 0.5	 0.6	 0.4	 0.4
	 	 	 	 	 1.4	 1.4	 1.0	 1.0
Less: future finance charges	 	 	 	 (0.4)	 (0.4)	 n/a	 n/a
Present value of lease obligations	 	 	 	 1.0	 1.0	 1.0	 1.0
Less: amount due for settlement within	
12 months (shown under current liabilities)	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.2)	 (0.2)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months	 	 	 	 	 	 0.8	 0.8

Lease obligations are denominated in UK sterling, US dollars and euros.

26. Derivative financial instruments
Details of the Group’s financial instrument accounting policies and risk management strategies, objectives and policies are set 
out in the statement of accounting policies and in note 28. 

Movements in fair values
	 	 	 	 Interest rate swaps	 Currency	
	 	 	 	 Cash flow	 Fair value	 translation	 	
£m	 	 	 Note	 hedge	 hedge	 derivatives	 Total
Fair value at 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 1.7	 (2.5)	 1.5	 0.7
Movements in year to 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	
	 – fair value loss through income statement – hedged items	 	 –	 (0.6)	 –	 (0.6)
	 – fair value gain through income statement – not hedged		 	 –	 –	 10.8	 10.8
	 – fair value loss recycled from equity to income statement	 30	 (0.9)	 –	 –	 (0.9)
	 – fair value gain through reserves	 	 	 30	 1.3	 –	 –	 1.3
Fair value at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 2.1	 (3.1)	 12.3	 11.3
Movements in year to 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	
	 – fair value gain through income statement – hedged items	 	 –	 4.3	 –	 4.3
	 – fair value loss through income statement – not hedged		 	 –	 (0.1)	 (5.6)	 (5.7)
	 – fair value loss recycled from equity to income statement	 30	 (1.2)	 –	 –	 (1.2)
	 – fair value loss through reserves	 	 	 30	 (0.6)	 –	 (0.3)	 (0.9)
Fair value at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 0.3	 1.1	 6.4	 7.8

Interest rate swaps are designated as fair value and cash flow hedging instruments and hedge accounting is applied. 

All cash flow hedges were fully effective and hence there is no ineffectiveness in cash flow hedges to be reported through 	
the income statement. Any ineffectiveness of the fair value hedge is reported through the income statement.

Most currency translation derivatives are not accounted for using hedge accounting and movements in fair values are shown 
separately in the income statement as part of operating profit. 

The fair values of the Group’s currency and interest rate derivatives are established using valuation techniques, 	
primarily discounting cash flows, based on assumptions that are supported by observable market prices or rates.
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26. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Balance sheet analysis
	 	 	 	 Interest rate swaps	 Currency
	 	 	 	 Cash flow	 Fair value	 translation	 	
£m	 	 	 	 hedge	 hedge	 derivatives	 Total
Derivative financial instruments – non-current assets	 	 	 2.1	 0.8	 4.1	 7.0
Derivative financial instruments – current assets	 	 	 0.2	 0.3	 4.4	 4.9
Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities	 	 	 (0.8)	 –	 (1.4)	 (2.2)
Derivative financial instruments – non-current liabilities	 	 	 (1.2)	 –	 (0.7)	 (1.9)
Fair value at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 0.3	 1.1	 6.4	 7.8

Derivative financial instruments – non-current assets	 	 	 1.6	 –	 7.0	 8.6
Derivative financial instruments – current assets	 	 	 0.6	 –	 6.4	 7.0
Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities	 	 	 –	 (0.7)	 (1.1)	 (1.8)
Derivative financial instruments – non-current liabilities	 	 	 (0.1)	 (2.4)	 –	 (2.5)
Fair value at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 2.1	 (3.1)	 12.3	 11.3

27. Financial instruments
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities can be categorised as follows: 

	 	 	 	 Fair value	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 through	 	 Derivatives	 Total	
	 	 	 Loans and	 profit	 Amortised	 used for	 carrying	
£m	 	 Note	 receivables	 or loss	 cost	 hedging	 amount
Financial assets
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 	 20	 444.5	 –	 –	 –	 444.5
	 Trade receivables	 	 19	 189.5	 –	 –	 –	 189.5
	 Other receivables	 	 19	 28.2	 –	 –	 –	 28.2
	 Derivative contracts (not hedge accounted)		 26	 –	 8.5	 –	 –	 8.5

Financial liabilities
	 Trade payables	 	 21	 –	 –	 (86.5)	 –	 (86.5)
	 Borrowings	 	 24	 –	 (114.3)	 (252.3)	 –	 (366.6)
	 Derivative contracts (not hedge accounted)		 26	 –	 (2.1)	 –	 –	 (2.1)
	 Other liabilities	 	 21	 –	 –	 (39.1)	 –	 (39.1)

Hedging instruments
	 Assets 	 	 26	 –	 –	 –	 3.4	 3.4
	 Liabilities	 	 26	 –	 –	 –	 (2.0)	 (2.0)

Net financial assets at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 177.8

Financial assets
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 	 20	 364.3	 –	 –	 –	 364.3
	 Trade receivables	 	 19	 148.4	 –	 –	 –	 148.4
	 Other receivables	 	 19	 21.2	 –	 –	 –	 21.2
	 Derivative contracts (not hedge accounted)		 26	 –	 13.4	 –	 –	 13.4

Financial liabilities
	 Trade payables	 	 21	 –	 –	 (77.2)	 –	 (77.2)
	 Borrowings	 	 24	 –	 (112.0)	 (251.4)	 –	 (363.4)
	 Derivative contracts (not hedge accounted)		 26	 –	 (1.1)	 –	 –	 (1.1)
	 Other liabilities	 	 21	 –	 –	 (34.3)	 –	 (34.3)

Hedging instruments
	 Assets 	 	 26	 –	 –	 –	 2.2	 2.2
	 Liabilities	 	 26	 –	 –	 –	 (3.2)	 (3.2)

Net financial assets at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 70.3

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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27. Financial instruments (continued)
The Group does not hold any financial assets which would be classified as held to maturity, available for sale or held at fair value 
through equity. 

The borrowings shown in the table above categorised as held at fair value through profit or loss are senior notes which were 
issued in 2002. The maximum exposure to credit risk on these is considered to be their carrying value of US$225m (£113.0m, 
2006: £115.0m). The change in the fair value of the senior notes is considered to relate entirely to changes in market conditions 
and is not impacted by changes in credit risk. The difference between the carrying amount of the senior notes and the amount 
which the Group is contractually required to pay on maturity is £1.3m (2006: £3.0m). 

The total interest income and expense for financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value through profit or loss is as follows: 

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Interest income	 	 	 	 	 	 20.9	 22.0
Interest expense	 	 	 	 	 	 (11.6)	 (20.4)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities recorded in these financial statements 
approximates to their fair value. 

28. Financial instruments and risk management
The Group’s multi-national operations and debt financing expose it to a variety of financial risks which include the effects of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, credit risks, liquidity rates, interest rates and debt market prices. The Group has in 
place a risk management programme that seeks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group by using 
foreign currency financial instruments, debt, and other instruments, including interest rate swaps.

Financial instruments
The Group finances its operations primarily through a mixture of retained profits and borrowings. The Group does not use 
complex derivative financial instruments. Where it does use financial instruments these are mainly put in place to manage 	
the currency financing risks arising from normal operations, further details of which are given in note 26. It is, and has been 
throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

Foreign currency risk is the most significant exposure for the Group for which financial instruments are employed as mitigation. 
The Group is exposed to a lesser extent to other risks such as interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews 
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The policies have remained unchanged 
throughout the year.

Foreign currency risk 
The Group, which is based in the UK and reports in sterling, has significant investment in overseas operations in the USA, 	
with further investments in other European countries, Australia, Canada, South Africa and Asia. As a result, the Group’s balance 	
sheet can be affected by movements in these countries’ exchange rates. The Group’s policy is to reduce, or eliminate where 
practicable, both structural and transactional foreign exchange risk. Foreign currency borrowings are used to mitigate the impact 
of foreign currency exchange rates on the Group’s overseas net assets. 

The Group also has transactional currency exposures which arise when an operating unit makes sales and purchases in 
currencies other than its own functional currency. The Group undertakes a formal process to actively manage and mitigate this 
exposure through a combination of minimising trading in non functional currencies, matching non functional currency revenues 
with non functional currency costs and through the use of forward contracts. 

Currency exposures are reviewed regularly and all significant foreign exchange transactions are approved by 	
Cobham plc management. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities are as follows:

	 	 	 	 2007	 	 	 2006
million	 	 US$	 €	 AUS$	 US$	 €	 AUS$
Monetary assets	 	 132.0	 69.2	 52.4	 108.5	 59.0	 35.3
Monetary liabilities	 	 329.6	 101.4	 82.5	 341.9	 89.9	 60.1

Currency denominated net assets are partially hedged by currency borrowings. The following borrowings were designated as 
hedging instruments in net investment hedges:	

Borrowings	 	 246.2	 45.4	 –	 278.5	 42.4	 –
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28. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
The sterling/US dollar exchange rate is the most important as far as the Group is concerned, particularly given the level of US 
dollars which the subsidiaries expect to receive from their normal business activities. In addition to the longer-term borrowing 
structure, a number of financial instruments are used to manage the foreign exchange position, such as forward contracts. It is 
the Group’s current belief that the net dollar receipts from its subsidiaries will exceed the level of the outstanding commitment.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts for sales of US dollars outstanding as at 31 December:

	 	 	 	 	 	 Average US$: £ 	
	 	 	 	 	 US$ amount	 exchange rate
	 	 	 	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006
Expiring within one year	 	 	 	 131.0	 108.8	 1.93	 1.78
Expiring within one to two years	 	 	 	 16.2	 15.9	 1.67	 1.64
Expiring after two years	 	 	 	 51.3	 60.5	 1.71	 1.67
	 	 	 	 	 198.5	 185.2	 1.84	 1.73

The latest date for expiry of US dollar forward foreign currency contracts is 31 December 2014.	

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a change in sterling against the respective foreign currencies. 	
The sensitivities below represent management’s assessment of the possible changes in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date has been determined based on the assumption 
that the change is effective throughout the financial year. The analysis assumes that all other variables, including interest rates, 
remain constant.	

A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and equity where sterling weakens against the respective currency. 	
A strengthening of sterling would have the equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

	 	 	 	 	 2007	 	 2006
£m	 	 	 Sensitivity	 Profit/(loss)	 Equity	 Profit/(loss)	 Equity
US dollars	 	 	 13%	 9.0	 9.0	 9.7	 9.7
Euros	 	 	 8%	 3.9	 3.9	 4.3	 4.3
Australian dollars	 	 	 10%	 (3.6)	 (3.6)	 (0.3)	 (0.3)

The exposure to movements in exchange rates arises due to outstanding non functional currency receivables and payables at the 
year end. The Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency has increased during the current period mainly due to increased exposure to 
Australian dollar movements. 

Interest rate risk
The Group has various long and short term borrowings, principally in US dollars, euros, Australian dollars and sterling at both fixed 
and floating rates of interest. The Group continually monitors its exposure to movements in interest rates in order to bring greater 
stability and certainty with respect to borrowing costs. Group policy is to assess borrowings with regard to fixed or variable rates 
of interest depending on prevailing market conditions and to acquire interest rate swaps to manage the interest rate risk. 

Of the Group’s fixed rate borrowings, senior notes totalling £113.0m at 31 December 2007 (2006: £112.0m) were swapped into 
floating rates on issuance in 2002 through to their maturity in 2009 (£27.6m) and 2012 (£85.4m), the rates being reset and 
interest payments made on a six monthly basis. The Group has applied hedge accounting, designating the swap as a fair value 
hedge and its fair value is detailed in note 26.

All floating rate borrowings have regular repricing dates. Interest rate swaps which mitigate the exposure arising on floating rate 
debt are all designated as cash flow hedges and are as follows: 

	 	 	 Period of swap contract
£m		 Fixed rate	 from	 to	 	 Currency value	 2007	 2006
US dollar bank loans	 4.48%	 January 2006	 	 June 2010	 US$260m	 130.6	 132.8
Australian dollar bank loans	 6.30%	 May 2006	 	January 2020	 AUS$106m	 46.8	 16.1
Australian dollar bank loans	 6.40%	 January 2007	 	January 2020	 AUS$6m	 2.8	 –

The fair value of these cash flow hedge instruments is as detailed in note 26.

Surplus funds are placed on short term deposit. These deposits have floating rates of interest, and thus there is some modest 
exposure to interest rates on these deposits.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a change of 0.1 percent in interest rates throughout the year, with all other 
variables, including foreign currency exchange rates, held constant. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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28. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and equity where interest rates rise. A fall in interest rates would 
have the equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
	 	 	 	 	 2007	 	 2006
£m	 	 	 	 Profit/(loss)	 Equity	 Profit/(loss)	 Equity
Sterling	 	 	 	 2.3	 –	 1.9	 –
US dollars	 	 	 	 (0.7)	 2.8	 (0.9)	 4.2
Euros	 	 	 	 0.5	 –	 (0.1)	 –
Australian dollars	 	 	 	 (0.1)	 2.4	 –	 2.2

Liquidity risk
The Group has a positive cash flow from operating activities and where practicable the funds generated by operating companies 
are managed on a regional basis. For short-term working capital purposes in the UK, most operating companies utilise local bank 
facilities within an overall Group arrangement. In the US a central treasury function is maintained which all US subsidiaries use. 
These practices allow a balance to be maintained between continuity of funding, security and flexibility. 

As regards liquidity, the Group’s policy throughout the year has been to maintain a mix of short, medium and long-term borrowings 
with their lenders. Short-term flexibility is achieved by overdraft facilities and the use of the Group’s revolving credit facility. In addition, 
it is the Group’s policy to maintain undrawn committed borrowing facilities in various currencies in order to provide flexibility in the 
management of the Group’s liquidity. The following facilities, which are at floating rates, were available at 31 December:
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Expiring within one year 	 	 	 	 	 	 38.4	 58.3
Expiring between one and five years	 	 	 	 	 	 73.6	 82.7
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 112.0	 141.0

The table below summarises the remaining contractual maturity for the Group’s financial liabilities. The amounts shown are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows which include interest, analysed by contractual maturity.
	 	 	 	 2007	 	 	 2006
	 	 Within	 	 Over 	 Within	 	 Over	
£m	 	 one year	 1-5 years	 5 years	 one year	 1-5 years	 5 years
Non-derivative financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables	 	 220.6	 10.6	 –	 182.6	 7.8	 –
Borrowings	 	 243.2	 122.1	 1.7	 231.2	 42.9	 89.7
Contingent consideration	 	 1.5	 12.6	 –	 11.9	 3.8	 –
Derivative contracts: 
    Gross cash outflows	 	 (32.5)	 (41.0)	 (34.7)	 (40.7)	 (2.4)	 (0.5)
    Gross cash inflows	 	 30.9	 39.1	 34.2	 38.5	 –	 –

Commodity price risk
The Group has no material exposure to commodity price fluctuations.

Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and 
trade and other receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. The Group further limits risk in this area by setting a maximum 
level for deposits or overdrafts with any one counterparty. These facilities are reviewed every six months or more often if there 	
is an indication that the credit rating of any of the banks falls below a Moody’s Aa3 rating. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s customer base being large and 
unrelated. Customers are typically multinational groups or government agencies with long-term trading relationships. The Group 
also has in place procedures that require appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are made. Existing 
customer accounts are also monitored on an ongoing basis and appropriate action is taken where necessary to minimise any 
credit risk. The Directors therefore believe there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of normal provision for 
impaired receivables. 

Group management monitor the ageing of receivables which are more than one month overdue and debtor days on a regular 
basis. At 31 December 2007, 8.9% (2006: 10.9%) of gross trade receivables were more than one month overdue. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2007 is the fair value of each class of receivable as disclosed in note 19. 
Letters of credit are the only collateral held as security against trade receivables. These are obtained in a limited number of cases 
in accordance with good business practice. 
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28. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
The Group has not pledged any assets in respect of any of its primary borrowing facilities or other financial liabilities, 	
except as disclosed in note 15.

In the UK and the USA, the Group has master netting arrangements in respect of bank balances. In the normal course of business 
these bank accounts are settled on a net basis within each currency and as such are presented in the financial statements as net. In 
the event of an automatic enforcement event the bank balances are automatically set off against each other to achieve a net position.

Capital risk management
Group policy is to maintain a strong capital base, defined as total shareholders’ equity excluding minority interests, totalling 
£803.7m at 31 December 2007 (2006: £714.9m), so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. Within this overall policy, the Group seeks to maintain an optimum capital structure by a mixture 	
of debt and retained earnings and currently, because of recent strong earnings coupled with the successful restructuring 
programme, the Group has capacity to significantly increase borrowings to fund carefully selected acquisition opportunities. 
Funding needs are reviewed periodically and also each time a significant acquisition is made. A number of factors are considered 
which include the net debt/EBITDA ratio, future funding needs (usually potential acquisitions), proposed dividend levels and 
Group banking arrangements. There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 

Primary sources of funding for the Group are the bank and private placement markets and typically the Group borrows US dollars 
to fund acquisitions in the USA. As noted above, the Group maintains a mixture of fixed and floating interest rate arrangements 
and within the overall net cash will have sterling deposits and borrowings in overseas currencies such as US dollars, euros and 
Australian dollars funding overseas operations.

29. Share capital
Authorised:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
1,479,200,000 (2006: 1,479,200,000) Ordinary Shares of par value 2.5p	 	 	 	 37.0	 37.0
20,000 6% second cumulative preference shares of £1 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –

Ordinary Shares – issued and fully paid:
	 	 	 	 	 	 Number of shares	 £m
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 1,122,859,490	 28.1
Exercise of share options	 	 	 	 	 7,749,649	 0.2
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 1,130,609,139	 28.3
Exercise of share options	 	 	 	 	 4,746,201	 0.1
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 1,135,355,340	 28.4

The Company has one class of Ordinary Shares which carry no right to fixed income, representing 99.9% of the total issued share 
capital. On a show of hands every member holding Ordinary Shares who is present in person or by a duly authorised representative 
has one vote and on a poll every member who is present in person or by proxy has one vote for every £1 in nominal value of the 
shares of which the member is the holder.

19,700 6% second cumulative preference shares have been issued, representing 0.1% of total issued share capital. These are 
non-redeemable and are classified as borrowings with a value of £19,700.	

The shareholders of the 6% second cumulative preference shares are entitled to receive a fixed cumulative preference dividend at 
the rate of 6% per annum in priority to the payment of dividends on the Ordinary Shares. In addition, on a return of assets on the 
liquidation or otherwise of the Company, the assets available for distribution are to be applied first in repaying to the holders of the 
6% second cumulative preference shares the amounts paid up on their shares. On a show of hands, every member holding 6% 
second cumulative preference shares who is present in person has one vote and on a poll, every member has one vote for every £1 
in nominal amount of the shares of which the member is the holder. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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30. Reserves
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Share premium account	 	 	 	 	 30a	 98.8	 94.2

Translation reserve	 	 	 	 	 30b	 1.4	 (8.9)

Other reserves	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Hedging reserve	 	 	 	 	 30c	 –	 1.5
	 Share options reserve	 	 	 	 	 30d	 17.9	 14.5
Total other reserves	 	 	 	 	 	 17.9	 16.0
Retained earnings	 	 	 	 	 30e	 657.2	 585.3
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 775.3	 686.6

30a. Share premium account
£m
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 87.5
Issue of shares	 	 	 	 	 	 	 6.7
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 94.2
Issue of shares	 	 	 	 	 	 	 4.6
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 98.8

30b. Translation reserve
£m
At 1 January 2006 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.9
Currency differences on translation of foreign operations 	 	 	 	 	 	 (11.2)
Transfer to profit on sale of undertakings	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.4
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (8.9)
Currency differences on translation of foreign operations	 	 	 	 	 	 10.3
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.4

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on the results and financial position of subsidiaries 
which do not report in the Group’s functional currency. 

30c. Hedging reserve
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 Note	
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.2
Increase in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 	 	 	 26	 1.3
Tax effect of increase in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 	 	 	 (0.4)
Recycling of fair values to income statement	 	 	 	 	 	 26	 (0.9)
Tax effect of recycling of fair values	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.5
Increase in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 	 	 	 26	 (0.9)
Tax effect of increase in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 	 	 	 0.2
Recycling of fair values to income statement	 	 	 	 	 	 26	 (1.2)
Tax effect of recycling of fair values	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.4
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –

The hedging reserve reflects movements in fair values on cash flow hedging derivatives as detailed in note 26.

30d. Share options reserve
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10.1
Credit to reserve for the year for share-based payments	 	 	 	 	 	 3.1
Deferred tax credit to reserve for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.3
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 14.5
Credit to reserve for the year for share-based payments	 	 	 	 	 	 4.4
Transfer to retained earnings	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.2)
Deferred tax credit to reserve for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.2
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 17.9
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30. Reserves (continued) 
30d. Share options reserve (continued)

The share options reserve includes the cost of share options issued during the year as assessed under IFRS 2 together with 
deferred tax provided under IAS 12 relating to share-based payments, where the calculated future tax benefit is in excess of the 
amount charged to date under IFRS 2.

Where share options which gave rise to charges under IFRS 2 have been exercised, the appropriate proportion of the share 
options reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 

30e. Retained earnings

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 Note	
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	 456.8
Total recognised income for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 161.8
Transfer from translation reserve	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10.8
Transfer to hedging reserve	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)
Transfer to share options reserve	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.3)
Dividends authorised	 	 	 	 	 	 5	 (39.7)
Profit for the year attributable to minority interest	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.2)
Goodwill written off on acquisition of minority interests	 	 	 	 	 	 (2.6)
At 1 January 2007 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 585.3
Total recognised income for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 123.8
Transfer to translation reserve	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (10.3)
Net transfer from hedging reserve	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.5
Transfer from share options reserve	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0
Dividends authorised	 	 	 	 	 	 5	 (43.8)
Profit for the year attributable to minority interest	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 657.2

31. Reconciliation of changes in total equity 

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Total equity at start of year	 	 	 	 	 	 715.0	 587.1
Total recognised income for the year	 	 	 	 	 	 123.8	 161.8
Dividends authorised	 	 	 	 	 5	 (43.8)	 (39.7)
Profit attributable to minority interest	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)	 (0.2)
Goodwill written off on acquisition of minority interests	 	 	 	 	 –	 (2.6)
Issue of share capital	 	 	 	 	 29	 0.1	 0.2
Premium on shares issued	 	 	 	 	 30	 4.6	 6.7
Share-based payments charge	 	 	 	 	 30	 4.4	 3.1
Increase/(decrease) in minority interest	 	 	 	 	 	 0.3	 (1.4)
Total equity at end of year	 	 	 	 	 	 804.1	 715.0

32. Acquisitions
The following acquisitions took place during the year to 31 December 2007:	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 Date of 	 Proportion of	
Names of businesses acquired	 Principal activity	 acquisition 	 shares acquired	 Cost of acquisition
Patriot Antenna Systems	 Design and manufacture 	 28 August 2007	 asset purchase	 US$18m plus contingent	
	 	 of parabolic antennas	 	 	 consideration up to US$27m
ADDE	 Cryostatic cooling products	 10 December 2007	 asset purchase	 US$4.5m

The following acquisitions took place after the balance sheet date and before approval of these financial statements:

	 	 	 Date of 	 Proportion of	
Names of businesses acquired	 Principal activity	 acquisition 	 shares acquired	 Cost of acquisition
S-TEC Corporation	 Design, certification and 	 3 January 2008	 100%	 US$38m	
	 	 manufacture of autopilots	 	 	 	
	 	 for general aviation aircraft
Sensor and Antenna	 Electronic warfare technology	 22 February 2008	 asset purchase	 US$240m	
Systems Lansdale	 and subsystems

Further details are shown in note 38, Events after the balance sheet date, together with details of acquisitions which have not 
completed at the date of approval of these financial statements. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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32. Acquisitions (continued) 
Components of the cost of acquisitions during the year:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total
Cash	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10.9
Contingent consideration	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2.7
Directly attributable acquisition costs (including direct legal costs)	 	 	 	 	 0.3
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 13.9

As at 31 December 2007, fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are provisional and subject to potential subsequent adjustment. 

A summary of the book and fair values of the acquisitions which took place during 2007 is as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 	Book value prior	
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 to acquisition	 Fair value
Non-current assets
	 – Intangibles	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 8.3
	 – Property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 	 2.1	 2.6
Current assets
	 – Inventories	 	 	 	 	 	 2.6	 2.0
	 – Trade receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 1.8	 1.7
	 – Bank and cash balances	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
Current liabilities
	 – Trade payables	 	 	 	 	 	 (2.3)	 (2.3)
Net assets acquired	 	 	 	 	 	 4.2	 12.3
Goodwill 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.6
Total consideration	 	 	 	 	 	 	 13.9

All intangible assets were recognised at their respective fair values. The residual excess of the total cost over the fair value of the 
net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the financial statements. Goodwill represents the premium paid in anticipation of 
future economic benefits from assets that are not capable of being separately identified and separately recognised.

Adjustments from book value to fair value include adjustments arising from the application of Group accounting policies, 	
the recognition of intangible assets under IFRS 3, Business Combinations, and fair value adjustments to property, plant and 
equipment and inventories.	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
The net cash outflows arising from the acquisitions in 2007 amounts to £11.2m all of which is cash consideration and includes 
expenses of acquisition. 

The after tax result of the acquisitions since the date of acquisition was a loss of £0.9m, including amortisation of intangible fixed 
assets arising on acquisition of £1.0m. If these acquisitions had taken effect on 1 January 2007, it is estimated that Group total 
revenues would have been £1,070.9m and profit after tax £131.9m. This information is not necessarily indicative of the results 
had the operations been acquired at the start of the year, nor of future results of the combined operations.

33. Discontinued operations
No businesses were sold or classified as discontinued during the year to 31 December 2007.

Contingent consideration totalling £5.8m was received during 2007 in relation to the disposal of Wallop Defence Systems 
Limited, and is included in the results of discontinued operations. 

The results of Wallop Defence Systems Limited were reported within discontinued operations in 2006. This company was sold 
on 8 March 2006, completing the disposal of the Group’s Countermeasures operations, which was initiated in 2005. 

Costs of £0.4m were paid in 2007 in connection with these disposals, together with a further £0.3m relating to disposals of 
continuing operations which took place in 2006. 
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33. Discontinued operations (continued)
The results of Wallop Defence Systems Limited included in the consolidated income and cash flow statements are as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Revenue	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 3.6
Cost of sales	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (2.5)
Distribution costs	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (0.2)
Administrative expenses	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (0.1)
Operating profit	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.8
Finance income and expense	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.1
Profit before tax	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.9
Tax 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (0.1)
Profit for the year after tax	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.8
Profit on disposal before tax 	 	 	 	 	 	 5.8	 13.0
Tax on profit on disposal	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
Total profit after taxation from discontinued operations	 	 	 	 	 5.8	 13.8

Cash flows from discontinued operations
Net cash used in operating activities	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (1.5)
Net cash received from/(used in) investing activities	 	 	 	 	 5.4	 (1.0)
Net cash received from financing activities	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 5.4	 (2.4)

Earnings per Ordinary Share of discontinued operations (including profit on disposal)	
	 – basic	 	 	 	 	 	 0.51p	 1.22p
	 – diluted	 	 	 	 	 	 0.51p	 1.21p

34. Operating lease arrangements	
At the balance sheet date the Group had outstanding commitments for minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable 
operating leases as follows:	

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Within one year	 	 	 	 	 	 15.1	 12.8
Between one and five years	 	 	 	 	 	 42.8	 36.0
After five years	 	 	 	 	 	 93.1	 77.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 151.0	 125.9

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office and operational properties, 	
and operational aircraft used in its service businesses.

35. Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2007, the parent company and the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of bank and contractual 
performance guarantees and other matters arising in the ordinary course of business entered into for, or on behalf of, certain 
Group undertakings. Where it is expected that a material liability will arise in respect of these matters, appropriate provision 	
is made within the Group consolidated financial statements or within those of the relevant subsidiary.

As the conditions of the above guarantees are currently being met, no obligating event is foreseeable and therefore no 
contingent liability exists at the year end.

The Company and various of its subsidiaries are, from time to time, parties to legal proceedings and claims which arise in 	
the ordinary course of business. The Directors do not anticipate that the outcome of these proceedings, actions and claims, 	
either individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse effect upon the Group’s financial position.

36. Commitments
At 31 December 2007, the Group had commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of £17.1m (2006: £33.2m) 
which mainly relate to aircraft for the Australian Sentinel contract.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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37. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated 	
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are 
disclosed below.

Trading transactions and balances

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Transactions between Group entities and joint ventures during the year:
Sales of goods	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0	 1.3
Purchases of goods	 	 	 	 	 	 0.4	 –
Dividends received	 	 	 	 	 	 3.2	 4.3

At the year end balances with joint ventures were as follows:
Amounts owed by related parties to Group entities	 	 	 	 	 0.1	 0.1
Amounts owed to related parties by Group entities	 	 	 	 	 –	 –

Sales of goods to related parties were made at the Group’s usual list prices for sales to non-related parties. Goods are bought 	
on the basis of the price lists in force with non-related parties. 

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given to or received from related 
parties. No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

In 2006, prior to its acquisition by the Group, domo Limited sold £372,000 of goods to a subsidiary of Cobham plc, 	
DTC Communications Inc. 

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Remuneration	 	 	 	 	 	 6.9	 7.1
Post-employment benefits	 	 	 	 	 	 0.4	 0.5
Share-based payments	 	 	 	 	 	 1.6	 1.4
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 8.9	 9.0

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the 
performance of individuals and market trends.

The Directors of Cobham plc had no material transactions with the Company during the year, other than as a result of service 
agreements. Details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 35 to 41. 

During the year, the Board and Mr A. Hannam agreed that his service contract should be further extended beyond his contractual 
retirement date of 28 March 2006 to 31 May 2008. A payment of £24,644 was agreed to be made after the year end to the 
Cobham Executive Pension Plan. Additional payments of £49,243 and £40,787 were made in 2007 to his SIPP and to the 
Cobham Executive Pension Plan respectively in relation to the extension of his service contract during 2006. 

During 2003, Mr P. Matthews, who was a member of the Group’s key management personnel in 2006, sold his shares in Sea Tel 
Inc to Chelton Avionics Inc, a subsidiary of Cobham plc. During 2006, Mr Matthews received consideration of US$1,932,621 for 
the shares under the terms of the sale and this is included in the remuneration shown in the table above. 

38. Events after the balance sheet date 
As shown in note 32, agreement was reached on 3 January 2008 to purchase the entire share capital of S-TEC Corporation, 	
for US$38m on a debt-free, cash-free basis. The company is based in the USA and designs, certifies and manufactures 
autopilots for general aviation aircraft. 

Components of the cost of this acquisition are:	

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total
Cash	 	 	 	 	 	 	 18.0
Directly attributable acquisition costs	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 18.1
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38. Events after the balance sheet date (continued)
A summary of the book and fair values of this acquisition is as follows:
	 	 	 	 	 	 Book value	
	 	 	 	 	 	 prior to	
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 acquisition	 Fair value
Non-current assets
	 – Intangibles	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0	 12.4
	 – Property, plant and equipment	 	 	 	 	 	 1.3	 1.3
Current assets
	 – Inventories	 	 	 	 	 	 1.8	 1.8
	 – Trade receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 1.7	 1.7
	 – Bank and cash balances	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 –
Current liabilities
	 – Trade payables	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.5)	 (1.6)
	 – Corporation tax	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.6)	 (0.6)
Net assets acquired	 	 	 	 	 	 3.7	 15.0
Goodwill 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 3.1
Total consideration	 	 	 	 	 	 	 18.1

The above amounts are all provisional at the date of approval of these financial statements. 

In December 2007, the Group announced agreement to purchase the Surveillance and Attack business unit from BAE Systems 
Inc (Sensor and Antenna Systems Lansdale) for US$240m on a debt and cash free basis, subject to regulatory approval. This 
acquisition was completed on 22 February 2008. It is the Directors’ opinion that it is impracticable to give detailed disclosure 	
on this acquisition due to the proximity of completion of the transaction in relation to the signing of the Group accounts. 

In January 2008, the agreement to purchase SPARTA Inc for US$416m on a debt and cash free basis was announced, subject to 
regulatory approval. US$35m of this consideration is payable over the first three years following completion of the transaction.  
This acquisition is expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2008.	

On 22 January 2008, the Group announced the agreement of a new US$700m acquisition financing facility. 	

39. Subsidiaries
All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the consolidation. The undertakings held at 31 December 2007 which, 	
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or the net assets of the Group were:

	 	 	 	 Place of incorporation	 Proportion of 	
Name of undertaking	 	 	 	 (or registration) and operation	 ownership interest %
Cobham Avionics & Surveillance
Air Précision SAS	 	 	 	 France	 100
Artex Aircraft Supplies Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Chelton Antennas SA	 	 	 	 France	 100
Chelton Avionics Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Chelton Flight Systems Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Chelton Telecom & Microwave SAS	 	 	 	 France	 100
Cobham Advanced Technologies (Southern Africa) (Proprietary) Limited	 	 South Africa	 100
Comant Industries Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Credowan Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
domo Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
DTC Communications Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
ERA Technology Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
Hyper-Technologies SAS	 	 	 	 France	 100
Label SAS	 	 	 	 France	 100
Micromill Electronics Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
NEC Aero SAS	 	 	 	 France	 100
Northern Airborne Technology Limited	 	 	 	 Canada	 99.0
Omnipless Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited*	 	 	 South Africa	 100
Patriot Antennas Systems Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Sea Tel Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Seimac Limited	 	 	 	 Canada	 100
Spectronic Denmark A/S	 	 	 	 Denmark	 100
TEAM SA	 	 	 	 France	 98.7
TracStar Systems Inc 	 	 	 	 USA	 100

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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39. Subsidiaries (continued)
	 	 	 	 Place of incorporation	 Proportion of 	
Name of undertaking	 	 	 	 (or registration) and operation	 ownership interest %
Cobham Defence Electronic Systems	 	
Atlantic Microwave Corporation	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Chelton Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Chelton Limited 	 	 	 	 England	 100
Cobham Advanced Composites Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
Cobham Defence Communications Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
Continental Microwave & Tool Co Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
European Antennas Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
Kevlin Corporation	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Mastsystem International Oy	 	 	 	 Finland	 100
Nurad Technologies Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
REMEC Defense & Space Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Sivers Lab AB	 	 	 	 Sweden	 100
	 	
Cobham Mission Systems	 	
ACR Electronics Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
ACR Electronics Europe GmbH	 	 	 	 Austria	 100
Carleton Life Support Systems Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Carleton Technologies Inc	 	 	 	 USA 	 100
Conax Florida Corporation	 	 	 	 USA	 100
Flight Refuelling Limited*	 	 	 	 England	 100
Sargent Fletcher Inc	 	 	 	 USA	 100
	 	
Cobham Aviation Services	 	
AFI Flight Inspection GmbH	 	 	 	 Germany	 100
Cobham Flight Inspection Limited (formerly Flight Precision Limited)	 	 England	 100
FR Aviation Group Limited*	 	 	 	 England	 100
FR Aviation Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
FR Aviation Services Limited	 	 	 	 England	 100
National Air Support Pty Limited	 	 	 	 Australia	 100
National Jet Systems Pty Limited	 	 	 	 Australia	 100
Surveillance Australia Pty Limited	 	 	 	 Australia	 100

In the case of the companies marked *, the stated percentage nominal value of issued shares is held by, or by a nominee for, 
Cobham plc. Otherwise shares are held by, or by a nominee for, a subsidiary of Cobham plc. 

40. Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 14 March 2008.
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	 	 	 UK GAAP	 IFRS	 IFRS	 IFRS	 IFRS	
£m	 	 	 2003	 2004	 2005	 2006	 2007

Revenue	 	 	 832.6	 832.3	 970.3	 1,012.1	 1,061.1
Underlying profit before taxation	 	 	 135.3	 142.3	 167.0	 182.9	 206.5
Profit on continuing operations before taxation		 	 119.8	 134.4	 126.0	 185.2	 173.5
Tax on continuing operations	 	 	 (36.0)	 (38.1)	 (35.3)	 (50.7)	 (47.3)
Profit on continuing operations after taxation 	 	 	 83.8	 96.3	 90.7	 134.5	 126.2
Profit/(loss) after taxation from discontinued operations	 	 (65.3)	 4.3	 7.4	 13.8	 5.8
Profit after taxation for the year	 	 	 18.5	 100.6	 98.1	 148.3	 132.0

Net assets employed
Intangible assets	 	 	 345.9	 405.6	 528.1	 482.6	 476.1
Property, plant and equipment (including investment properties)	 228.1	 241.9	 206.8	 194.0	 211.0
Investments	 	 	 16.5	 14.2	 14.7	 15.7	 18.8
Other non-current assets	 	 	 –	 7.3	 19.8	 24.7	 26.0
Current assets	 	 	 487.0	 584.0	 649.4	 717.3	 858.9
	 	 	 	 1,077.5	 1,253.0	 1,418.8	 1,434.3	 1,590.8
Current liabilities	 	 	 (340.2)	 (445.9)	 (559.6)	 (498.7)	 (560.7)
Long term liabilities	 	 	 (231.2)	 (203.5)	 (191.1)	 (191.0)	 (188.8)
Net assets excluding pension liabilities	 	 	 506.1	 603.6	 668.1	 744.6	 841.3
Pension liabilities	 	 	 (49.2)	 (69.1)	 (81.0)	 (29.6)	 (37.2)
Net assets including pension liabilities	 	 	 456.9	 534.5	 587.1	 715.0	 804.1

Financed by
Ordinary share capital	 	 	 27.8	 27.9	 28.1	 28.3	 28.4
Reserves	 	 	 428.0	 505.3	 557.5	 686.6	 775.3
Shareholders’ funds	 	 	 455.8	 533.2	 585.6	 714.9	 803.7
Minority interest	 	 	 1.1	 1.3	 1.5	 0.1	 0.4
Net assets	 	 	 456.9	 534.5	 587.1	 715.0	 804.1
	
pence
Dividend paid per ordinary share	 	 	 2.82	 2.90	 3.19	 3.51	 3.86
Earnings per ordinary share – underlying	 	 	 9.35	 9.12	 10.58	 11.66	 13.09
Earnings per ordinary share – basic (IFRS-continuing)	 	 1.72	 8.61	 8.05	 11.90	 11.10
Earnings per ordinary share – fully diluted (IFRS-continuing)	 	 1.71	 8.55	 8.01	 11.79	 11.04
Net assets per ordinary share	 	 	 41.2	 48.0	 52.4	 63.2	 70.8
	
£m
Market capitalisation	 	 	 1,295	 1,381	 1,900	 2,191	 2,373

Notes: 	
IFRS underlying earnings exclude the impacts of the amortisation of intangible assets recognised on acquisition, fair value 
adjustments to inventory on acquisition, the marking to market of currency instruments not realised in the period and 
impairments of goodwill.  There has been no impairment to goodwill in the current or comparative periods.

IFRS underlying earnings also exclude portfolio restructuring costs, which comprise exceptional profits or losses arising on 
disposals actually completed during the period, as well as exceptional costs or profits associated with the restructuring of 	
the Group’s business and property portfolio, and direct costs associated with exceptional terminated acquisitions.	

UK GAAP underlying profit before taxation excludes amortisation of goodwill, integration costs and exceptional items.

Income statement figures reported under UK GAAP include discontinued operations. Under IFRS the profit/loss for 	
discontinued operations is disclosed separately below profit on continuing operations after taxation.

Group financial record
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Independent auditors’ report 	
to the members of Cobham plc
We have audited the parent company financial statements 	
of Cobham plc for the year ended 31 December 2007	
which comprise the balance sheet, the statement of total 
recognised gains and losses, the reconciliation of movements 
in shareholders’ funds, the related notes and the accounting 
policies. These parent company financial statements have 	
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 
We have also audited the information in the Directors’ 
remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements 
of Cobham plc for the year ended 31 December 2007. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual 
Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the parent 
company financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out 
in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared 
for and only for the Company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and 
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it 
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 
in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent 
company financial statements give a true and fair view and 
whether the parent company financial statements and the 	
part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with 
the parent company financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration 
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report 	
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 	
parent company financial statements. The other information 
comprises only the Highlights 2007, Cobham at a glance, 
the Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s review, 	
the statement on strategy, the Business review, the Financial 
review, the statement on corporate responsibility, the 
Directors’ report, the Corporate governance statement and 	
the unaudited part of the Directors’ remuneration report.	

We consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the parent company financial statements. 
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test 
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in 
the parent company financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes 
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments 
made by the Directors in the preparation of the parent 
company financial statements, and of whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 	
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to 
give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the 
presentation of information in the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

 �The parent company financial statements give a true and 	
fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the 
Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2007;
 �The parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
1985; and
 �The information given in the Directors’ report is consistent 
with the parent company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Southampton
14 March 2008

Notes:
 �The maintenance and integrity of the Cobham plc website 	
is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by 
the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters 
and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements 
since they were initially presented on the website.
 �Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Accounting convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
certain tangible fixed assets and derivative contracts which 
are held at fair value, in accordance with the Companies Act 
1985 and applicable accounting standards (UK GAAP). 
Compliance with SSAP 19, Accounting for investment 
properties, requires departure from the requirements of 	
the Companies Act 1985 relating to depreciation and an 
explanation of the departure is given in the tangible fixed 
assets accounting policy note below.

The principal accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied, are as set out below.

Dividends 
Dividends are recognised in the period in which they are 	
fully authorised.

Pensions
The Company operates and contributes to a multi-employer 
defined benefit pension scheme. Contributions and pension 
costs are apportioned across the scheme as a whole and 
assessed in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries. 
The scheme is closed to new members and has a high 
proportion of deferred and pensioner members from 
businesses that no longer participate in the scheme. The 
Company is therefore not able to identify its share of 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a reasonable 
and consistent basis and in accordance with the multi-
employer exemption contained in FRS 17, Retirement 
benefits, the scheme has been accounted for as if it was a 
defined contribution scheme. The charge to the profit and 	
loss account therefore reflects payments for the year. 

Contributions to defined contribution schemes are charged 	
to the profit and loss account in the period the contributions 
are payable. 

The Company also makes contributions for certain employees 
to individual personal pension and stakeholder schemes. 
Contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in 	
the year to which they relate.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences 
that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet 
date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation 
to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the 
future have occurred at the balance sheet date.

A net deferred tax asset is recognised as recoverable when, 
on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as 
more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits 
against which to recover carried forward tax losses and from 
which the future reversal of underlying timing differences can 
be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the periods in which the timing 
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax has not been discounted.

Tangible fixed assets
Plant and machinery fixed assets are depreciated on a 	
straight-line basis to their estimated residual values over 	
their estimated useful lives which range from three to five 
years. Investment properties are not depreciated. 

In accordance with SSAP 19, investment properties are held 
at open market value. Any aggregate surplus or deficit on 
revaluation is transferred to a revaluation reserve, and no 
provision is made for depreciation of freehold properties. 	
This departure from the requirements of the Companies 	
Act 1985, which requires all properties to be depreciated, 	
is, in the opinion of the Directors, necessary for the financial 
statements to show a true and fair view in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards.

The depreciation (which would, had the provisions of the 	
Act been followed, have reduced profit for the year) is only 
one of the factors reflected in the valuation and the amount 
attributable to this factor cannot reasonably be separately 
identified or quantified.

Investments in Group undertakings
Investments are stated at cost less any provision for 
impairment in value and include the fair value at date of 	
grant of share options awarded to employees of subsidiary 
undertakings, net of amounts recovered as management 
charges.

Operating leases
Operating lease payments for assets leased from third parties 
are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Company has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
it is probable that settlement will be required of an amount 
that can be reliably estimated.

Share capital
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. Financial liabilities 
and equity instruments are classified according to the substance 
of the contractual agreements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is 
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the preference 
shareholders or if dividend payments are not discretionary. 
Dividends on preference share capital classified as liabilities 	
are recognised in the profit and loss account as interest 
expense. 
 
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Company is sterling. 
Transactions in currencies other than the local currency are 
translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denoted in non-
functional currencies are retranslated at the exchange rate 
ruling at the balance sheet date and any exchange differences 
arising are taken to the profit and loss account. 

Accounting policies 
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In order to manage the Group’s exposure to certain foreign 
exchange risks, the Company enters into forward contracts 
and options which are accounted for as derivative financial 
instruments.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a 
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The method of recognising the 
resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of 
the item being hedged.

The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial 
risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. The Company uses foreign exchange forward 
contracts and interest rate swap contracts to reduce these 
exposures. The Company does not use derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company documents at the inception of the transaction 
the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and 
on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes 
in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Currency translation derivatives entered into to mitigate 
foreign exchange impacts of trading in non-functional 
currencies are not accounted for using hedge accounting and 
movements in fair values are recognised in the profit and loss 
account as part of operating profit.

Fair value hedges
Changes in fair values of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit and loss 
account, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged 
risk. The gains or losses relating to interest rate swaps 
hedging fixed rate borrowings are recognised in the profit 	
and loss account. 

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item, for 
which the effective interest method is used, is amortised to 	
the profit and loss account over the period to maturity.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in fair values of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are 
recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit	
and loss account. Amounts accumulated in equity are 	
recycled to the profit and loss account in the periods 	
when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a 
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains 
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the profit and loss account. 	

If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net 
cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately 
transferred to the profit and loss account for the period.

Share-based payments
For grants made to employees of Cobham plc under the 
Company’s share-based payment schemes, amounts which 
reflect the fair value of options awarded as at the time of 	
grant are charged to the profit and loss account over the 
vesting period. The fair value of options awarded to 
employees of subsidiary undertakings, net of amounts 
recovered as management charges, is recognised as a 	
capital contribution and recorded in investments.

The costs of awards made to employees of Cobham plc	
under cash settled share-based payment schemes are 
measured initially at the grant date and expensed over the 
vesting period. The liability is remeasured at each balance 
sheet date up to and including the settlement date with 
changes in fair value recognised through the profit and 	
loss account.

The valuation of the options utilises a methodology based on 
the Black-Scholes model, modified where required to allow 	
for the impact of market related performance criteria. 

The Company has taken advantage of the transitional 
provisions of FRS 20, Share-based payment, in respect of 
equity settled awards and has applied FRS 20 only to equity 
settled awards granted after 7 November 2002. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Management judgement
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, 
management has made a number of judgements, none of 
which are considered to have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Fixed assets
Investments in Group undertakings	 	 	 	 	 4	 768.7	 749.7
Tangible assets	 	 	 	 	 5	 0.4	 7.4
Financial assets: Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 12	 7.0	 8.5
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 776.1	 765.6
Current assets
Financial assets: Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 12	 4.5	 6.7
Debtors	 	 	 	 	 6	 284.7	 387.6
Cash at bank and in hand	 	 	 	 	 	 380.0	 208.5
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 669.2	 602.8
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year		 	 	 	 7	 (824.7)	 (697.8)
Financial liabilities: Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 12	 (1.8)	 (1.3)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (826.5)	 (699.1)
Net current liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 (157.3)	 (96.3)
	
Total assets less current liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 618.8	 669.3

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year	 	 	 	 8	 (117.7)	 (118.6)
Financial liabilities: Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 	 12	 (1.9)	 (2.5)
Provisions for liabilities and charges	 	 	 	 	 9	 (11.6)	 (12.9)
Net assets	 	 	 	 	 	 487.6	 535.3

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital	 	 	 	 	 10	 28.4	 28.3
Share premium account	 	 	 	 	 11	 98.8	 94.2
Special reserve	 	 	 	 	 11	 43.6	 43.6
Revaluation reserve	 	 	 	 	 11	 –	 2.9
Other reserves	 	 	 	 	 11	 12.8	 10.8
Profit and loss account	 	 	 	 	 11	 304.0	 355.5
Total shareholders’ funds 	 	 	 	 	 	 487.6	 535.3

Approved by a duly appointed and authorised committee of the Board on 14 March 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

Gordon Page
Warren Tucker
Directors

Registered Number in England: 30470

Parent company balance sheet (under UK GAAP)	
As at 31 December 2007
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£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
(Loss)/profit for the financial year	 	 	 	 	 	 (11.8)	 39.1

Movement on cash flow hedges	 	 	 	 	 11	 (1.8)	 0.4
Movement on deferred tax relating to cash flow hedges	 	 	 	 11	 0.2	 (0.4)
Movement on current tax relating to cash flow hedges	 	 	 	 11	 0.4	 0.3
Total recognised (losses)/gains relating to the year	 	 	 	 	 (13.0)	 39.4

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
For the year ended 31 December 2007

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
(Loss)/profit for the financial year	 	 	 	 	 	 (11.8)	 39.1
Dividends	 	 	 	 	 1	 (43.8)	 (39.7)
Net deficit for the financial year	 	 	 	 	 	 (55.6)	 (0.6)
Issue of shares	 	 	 	 	 10	 0.1	 0.2
Premium on issue of shares	 	 	 	 	 11	 4.6	 6.7
Movements in hedging reserve	 	 	 	 	 11	 (1.2)	 0.3
Credit in respect of share-based payments	 	 	 	 	 11	 4.4	 3.1
Net (deduction from)/addition to shareholders’ funds	 	 	 	 	 (47.7)	 9.7

Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 	 	 	 	 	 	 535.3	 525.6
Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 	 	 	 	 	 	 487.6	 535.3

(Loss)/profit for the financial year	
In accordance with the concession granted under Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of 
Cobham plc has not been separately presented in these financial statements. 

Note of historical cost profits and losses
For the year ended 31 December 2007

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation	 	 	 	 	 (21.2)	 36.9
Realisation of property revaluation gains of previous years	 	 	 	 	 2.9	 –
Difference between historical cost depreciation charge and actual depreciation charge for the year	 	 –	 0.1
Historical cost (loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation	 	 	 	 (18.3)	 37.0

Historical cost (loss)/profit for the year after taxation	 	 	 	 	 (8.9)	 39.2

Cash flow statement
In accordance with the exemption under FRS 1 (Revised), the Company’s cash flow statement has not been separately 
presented in these financial statements.

Statement of total recognised gains and losses
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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1. Dividends
The following dividends on Ordinary Shares were authorised and paid during the year:	

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Final dividend of 2.64p per share for 2006 (2005: 2.40p) 	 	 	 	 	  30.0 	 27.1
Interim dividend of 1.22p per share for 2007 (2006: 1.11p) 	 	 	 	 	 13.8	 12.6
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 43.8	 39.7

In addition to the above, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007 	
of 3.28 pence per share which will absorb an estimated £37.2m of shareholders’ funds. This dividend is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. If authorised,	
it will be paid on 1 July 2008 to shareholders who are on the register of members as at 30 May 2008. The total dividend in 
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007 will therefore be 4.50 pence per share (2006: 3.75 pence). The total 
amount paid in respect of 2007 will be £51.0m (2006: £42.6m).

2. Employment costs
The average number of employees, including Directors during the year was 60 (2006: 54). All staff were employed in 
administrative functions. Costs for these employees were as follows: 

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Wages and salaries	 	 	 	 	 	 8.6	 7.9
Social security costs	 	 	 	 	 	 1.0	 0.9
Pension costs	 	 	 	 	 	 0.9	 0.7
Share-based payments 	 	 	 	 	 3	 1.4	 1.1
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 11.9	 10.6

Disclosures in respect of Directors’ emoluments can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 35 to 41 of the 
Group financial statements.

Disclosures in respect of key management emoluments can be found in note 37 to the Group financial statements.

Defined benefit pension scheme
The Company operates and participates in the Cobham Pension Plan. The pension scheme is of the defined benefit type and 	
its assets are held in a separate trustee administered fund. The fund is valued every three years by a professionally qualified 
independent actuary, the rates of contribution payable being determined by the actuary. The latest effective date of the actuarial 
assessment of the scheme was 1 April 2006. This assessment was updated to 31 December 2007 at which date the net 
liabilities of the scheme were assessed to be £30.6m. The Directors of the companies involved in the Group scheme will 
continue to monitor the level of the pension deficit and take advice from independent actuaries as appropriate.

The scheme has been accounted for as if it was a defined contribution scheme and the charge to the profit and loss account 
therefore reflects payments for the year.

The cost of contributions to the Group scheme for 2007 amounted to £0.6m (2006: £0.6m) of normal funding and a special 
contribution of £5.3m (2006: £11.5m) in order to reduce the scheme deficit. Contributions to current benefit accruals represent 
14.81% of pensionable salary (2006: 16.65%). No contributions were outstanding at the end of 2007 or 2006.

Defined contribution pension scheme
The Company also operates and participates in the Cobham Pension Plan Money Purchase Section. The assets of the scheme 	
are held separately from those of the Company in an independently administered fund. The pension costs charged represent 
contributions payable by the Company to the fund and amounted to £0.3m (2006: £0.1m). No contributions were outstanding 	
at the end of 2007 or 2006.

Notes to the parent company financial statements
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3. Share-based payments
Equity settled share-based payment schemes
Employees of Cobham plc participate in the following incentive schemes which are operated by the Group for certain senior 
executives:

 The Cobham Performance Share Plan (PSP);
 The Cobham Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP); and 
 The Cobham Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS).

The PSP was approved at the AGM held on 6 June 2007 and replaces the LTIP scheme.

Employees also participate in the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme (ShareSave) operated by the Group which 	
is open to all employees of participating subsidiaries. 

The Company recognised total expenses of £1.4m (2006: £1.1m) related to equity settled share-based payment transactions 
during the year. 

Further details of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 35 to 41 and in the Group financial 
statements on pages 63 to 66.

Details of the share options held by the Company’s employees are as follows:

Number of share options	 	 	 	 PSP	 LTIP	 ESOS	 ShareSave
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 –	 2,866,550 	 2,615,096 	 227,674 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 –	 778,082 	 1,123,712 	 66,319 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 –	 –	 (2,870)	 (7,540)
Exercised 	 	 	 	 –	 –	 (48,290)	 (21,880)
Expired 	 	 	 	 –	 (963,590)	 –	 – 
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 –	 2,681,042 	 3,687,648 	 264,573 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 907,730 	 –	 1,469,814 	 70,542 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 (35,697)	 (135,997)	 (172,412)	 (9,779)
Exercised 	 	 	 	 –	 –	 (687,320)	 (30,380)
Expired 	 	 	 	 –	 (939,720)	 –	 – 
Employees transferred from other Group companies	 	 	 –	 158,862 	 661,745 	 – 
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 872,033 	 1,764,187 	 4,959,475 	 294,956 
	
Exercisable at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 –	 –	 1,104,300 	 – 
Exercisable at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 –	 –	 373,800 	 – 

The weighted average remaining contractual life in years of awards is as follows:
Outstanding at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 2.38	 0.79	 8.00	 2.55
Outstanding at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 –	 1.30	 8.28	 2.73

Under the ESOS and ShareSave schemes, exercises were made at various times throughout the year. The average share price in 
that period was £2.036 (2006: £1.777). 

All awards under the PSP and LTIP schemes have a nil exercise price. The weighted average exercise prices of awards under the 
ESOS and ShareSave schemes are as follows:

£	 	 	 	 	 	 ESOS	 ShareSave
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 1.316 	 0.999 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 	 	 1.858 	 1.530 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 	 	 1.186 	 1.240 
Exercised 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.134 	 0.717 
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 1.484 	 1.148 
Awards granted	 	 	 	 	 	 2.045 	 1.630 
Awards forfeited	 	 	 	 	 	 1.603 	 1.146
Exercised 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.192 	 0.875
Employees transferred from other Group companies	 	 	 	 	 1.400 	 – 
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 1.663 	 1.292 

Exercisable as at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 1.352 	 – 
Exercisable as at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 1.125 	 – 
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3. Share-based payments (continued)
The range of exercise prices for ESOS and ShareSave awards are as follows:

£	 	 	 	 	 	 ESOS	 ShareSave
Outstanding at 31 December 2007	
Lowest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 1.347	 0.769
Highest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 2.045	 1.630

Outstanding at 31 December 2006
Lowest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 0.912	 0.691
Highest exercise price	 	 	 	 	 	 1.898	 1.530

Details, including methods and assumptions used in the calculation of fair values, of the awards granted during the current and 
comparative year are shown in note 11 to the Group financial statements. 
 	
Cash settled share-based payment schemes
One employee of the Company participated in the Group’s share appreciation rights (SARs) plan in 2006 and was granted 16,867 
SARs on 14 November 2006. The number of awards outstanding at 31 December 2007 was 16,867 (2006: 16,867). These have 
an exercise price of £1.898 and the fair value of each SAR at 31 December 2007 was £0.51 (2006: £0.52). The expense for the 
year for these rights totalled £3,000 (2006: £3,000) and is based on the fair value of the outstanding liability at the balance sheet 
date of £6,000 (2006: £3,000). No awards were made under this scheme in 2007 to employees of Cobham plc.

Further details, including methods and assumptions used in the calculation of fair values, of the SARs can be found in note 11 to 
the Group financial statements. 

4. Investments in Group undertakings

£m	 	 	 	 	 Shares	 Options	 Total
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 742.7	 7.0	 749.7
Additions in the year	 	 	 	 	 16.5	 –	 16.5
Options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings	 	 	 	 –	 2.5	 2.5
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 759.2	 9.5	 768.7

The Directors consider that the carrying value of investments is not less than their fair value. The market capitalisation of the 
Group as a whole is given in the Group financial record on page 90.

A list of significant subsidiaries is provided in note 39 to the Group financial statements.

5. Tangible fixed assets
	 	 	 	 	 	 Plant	 	
	 	 	 	 	 Investment	 and	 	
£m	 	 	 	 	 properties	 machinery	 Total
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 7.0	 0.8	 7.8
Additions	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.2	 0.2
Disposals	 	 	 	 	 (7.0)	 (0.1)	 (7.1)
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.9	 0.9

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.4	 0.4
Charge for the year	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.1	 0.1
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.5	 0.5

Net book amount
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 –	 0.4	 0.4
At 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 7.0	 0.4	 7.4

The Company had capital commitments of £0.5m at 31 December 2007 (2006: £0.1m).

During the finanical year, the investment property was sold to a subsidiary at book value which approximated to fair value at the 
date of disposal. In 2006, the investment property had a historical cost of £4.1m. 

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
continued
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6. Debtors

£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings	 	 	 	 	 	 276.8	 376.3
Prepayments and accrued income	 	 	 	 	 	 2.1	 2.4
Corporation tax receivable	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 4.7
Deferred tax	 	 	 	 	 9	 5.8	 4.2
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 284.7	 387.6

Interest is charged on amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings at rates varying between 6% and 9%. These amounts are 
unsecured and are repayable on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying value of debtors approximates to their fair value. All amounts are due within one year.

7. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Bank overdrafts	 	 	 	 	 	 310.8	 207.2
Bank loans repayable on demand	 	 	 	 	 	 226.4	 217.3
Senior notes	 	 	 	 	 	 2.5	 1.9
Total borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 539.7	 426.4
Trade creditors	 	 	 	 	 	 1.8	 2.6
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings	 	 	 	 	 	 262.3	 260.0
Payroll and other taxes, including social security	 	 	 	 	 0.8	 0.4
Corporation tax payable	 	 	 	 	 	 7.1	 –
Accruals and deferred income	 	 	 	 	 	 13.0	 8.4
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 824.7	 697.8

Bank loans repayable on demand include a five-year £300m revolving multi-currency credit facility entered into for general 
corporate purposes in 2005, with extensions of up to two years at the option of the lenders. During 2006 and 2007 the facility 	
was extended by one year and now expires in 2012. Interest is payable at the applicable LIBOR rate of the drawn currencies, 	
plus margin. As at 31 December 2007, £226.4m (2006: £217.3m) had been drawn on this facility. 

Senior notes falling due within one year and repayable by instalments were issued in March 1996 and comprised two tranches 	
of notes of US$25m each, one of which has been repaid in full. The remaining notes, of which US$20m has been repaid, 	
are repayable within one year. These notes carry a fixed interest rate of 6.42%. 	

Interest is payable on amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings at rates varying between 5% and 8%. These amounts are 
unsecured and are repayable on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying value of creditors not held at fair value approximates to their fair value.

8. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Senior notes	 	 	 	 	 	 114.3	 115.2
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings	 	 	 	 	 	 3.4	 3.4
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 117.7	 118.6

Senior notes falling due after more than one year were issued in October 2002 and are repayable on maturity. The facility 
comprises two tranches of notes; one for US$55m which has a bullet repayment after seven years and the other for US$170m 
which has a bullet repayment after ten years. The notes carry a fixed interest rate of 5.14% in respect of the seven-year notes 
and a rate of 5.58% in respect of the ten-year notes. These fixed rates have been swapped into rates that vary with LIBOR.

Senior notes falling due after more than one year are repayable as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Between one and two years	 	 	 	 	 	 27.9	 1.9
Between two and five years	 	 	 	 	 	 86.4	 26.7
After five years	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 86.6
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 114.3	 115.2

The Directors consider that the carrying value of creditors approximates to their fair value.
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9. Provisions for liabilities and charges
£m	 	 	 	 	 Deferred tax	 Other	 Total
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 4.3	 8.6	 12.9
Credit to profit and loss account	 	 	 	 	 (1.3)	 –	 (1.3)
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 3.0	 8.6	 11.6

Other provisions
Other provisions relate to indemnities given on the disposal of the Fluid and Air group in 2005. All amounts have been determined 
based on the Directors’ current estimates of likely outcomes and are expected to unwind over a period of more than one year.

Deferred taxation
£m	 	 	 	 	 Note	 2007	 2006
Deferred tax assets	 	 	 	 	 6	 5.8	 4.2
Deferred tax liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 (3.0)	 (4.3)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2.8	 (0.1)

The net amount provided for represents:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Accelerated capital allowances	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 (0.6)
Other timing differences	 	 	 	 	 	 2.8	 0.5
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2.8	 (0.1)

Deferred tax assets relate primarily to deferred taxation on pension and share-based payments, and are expected to reverse over 
a period of up to ten years. Movements in deferred tax assets are as follows:

£m	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 4.2
Credit to profit and loss account	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.6
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	 5.8

10. Share capital
£m	 	 	 	 	 	 2007	 2006
Authorised
Equity
1,479,200,000 (2006: 1,479,200,000) Ordinary Shares of par value 2.5p	 	 	 	 37.0	 37.0
Non equity
20,000 (2006: 20,000) 6% second cumulative preference shares of £1	 	 	 	 –	 –

Allotted, issued and fully paid
Equity
1,135,355,340 (2006: 1,130,609,139) 2.5p Ordinary Shares	 	 	 	 	 28.4	 28.3
Non equity
19,700 (2006: 19,700) 6% second cumulative preference shares of £1	 	 	 	 –	 –

The Company has one class of Ordinary Shares which carry no right to fixed income, representing 99.9% of the total issued share capital. 
On a show of hands every member holding Ordinary Shares who is present in person or by a duly authorised representative has one vote 
and on a poll every member who is present in person or by proxy has one vote for every £1 in nominal value of the shares of which the 
member is the holder.

During the year, 2,232,859 (2006: 4,872,201) Ordinary Shares were issued in connection with the Cobham Savings Related Share Option 
Scheme (ShareSave) and 2,513,342 (2006: 2,877,448) were issued in connection with the Executive Share Option Schemes. The nominal 
value of such shares was £0.1m (2006: £0.2m) and the cash consideration received net of costs was £4.7m (2006: £6.9m).

19,700 6% second cumulative preference shares have been issued, representing 0.1% of the total issued share capital. 	
These are non-redeemable and are classified as borrowings with a value of £19,700.

The shareholders of the 6% second cumulative preference shares are entitled to receive a fixed cumulative preference dividend at the rate 
of 6% per annum in priority to the payment of dividends on the Ordinary Shares. In addition, on a return of assets on the liquidation or 
otherwise of the Company, the assets available for distribution are to be applied first in repaying to the holders of the 6% second 
cumulative preference shares the amounts paid up on their shares. On a show of hands every member holding 6% second cumulative 
preference shares who is present in person has one vote and on a poll, every member has one vote for every £1 in nominal amount of the 
shares of which the member is the holder. 

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
continued
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11. Reserves
	 	 	 	 	 	 Other reserves	
	 	 	 	 Share	 	 	 	 Share	 Profit	
	 	 	 	 premium	 Special	Revaluation	 Hedging	 option	 and loss	
£m		 	 Note	 account	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 account
At 1 January 2006	 	 	 87.5	 43.6	 2.9	 1.2	 6.2	 356.1
Profit for the financial year	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 39.1
Dividends	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (39.7)
Premium on issue of shares	 	 	 6.7	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
Movement in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 12	 –	 –	 –	 1.3	 –	 –
Tax effect of movement in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 –	 –	 –	 (0.4)	 –	 –
Recycling of fair values to profit and loss account	 	 12	 –	 –	 –	 (0.9)	 –	 –
Tax effect of recycling of fair values to profit and loss account	 	 –	 –	 –	 0.3	 –	 –
Credit to reserves for the year for share-based payments	 	 	  –	 –	 –	 –	 3.1	 –
At 1 January 2007	 	 	 94.2	 43.6	 2.9	 1.5	 9.3	 355.5
Loss for the financial year	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (11.8)
Dividends	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (43.8)
Transfer of realised revaluation reserve	 	 	 –	 –	 (2.9)	 –	 –	 2.9
Premium on issue of shares	 	 	 4.6	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
Movement in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives	 	 12	 –	 –	 –	 (0.6)	 –	 –
Tax effect of movement in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives		 –	 –	 –	 0.2	 –	 –
Recycling of fair values to profit and loss account	 	 12	 –	 –	 –	 (1.2)	 –	 –
Tax effect of recycling of fair values to profit and loss account	 	 –	 –	 –	 0.4	 –	 –
Credit to reserves for the year for share-based payments	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 4.4	 –
Transfer of realised share option reserve	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (1.2)	 1.2
At 31 December 2007	 	 	 98.8	 43.6	 –	 0.3	 12.5	 304.0

The impact of foreign exchange to the (loss)/profit for the financial year is a £0.4m loss (2006: £1.9m gain).

Reserves are wholly attributable to equity interests.

The special reserve was created in 1996, with the sanction of the High Court, against which goodwill arising on subsequent 
acquisitions may be charged	.

The share option reserve relates to provisions made in accordance with FRS 20 for shares allocated to the Company’s employees 
under the Group’s share option schemes. Where share options which gave rise to charges under FRS 20 have been exercised, 
the appropriate proportion of the share option reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

12. Derivative financial instruments
Movements in fair values
	 	 	 	 Interest rate swaps	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 Currency	
	 	 	 	 Cash flow	 Fair value	 translation	 	
£m	 	 	 	 hedge	 hedge	 derivatives	 Total
Fair value at 1 January 2006	 	 	 	 1.7	 (2.5)	 1.4	 0.6
Movements in year to 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Fair value gain/(loss) through profit and loss account	 	 	 (0.9)	 (0.6)	 11.0	 9.5
	 Fair value gain through reserves	 	 	 	 1.3	 –	 –	 1.3
Fair value at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 2.1	 (3.1)	 12.4	 11.4
Movements in year to 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Fair value gain/(loss) through profit and loss account	 	 	 (1.2)	 4.2	 (6.0)	 (3.0)
	 Fair value loss through reserves	 	 	 	 (0.6)	 –	 –	 (0.6)
Fair value at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 0.3	 1.1	 6.4	 7.8

Interest rate swaps are designated as fair value and cash flow hedging instruments and hedge accounting is applied. 	
Movements in fair values are matched against the corresponding liability or reflected in reserves as appropriate. 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
Currency translation derivatives are not accounted for using hedge accounting and movements in fair values are reflected in 	
the profit and loss account.
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
The fair values of the currency and interest rate derivatives are established using valuation techniques, primarily discounting 	
cash flows, based on assumptions that are supported by observable market prices or rates.
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12. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Balance sheet analysis
	 	 	 	 Interest rate swaps	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 Currency	 	
	 	 	 	 Cash flow	 Fair value	 translation	 	
£m	 	 	 	 hedge	 hedge	 derivatives	 Total
Derivative financial instruments – fixed assets		 	 	 2.1	 0.8	 4.1	 7.0
Derivative financial instruments – current assets	 	 	 0.2	 0.3	 4.0	 4.5
Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities	 	 	 (0.8)	 –	 (1.0)	 (1.8)
Derivative financial instruments – non-current liabilities	 	 	 (1.2)	 –	 (0.7)	 (1.9)
Fair value at 31 December 2007	 	 	 	 0.3	 1.1	 6.4	 7.8

Derivative financial instruments – fixed assets		 	 	 1.6	 –	 6.9	 8.5
Derivative financial instruments – current assets	 	 	 0.6	 –	 6.1	 6.7
Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities	 	 	 –	 (0.7)	 (0.6)	 (1.3)
Derivative financial instruments – non-current liabilities	 	 	 (0.1)	 (2.4)	 –	 (2.5)
Fair value at 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 2.1	 (3.1)	 12.4	 11.4

13. Contingent liabilities
The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of bank and contractual performance guarantees and other matters arising in 
the ordinary course of business entered into, for, or on behalf of, certain Group undertakings. 

As the conditions of the above guarantees are currently being met, no obligating event is forseeable and therefore no contingent 
liability exists at the year end.

14. Related party transactions
The Directors of Cobham plc had no material transactions with the Company during the year, other than as a result of service 
agreements as disclosed in note 37 to the Group financial statements. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are disclosed in 	
the remuneration report. Exemption has been taken under FRS 8 from disclosing related party transactions with other 	
Group companies.

15. Events after the balance sheet date
Since the end of the financial year, the Company has concluded a US$700m acquisition financing facility through to 30 June 
2009. The facility is provided by Barclays Capital, BNP Paribas, Dresdner Kleinwort and Royal Bank of Scotland. This new 	
facility provides capacity to fund recent, as mentioned in note 38 to the Group financial statements, and future acquisitions.

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
continued
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Shareholder information

Analysis of shareholders
(a) At 31 December 2007, 6,275 ordinary shareholders were on the register compared with 6,077 at 31 December 2006.
(b) Analysis of ordinary shareholders on the register at 31 December 2007:

	 	 	 	 	 	 Percentage	 Number of	 Percentage	
	 	 	 	 	Number of	 registered 	 Ordinary	 of Ordinary	
	 	 	 	 	registered	 holders	 Shares	 Shares	
	 	 	 	 	 holders	 %	 held	 %
Size of holding
Up to 1,000	 	 	 	 1,622	 25.85	 801,676	 0.07
1,001 – 10,000	 	 	 	 3,239	 51.62	 12,515,068	 1.10
10,001 – 50,000	 	 	 	 824	 13.13	 17,826,918	 1.57
50,001 – 250,000	 	 	 	 297	 4.73	 35,478,920	 3.13
250.001 – 1,000,000	 	 	 	 139	 2.22	 75,741,180	 6.67
1,000,001 and above	 	 	 	 154	 2.45	 992,991,578	 87.46
	 	 	 	 	 6,275	 100.00	 1,135,355,340	 100.00
Category
Private persons	 	 	 	 4,178	 66.58	 28,693,101	 2.53
Nominees	 	 	 	 1,971	 31.41	 1,085,397,640	 95.60
Pension funds	 	 	 	 2	 0.03	 2,060	 0.00
Other corporate bodies	 	 	 	 124	 1.98	 21,262,539	 1.87
	 	 	 	 	 6,275	 100.00	 1,135,355,340	 100.00
	

Source: Equiniti Limited	

Registrars 
Enquiries concerning shareholdings or dividends should, in 	
the first instance, be addressed to the Company’s registrars, 
Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West 
Sussex BN99 6DA (telephone: 0871 384 2163). Shareholders 
should promptly notify the registrars of any change of address 
or other particulars. 

The registrars provide a range of shareholders’ services on-line. 
The portfolio service provides access to information on 
investments including balance movements, indicative share 
prices and information on recent dividends and also enables 
address and mandate details to be amended on-line. For further 
information and practical help on transferring shares or updating 
your details, please visit www.shareview.co.uk. The share 
dealing service enables shares to be sold by UK shareholders 
by telephone or over the internet. For telephone sales please 
call 08456 037037 between 8.30 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. For
internet sales please visit www.shareview.co.uk/dealing.

Registered Office
Brook Road, Wimborne, Dorset BH21 2BJ
Tel: +44 (0)1202 882020
Fax: +44 (0)1202 840523
Internet: www.cobham.com
Registered in England No. 30470

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
The Company has introduced corporate sponsored ISAs 
through The Share Centre Limited, an independent 
stockbroker. Further information may be obtained from 	
The Share Centre Limited on +44 (0)1296 414141 or by writing 
to The Share Centre Limited, PO Box 2000, Aylesbury, Bucks 
HP21 8ZB. Alternatively, details can be requested via email: 
cobham@share.co.uk.

Capital Gains Tax
For the information of shareholders who held Cobham plc 
Ordinary Shares on 31 March 1982, the market value, 
adjusted for capitalisation and rights issues, of the Company’s 
Ordinary Shares on that date for capital gains tax purposes, 
unadjusted for the share sub-division of July 2005, was 86.02p.

Financial Calendar
AGM	 7 May 2008
Final dividend 	 1 July 2008
Interim results	 7 August 2008
Interim dividend	 December 2008
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Cobham’s products and services have been  
at the heart of sophisticated military and civil 
systems for more than 70 years, keeping 
people safe, improving communications and 
enhancing the capability of land, sea, air and 
space platforms. The Group has four divisions 
now employing more than ten thousand 
people on five continents, with customers  
and partners in over 100 countries.  
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